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Financial Highlights
MBHE

The following is a summary of the Group’s published results for the past
four financial years. The financial information as of 31 December 2023
has been extracted from the financial statements contained in this annual
report, while the financial information for 2020, 2021 and 2022 has been
extracted from the Prospectus.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE
INCOME

UTAREBRBENERBEED A ELE
MEE HE-_T - —F+_-_A=+—8HE
BARBEEATRITAMBHRE  mM_==
TF  CE - —FR-CE-_FMNPEEARE
SRERRERE -

SReTHEWER

Year ended 31 December

BE+-A=1+—HLEE

2023 2022 2021 2020

—s=-= — = —E-—F —ECEF

(HKS$ million)  (HK$ million)  (HK$ million)  (HK$ million)

(BB%ET) (BBHAT) (BBATT) (BBAT)

Interest income FEWA 248.7 233.9 270.1 304.3

Net interest income T EW A FEEE 223.6 211.0 2341 267.7

Operating profit IR 67.2 82.7 92.8 105.8

Profit before income tax BT BDE A 66.7 81.9 92.3 105.5

Profit and total comprehensive FRRTNEEE

income for the year ONCE- 51.6 67.9 77.1 91.0
Adjusted net profit (non-HKFRS) ARG (IEFE

B 2R 73.8 73.2 77.1 91.0

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET mEBEEEER

As at 31 December
®»+=-R=+—H
2022 2021 2020
—E-_— —E-—4F —E-TF

(HK$ million)  (HK$ million)  (HK$ million)
(BBET) (BBET) (B&BT)

2023

—E-=
(HKS million)
(BE#ET)
Total assets BERE 1,241.6
Total liabilities BEEE 360.7
Total equity W aaza 880.9

1,087.3 1,309.1 1,265.1
366.8 656.4 671.7
720.5 652.7 593.4

K CASH REERAT 2023F
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Chairman’s Statement

RS

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board, | am pleased to present the annual report of K Cash

Corporation Limited and its subsidiaries for the year ended 31 December 2023.

FENWRRE:
RAAZRREBEESMAREK CshEBER A LEWNBRAREHE
CE VT AT —HIEFENSE®R -

i
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Chairman’s Statement F &%

THE LISTING

The Shares of our Company were successfully listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange on 5 December 2023. The Listing was a recognition
of our Group's past contributions in its business growth and marked an
important milestone in our Group's history.

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

Interest income of the Group was HK$248.7 million for the year ended
31 December 2023, representing an increase of 6.3% compared to the
interest income of HK$233.9 million for the year ended 31 December
2022.

Profit of the Group was HK$51.6 million for the year ended 31 December
2023, as compared to HK$67.9 million for the year ended 31 December
2022.

Adjusted net profit (non-HKFRS measure) (i.e. net profit adding back
listing expenses) of the Group was HK$73.8 million for the year ended 31
December 2023, as compared to HK$73.2 million for the year ended 31
December 2022.

Our loan receivables amounted to HK$964.4 million as of 31 December
2023, representing an increase of 5.5% compared to HK$913.8 million as
of 31 December 2022.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Since the establishment of the Group in 2006, we have been committed
to provide quality unsecured loan financing to property owners, SMEs and
individuals by adopting financial technologies to its operations. We have
been focusing on maintaining our brand’s image in providing professional,
prompt and flexible money lending services.

To differentiate ourselves from other market players, we have integrated
various technologies into our business operation to achieve digitalization
and automation across the lending process. Our effort in improving the
management of the Group and quality of our products has brought
us remarkable achievements. On the front-end, we leverage various
technology tools to automate and digitalize our credit cycle from
loan application to loan repayment, which continuously enhance
user experience, whereas on the back-end, we leverage established
technologies, such as artificial intelligence, blockchain and business
process automation technology, to automate and streamline our risk
management systems and business process. We pride ourselves on
providing highly automated, transparent, efficient, and digital borrowing
experiences to our borrowers.

Lt
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Chairman’s Statement F &%

Our Board is of the view that the general outlook of the licensed money
lending market and the business environment in which our Group
operates will remain promising in the coming year. We will continue to
remain cautious due to ongoing uncertainties and difficulties in the market
in which we operate.

We will continue to adapt more technology to enhance our efficiency
and maintain the growth of our loan portfolio. We will continue to focus
on enhancing our customers’ borrowing experience and engagement
through technology advancements and seek opportunities to grow our
loan portfolio through exploring different partnerships. In terms of organic
growth, the Group will focus on maintaining the momentum of loan
receivables growth in this recovering but competitive and challenging
market, while also closely monitoring asset quality as much as possible.
Since March 2024, our loan products were promoted through the mobile
wallet platform and e-commerce platform of our business partner, and
we believe such collaboration can extend the reach of our products to
more individuals in Hong Kong and provide more business opportunities
for us. At the same time, we have been seeking various source of
funding overseas with competitive terms, and are currently liaising with a
crowdfunding platform in Japan.

To continue exploring the growth dynamics of the Hong Kong unsecured
loan market and strengthen our resilience, we will pursue the following
initiatives:

o Technology development — our enhanced K Cash GO Platform is
currently in the design and analysis stage, and we are designing
the system architecture and business logic. We will start to
integrate technologies into various aspects of our operations and
business process later in 2024 through restructuring our business
processes, which is expected to help us to remain competitive
in the digital age. We have also launched our Customer Data
Platform (“CDP"”) in late 2023, and are expected to gain insight on
customer behavior and optimize our customer acquisition efforts
once we start applying CDP to various scenarios.

EXERA AEELEMEREERT SR
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HPISAEERIE Z R ARBE - LR
EFHEAEE - RATBEEREE BN BEUE
REFPIERERNEE - WSKEE AR
RTAAEBHEREFTAS - REREEM
M EEEEET ST BN TS
b ARERBEERFFEEERNIERS S -
RS TErA T EEEEER -5 —F -1
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BA—BERABRFNONERSRKZEEIES
KR - BIERBANRETF A
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Chairman’s Statement F &%

o BNPL — we have soft launched Paykool, our BNPL platform in
December 2023. Currently, individuals are able to apply for our
PayKool credit card which provides personalized BNPL service,
allowing customers to enjoy flexible interest-free installments
when spending with PayKool’s business partners (with one-off
administration fee for non-business partner), and we will continue
to develop other functions and features on our PayKool platform
and offer unique benefits to its users.

o Marketing and improvement of internal policies — we will continue
to provide sponsor for digital marketings and TV programs, and
launch additional advertising campaigns to raise the public’s
awareness of our BNPL business. Moreover, the Group will
continue to refine its credit assessment and credit risk management
policy with the aim of maximizing profitability by extending credit
facilities to its target customer group, and to improve the credit
performance of its loans.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | would like to express our sincerest gratitude to
our Shareholders, customers, and business partners for their steadfast
support and trust to our Group, as well as to our Board members,
management team and all of our employees for their dedication and
contribution throughout the year. In 2024, we will strive to move forward
with determination to achieve steady development so as to create greater
value for our Shareholders.

Lee Sheung Shing
Chairman and Non-executive Director
Hong Kong, 25 April 2024
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Management Discussion and Analysis

THBERE 2

BUSINESS REVIEW

We are principally engaged in the money lending business specialising
in unsecured loans in Hong Kong under the Money Lenders Ordinance
(Chapter 163 of the Laws of Hong Kong) under our brand names “K Cash
Express” and “K Cash”. We have integrated various technologies into
our business operation to achieve digitalization and automation across
the lending process. On the front-end, we leverage various technology
tools to automate and digitalize our credit cycle from loan application to
loan repayment, which continuously enhance user experience, whereas
on the back-end, we leverage established technologies, such as artificial
intelligence, blockchain and business process automation technology,
to automate and streamline our risk management systems and business
process.

Unsecured Property Owner Loans refer to loans offered to borrowers who
are property owners in Hong Kong, mostly owners of properties acquired
under the Home Ownership Scheme, without the need to provide any
collaterals. They remained as the major source of our revenue, contributing
approximately 68.7% to our Group’s revenue during the Reporting
Period. Interest income generated from Unsecured Property Owner Loans
increased by 16.4% to HK$170.9 million during the Reporting Period.
Our loan receivables for Unsecured Property Owner Loans increased from
HK$730.0 million as of 31 December 2022 to HK$784.0 million as of 31
December 2023 amid the subdued economic environment during the
Reporting Period.

We also provide Personal Loans and SME Loans, which are unsecured
loans offered to individuals and SMEs, respectively. For SME Loans, a
personal guarantee is typically provided by a director or shareholder of the
borrower. Our interest income for Personal Loans decreased by 10.9%
to HK$66.5 million during the Reporting Period, contributing to about
26.7% of our Group's revenue for the Reporting Period, whereas interest
income for SME Loans decreased by 5.6% to HK$11.4 million during the
Reporting Period, contributing to about 4.6% of our Group’s revenue for
the Reporting Period. Our loan receivables for Personal Loans increased
from HK$234.5 million as of 31 December 2022 to HK$242.3 million as
of 31 December 2023, and our loan receivables for SME Loans decreased
from HK$54.3 million as of 31 December 2022 to HK$47.5 million as of
31 December 2023.

e 4E1)
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Management Discussion and Analysis &% [E 5 & & 27

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Interest income

Our interest income increased by HK$14.8 million or 6.3% from HK$233.9
million for the last year to HK$248.7 million for the Reporting Period, and
such increase was mainly derived from the growth in our interest income
from our Unsecured Property Owner Loans business.

Interest income from our Unsecured Property Owners Loans increased
by HK$24.1 million or 16.4% from HK$146.8 million for the last year to
HK$170.9 million for the Reporting Period, whereas the interest income
from our Personal Loans decreased by HK$8.1 million or 10.9% from
HK$74.6 million for the last year to HK$66.5 million for the Reporting
Period. Interest income from our SME Loans decreased by HK$0.7 million
or 5.6% from HK$12.1 million for the last year to HK$11.4 million for the
Reporting Period.

The increase in interest income for our Unsecured Property Owner Loans
was primarily due to the increase in our average loan balance (i.e. the
average of our gross loan receivables at the beginning and the end of the
year) by 10.9% from HK$682.4 million in 2022 to HK$757.0 million in
2023.

The decrease in interest income for our Personal Loans was primarily due
to the decrease in our average loan balance by 3.5% from HK$247.1
million in 2022 to HK$238.4 million in 2023, and the decrease in interest
income for our SME loans was primarily due to the decrease in our average
loan balance by 1.9% from HK$51.9 million in 2022 to HK$50.9 million
in 2023. The change in interest income across various segments was also
due to the shift of our business focus to provide more Unsecured Property
Owners Loans as our overall risk exposure for such loans are lower.

Other income

We have recorded other income of HK$5.0 million (2022: HK$10.1
million) during the Reporting Period which mainly comprised of rental
income from a related party. The decrease in other income was primarily
due to the decrease of such rental income and the termination of the sub-
lease arrangement of an office premise.

Interest expenses

We have incurred interest expenses of HK$25.2 million for the Reporting
Period (2022: HK$23.0 million), which mainly comprised of interest on
interest bearing bank borrowings. The increase in interest expenses by
HK$2.2 million or 9.7% was primarily due to the increase in interest rate
of our major banking facility.
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Management Discussion and Analysis &% [E 5 & & 27

FINANCIAL REVIEW (CONTINUED)
General and administrative expenses

We have incurred general and administrative expenses of HK$80.8 million
for the Reporting Period (2022: HK$66.1 million), which mainly comprised
of employee benefit expenses, legal and professional fees, depreciation
of property, plant and equipment and listing expenses. The increase
in general and administrative expenses by HK$14.7 million or 22.2%
was mainly due to the increase in listing expenses incurred during the
Reporting Period.

Selling expenses

We have incurred selling expenses of HK$24.8 million for the Reporting
Period (2022: HK$34.4 million), which mainly comprised of advertising
and marketing expenses, employee benefit expenses, and depreciation
of right-of-use assets. The decrease in selling expenses by HK$9.6 million
or 27.8% was mainly due to decrease in advertising and promotional
activities carried out by the Group during the Reporting Period.

Expected credit losses, net

In 2022 and 2023, we recorded net expected credit losses of HK$37.7
million and HK$55.8 million, respectively, which was mainly due to the
increase of our average loan receivables for Unsecured Property Owner
Loans which increased our exposure of credit loss. We perform regular
review of our loan receivables and assess provision for impairment by
taking into account the underlying risk profile, historical loss experience,
historical loss rate of loans with similar attributes and forward-looking
information.

Profit and total comprehensive income

As a result of the foregoing, our profit and total comprehensive income
achieved HK$51.6 million for the Reporting Period as compared to
HK$67.9 million for the previous year.

To supplement the Group’s consolidated financial statements prepared
and presented in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRS"”), we utilize non-HKFRS adjusted net profit as an
additional financial measure. Adjusted net profit under non-HKFRS
financial measures is defined as profit for the year attributable to owners
of the Company excluding non-recurring listing expenses. As listing
expenses are non-recurring in nature and not related to the performance
of the Group's operation, the Directors consider that the presentation of
the Group’s adjusted net profit under non-HKFRS financial measures by
eliminating the impact of listing expenses can better reflect the operational
performance during the respective years.
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Management Discussion and Analysis &% [E 5 & & 27

FINANCIAL REVIEW (CONTINUED)

The following table sets forth a reconciliation of the Group’s adjusted net
profit under non-HKFRS financial measures for the years indicated:

B A (48D
TRESINFREE AL BRIEIEE RN B
SRR 5 B SR AN IR -

Year ended 31 December

BE+-—A=+—RHLEE

Profit and total comprehensive income for FRERRZEIKAZEE
the year 51,566 67,865
Adjustment for: BT S EEEL % -
Listing expenses Bl b2 22,274 5,315
Adjusted net profit (non-HKFRS measure) EHEBMAF (FEBMBRE
ERIFHE) 73,840 73,180

The presentation of the non-HKFRS financial measures is not intended to
be considered in isolation or as substitute for the financial information
prepared and presented in accordance with HKFRS measures. The
non-HKFRS financial measures have limitations as analytical tools and
the Group’s non-HKFRS financial measures may differ from the non-
HKFRS financial measures used by other companies, and therefore
the comparability of such information may be limited. Investors are
encouraged to review the Group’s financial information in its entirety.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

During the Reporting Period, our primary funding channels mainly
include: (i) funding from loans or facilities from authorized institutions;
(i) connected advances; and (iii) cash flows from our operating activities.
Based on our current and anticipated levels of operations, barring
unforeseeable market conditions, our future operations and capital
requirements will be financed through loans from banks or other financial
institutions that are independent third parties, retained earnings and our
share capital.

2B BMHREERNGHAENB L IE
BEERANARBEEAUHHRE LA ER
L2V FEER o IFBRBHM RS ERIH
BRAEE/OMTABERS  MAKEMNIE
BRMBWE LG FEM AR EMR
AEAMEE BN B REENHBFE - B
It BAERMATLLEATRER - KREEES
EEGARENSEER -

REEERABKER

RIBEIR - BANEBESREEEOE
()5 & BB BRSBTS ES ¢ ()
ERH RNVELEBFBASRE - RIE
B A REMEEKT - WETAERMR - B
IR R IE A AT B S RITRE
BYE=H MRS RSB ER - RERF
RBEMOBRARHEES -
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Management Discussion and Analysis &% [E 5 & & 27

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES
(CONTINUED)

Our Group recorded net assets of HK$880.9 million as at 31 December
2023 (31 December 2022: HK$720.5 million). As at 31 December 2023,
cash and cash equivalents amounted to HK$218.4 million (2022: HK$24.1
million); amount due to fellow subsidiaries amounted to HK$0.1 million
(31 December 2022: nil); and bank and other borrowings amounted to
HK$342.6 million (31 December 2022: HK$303.1 million).

All cash and bank balances held by the Group was denominated in Hong
Kong dollars. All of the Group’s total borrowings carried interest on a
floating rate basis.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE AND TREASURY POLICIES

The Company continues to adopt a prudent financial management
approach towards its treasury policy.

The Board will closely monitor the liquidity position to ensure that
the liquidity structure of the Company’s assets, liabilities and other
commitments can meet the funding requirements from time to time.

As at 31 December 2023, unutilised banking facilities available to our
Group for drawdown amounted to HK$29.0 million. It is our Group's
policy to prioritise the utilisation of our available facilities which offer the
lowest finance cost to our Group.

Our bank borrowings (tax loans excluded) and interest-bearing connected
advances for our working capital as of 31 December 2022 and 2023
amounted to HK$309.4 million and HK$324.3 million, respectively. The
effective interest rates of such borrowings in 2022 and 2023 ranged
from 5.50% to 6.88% per annum and 7.81% to 9.93% per annum,
respectively. In 2022 and 2023, interest payable to our largest fund
provider (by interest expense and tax loans excluded) accounted for
approximately 85.5% and 88.6% of our total interest expense.

During the Reporting Period, all interest bearing bank borrowings were
repayable on demand and were secured by our loans and interest
receivables. The amount due to the ultimate holding company and
fellow subsidiaries was unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable on
demand.

RBEERYBERE)
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B 4B %A #185.5% £288.6% °
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Management Discussion and Analysis &% [E 5 & & 27

KEY OPERATIONAL DATA TREEYE
The following table sets forth a breakdown of our gross loan receivables ~ ~XRFH7IE Z /R B IR EFEEEI 5 EI
by loan type as of the dates indicated. B EER R o

As at 31 December

R+=R=+-8
2023 2022
—EC-= = S
Number Number
of loan HK$ of loan HK$
accounts million accounts million
X B
RFHE BEER RPEE ABAEAT
Unsecured Property Owner Loans B #% + &7 2,443 784.0 73.0 2,502 730.0 71.7
Personal Loans FAER 4,752 2423 22,6 4,786 2345 23.0
SME Loans hNRER 65 47.5 4.4 90 54.3 5.3
Total st 7,260 1,073.8 100.0 7,378 1,018.8 100.0

As of 31 December, 2022 and 2023, we had 90 and 65 loan agreements, #Hz-—ET-—Fx - E-—=F+-F=+—

respectively, with corporate borrowers. B &9 RIA90IE M 65IEE N TS AT
M EVEF B ©

Note:  Some of our individual and corporate borrowers held multiple loan accounts — gzr 2B A S A FIEZA KB Fi1E 5 5 (B 2 5E
with us. =K

The table below sets out the average loan size (i.e. the arithmetic average  Rx#HF|HKPRBEHE F—EEEHELY
of loan principal originally granted by us for loans which generated interest 15 &5 23848 (BN & 4 E R FIS T ShE A F
income during each year) of our loan products during the Reporting Period & ilg A th & S pr it 4 & S 4y E T F 19 86) -
and the previous year:

Year ended 31 December

BZE+-—A=t+—HLEE

2023
—s—-=

(HK$'000)

(F#7T)
Unsecured Property Owner Loans EIEHETFER 319.2 321.7
Personal Loans MIAER 61.9 65.0
SME Loans R/ ER 1,080.5 899.4
Overall = 150.1 1411
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Management Discussion and Analysis &% [E 5 & & 27

KEY OPERATIONAL DATA (CONTINUED) FELEHE(E)

The table below provide sets out the average loan tenor of our loan  TRIBHEHEMEHZFMIRBEERERHF
products as of the dates indicated: B

As of 31 December
R+=—B=+—8

Unsecured Property Owner Loans IR T ER 60.4 months 59.2 months
60.41E B 59.21& A
Personal Loans NN= 23.1 months 23.2 months
23.118 A 23.21&@ A
SME Loans ST 29.4 months 28.0 months
29.418 A 28.01& A
Overall e 35.8 months 35.1 months
35.81E A 35. 116 A

The table below sets out the average effective interest rate of our loan  TERBFHEPIRBRERL E—FEERERD
products during the Reporting Period and the previous year: FHERAE

Year ended 31 December
BE+t=-A=t+—HLEE

Unsecured Property Owner Loans EIRHETER 29.1% 29.9%
Personal Loans FAER 39.6% 41.9%
SME Loans R/NDE R 24.1% 23.9%
Overall Eg: ] 36.3% 38.5%

The table below summarizes the range of interest rates that we typically ~ FREMFHPIRFE R E—FE—RUKERH
charged during the Reporting Period and the previous year: FREE -

Year ended 31 December

BE+=-—RA=1+—HLEE

Unsecured Property Owner Loans EIEHETITER 20.4% to 42.0% 20.4% t0 42.8%
20.4% £42.0% 20.4%%42.8%
Personal Loans N= 25.2% to 48.0% 24.0% to 48.0%
25.2% £48.0% 24.0%%48.0%
SME Loans R/NETR 22.0% to 25.1% 21.8% t0 24.0%
22.0% £25.1% 21.8%%24.0%
Overall =g 20.4% to 48.0% 20.4% to 48.0%

20.4%%48.0%

20.4%%48.0%
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Management Discussion and Analysis &% [E 5 & & 27

KEY OPERATIONAL DATA (CONTINUED)

The ageing analysis of loan receivables based on instalments by due date is
as follows:

FTELEEHIE(E)
BIED BN ZIRE R S BN ERERR D
M

As at 31 December

Unsecured Property Owner Loans BIERETER
Not overdue RE

1-30 days past due #HR1=30H
31-60 days past due #1HI31Z260H
61-90 days past due #HI61290H
Over 90 days past due EHEI90H M
Personal Loans BAERK

Not overdue g

1-30 days past due #HP1Z=30H
31-60 days past due #HI31260H
61-90 days past due HEI61Z=90H
Over 90 days past due BHEI90 A LA L
SME Loans RNEER
Not overdue R Hf

1-30 days past due #HR1Z=30H
31-60 days past due BEI31ZE60H
61-90 days past due #EAI61Z290H
Over 90 days past due BHEI90A LA

R+=A=+—H
2023
—E2-=
(HK$'000)
(F&T)

600,500 568,368
9,513 9,091
6,203 5,744
6,244 5,299

161,561 141,458

219,540 212,120
3,052 3,009
1,918 2,191
1,771 1,963

16,014 15,270
43,170 48,675
928 1,703
647 782
471 811
2,315 2,332

Below is the breakdown of provision for impairment as of the dates
indicated:

AT AEEMR B BEERREREHRA

As at 31 December
R+=—HA=+—H

Unsecured Property Owner Loans FERETER 21,019 16,559
Personal Loans FAER 72,104 71,398
SME Loans R/ NER 16,332 17,044
Total st 109,455 105,001

The provision for impairment loss on loan receivables as at 31 December
2023 increased as there was no material change in the credit status and
credentials of the loan receivables of the Group as at 31 December 2023
and 31 December 2022 using the Group's expected credit loss model, and
50 no material impairment loss was recognised for the Reporting Period.

FEUWGRIERREBEREN T =F+_A
—+—BAEMEN  REAREERKERRN
—E =+ A=t+—"BhkZE__F+=
A=+ BERALEEEREEFBRIEG
MEERRREIESE KNS - WA EF
LHNEREXREEE -
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Management Discussion and Analysis &% [E 5 & & 27

KEY FINANCIAL RATIOS BRI RS =
The following table sets forth the key financial ratios of our Group during  FNRE | AEBARREE N F—FE ARG
the Reporting Period and previous year: FEH &

As at 31 December

R+t=—A=+—H

Gearing ratio™ BEAEFXRO 0.16 0.47

Year ended 31 December

BE+-A=+—HLEFE

Return on assets® B ERHRE 4.4% 5.7%
Return on equity® PR O ¥R Re 6.4% 9.9%
Interest coverage ratio® FBEBER® 3.7 times 4.6 times
3.71% 4,615

Net interest margin R E MR 21.3% 232%
— Unsecured Property Owner Loans —EEMETER 19.9% 21.6%

— Personal Loans —FTLAEK 25.9% 27.9%
- SME Loans —F/NPER 20.0% 20.7%

(1) Gearing ratio is calculated by dividing net debts (being total debts including (1) BEBEXIZEZ I AmERFE(E

borrowings, amounts due to the ultimate holding company, the immediate FHEsE (LB E -« BRI A] - BiE

holding company, fellow subsidiaries and related parties and lease liabilities less RN A] ~ B RHTE 2 7] R BEEE T 3B A R

cash and cash equivalents) by total equity as of the respective dates. EBE)RELRESEZEY) I AR
EigH -

) Return on assets is calculated by dividing net profit for the year by the average  (2) B EE [0 3 K 15 5 A FIBR LA B 2 HE E 4 JZ R4S
total assets as of the beginning and end of the corresponding year. RAGRIFH)FHEEAETERRL -

(3) Return on equity is calculated by dividing net profit for the year by the average  (3) HE 25 [0] 3 K 1 G N A FI B LA B 2 4G E 4 JE R4S

L =i

total equity as of the beginning and end of the corresponding year. R it B i 1 e AE FE G E R M o

) Interest coverage ratio is calculated by dividing profit before tax and interest — (4) FILE & & F 1210 FEF X 19 B 7 B e FI R FiL&.

(excluding interest expenses on lease liabilities) by the interest expenses for the (TEEHEB ELFIEHS )R UFEHS
corresponding year. E2H -
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

Our business is subject to risks that our borrowers may fail to perform
their contractual obligations and default on payment of interest and/
or the principal. Where the customer does not repay the outstanding
amounts, we may consider commencing legal proceedings or engage our
debt collection agent to recover outstanding loans. As no collaterals will
be obtained from our borrowers for unsecured loans, the outstanding
amount may not be recovered even if legal proceedings are brought
against defaulting borrowers. Therefore, we will continue to closely
monitor and improve our credit policy to minimize the impact of such risk.

The growth of our loan portfolio also depends on the availability of
adequate lending capital to meet borrowers’ demands for loans. To
maintain sufficient and sustainable funding to meet borrower demands,
we need to keep expanding the funding base to secure a stable stream of
funds. Our cost of funding is subject to changes in the prevailing interest
rate in the market. In addition, all of our banking facilities give the banks
an unconditional right to call the loan at any time. In the event that the
banks exercise their right to request us to repay the bank loans without
prior notice, or if our lenders terminate the facility, we may fail to meet
the funding requirements and may not be able to obtain new facilities as
replacement. Hence, we will continue to ensure our borrowings are within
monitored ratios and explore funding from different sources or through
different kinds of collaboration.

As part of our expansion plan, we are introducing BNPL services in
response to the evolving market trend. Whether or not such services
can be implemented successfully depends on various factors beyond
our control. While we aim to seize growth opportunities, we will tread
cautiously while promoting this new business segment to avoid affecting
the stability of our overall operations.

OUTLOOK AND PROSPECTS

It is our Group’s business strategy to continue expanding our loan
portfolio and expanding our business scale through adoption of various
technologies, and we may from time to time pursue business opportunities
with favourable long-term prospects that are in line with our Group’s
sustainable strategy of broadening its income stream with the aim of
achieving a stable, long-term and attractive return to our Shareholders.
Nonetheless, we will continue to remain cautious due to ongoing
uncertainties and difficulties in the market in which we operate. Hong
Kong's overall economy outlook for 2024 remains challenging, yet Hong
Kong's unemployment rate is expected to remain stable in the foreseeable
future. A rather high interest rate environment is also expected to persist
in the background. This may result in a general decline in interest spread
on our loan products.
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Management Discussion and Analysis &% [E 5 & & 27

OUTLOOK AND PROSPECTS (CONTINUED)

Despite regulatory changes in interest rate cap and threshold of presumed
extortionate rate under the Money Lenders Ordinance, we did not
experience changes in the dynamics in the overall money lending market,
and the average effective interest we charged remained stable.

To combat these challenges, we will continue to adapt more technology
to enhance our efficiency and maintain the growth of our loan portfolio.
We will continue to focus on enhancing our customers’ borrowing
experience and engagement through technology advancements and
seek opportunities to grow our loan portfolio through exploring different
partnerships.

In terms of organic growth, the Group will focus on maintaining the
momentum of loan receivables growth in this recovering but competitive
and challenging market, while also closely monitoring asset quality as
much as possible. Since March 2024, our loan products were promoted
through the mobile wallet platform and e-commerce platform of our
business partner, and we believe such collaboration can extend the reach
of our products to more individuals in Hong Kong and provide more
business opportunities for us. At the same time, we have been seeking
various source of funding overseas with competitive terms, and are
currently liaising with a crowdfunding platform in Japan.

To continue exploring the growth dynamics of the Hong Kong unsecured
loan market and strengthen our resilience, we will pursue the following
initiatives:

o Technology development — our enhanced K Cash GO Platform is
currently in the design and analysis stage, and we are designing
the system architecture and business logic. We will start to
integrate technologies into various aspects of our operations and
business process later in 2024 through restructuring our business
processes, which is expected to help us to remain competitive
in the digital age. We have also launched our Customer Data
Platform (“CDP”) in late 2023, and are expected to gain insight on
customer behavior and optimize our customer acquisition efforts
once we start applying CDP to various scenarios.

° BNPL — we have soft launched Paykool, our BNPL platform in
December 2023. Currently, individuals are able to apply for our
PayKool credit card which provides personalized BNPL service,
allowing customers to enjoy flexible interest-free installments
when spending with PayKool’s business partners (with one-off
administration fee for non-business partners), and we will continue
to develop other functions and features on our PayKool platform
and offer unigue benefits to its users.
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OUTLOOK AND PROSPECTS (CONTINUED)

o Marketing and improvement of internal policies — we will continue
to provide sponsors for digital marketing and TV programs, and
launch additional advertising campaigns to raise the public’s
awareness of our BNPL business. Moreover, the Group will
continue to refine its credit assessment and credit risk management
policy with the aim of maximizing profitability by extending credit
facilities to its target customer group, and to improve the credit
performance of its loans.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS

During the Reporting Period, the Company did not make any material
acquisition or disposal of subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS

The Group did not hold any significant investments as at 31 December
2023.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 December 2023, certain gross loan receivables of HK$821.1
million in aggregate (2022: HK$745.8 million) were secured for our
Group's bank and other borrowings.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

During the Reporting Period, the business activities of our Group were
denominated in Hong Kong dollars. Our Directors did not consider our
Group was exposed to any significant foreign exchange risks. Our Group
did not use derivative financial instruments to hedge against the volatility
associated with foreign currency transactions and other financial assets
and liabilities arising in the ordinary course of business.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS OR
CAPITAL ASSETS

Save as disclosed in this annual report and the Prospectus, the Group did
not have any future plans for material investment and capital assets as of
the date of this annual report.
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CUSTOMERS

During the Reporting Period, our customers comprised individuals and
private companies (for Unsecured Property Owner Loans and Personal
Loans) and private companies (for SME Loans), and all of them were
not connected persons of the Company. Our borrowers for SME Loans
(based on interest income we recognized) mainly comprised of companies
principally engaged in the construction, technology and catering
industries.

During the Reporting Period, our top five customers (as determined by
interest income generated) accounted for approximately 2.1% (2022:
2.1%) of our total revenue, and aggregate value of outstanding loan
receivables of our top five customers accounted for approximately 1.9%
(2022: 2.0%) of our total loan receivables.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 December 2023, we employed 62 employees (31 December
2022: 68). Our employee benefit expenses for the Reporting Period was
HK$40.7 million (2022: HK$47.6 million).

The Company adopted a share scheme which was effective upon the
Listing, and employees are eligible for share options and/or share awards
under such scheme. As at 31 December 2023, no options or awards were
granted to any person eligible to participate in the share scheme.

The Group adopts a remuneration policy covering the position, duties
and performance of our employees. The remuneration of our employees
include salary, overtime allowance, bonus and various subsidies.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2023, the Company did not have any contingent
liabilities.
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CREDIT REVIEW AND APPROVAL

Our credit review and approval process is supported by technology
applications such as IDCM, “eAML"” system, machine learning and
blockchain technology.

Our business process automation technology retrieves data from “eAML”
system via their API to assess potential money laundering and terrorism
financing risks in accordance with statutory requirements.

Currently, IDCM is only applicable to our Personal Loans. Our IDCM
is a dual scoring model that combines AQM Score and MLC Score,
which are complementary in nature and these technology applications
provide us with a benchmark after considering the objective attributes
of each loan application and assists our credit intelligence department
to assess the creditworthiness of prospective borrowers. The AQM
Score considers all existing credit data stored in an external database
to predict the borrower’s default probability for us. Using our industry-
specific knowledge and experience, we consider certain behavioral
attributes under Credit Modeling System, which then a machine-learning
based credit score, allowing us to classify loan applicants into tiers, and
differentiate interest rate charged on different groups of borrowers or we
will deny their application. The Credit Modeling System can self-improve
the accuracy of its credit rating analysis by adjusting the weighting
allocation to different attributes as it processes more data.

Loan agreements executed online will be stored in our blockchain-
based loan record system. It significantly reduces risks of duplicate loan
applications. Furthermore, we also implemented a blockchain-enabled
digital contract verification system whereby Personal Loan agreements
become decentralized and digitalized, in turn reducing the risk of
unpermitted amendments to executed agreements. We use blockchain
technology and cryptography to ensure that the loan application is
tamper-proof and resistant to fraud, providing a secure and reliable system
for us and the borrowers.

For Unsecured Property Owner Loans, we use business process automation
technology to generate Land Registry searches on the borrower’s property
and seek valuation estimates provided by Hong Kong'’s major commercial
banks. We also apply our AVS Methodology, which fetches the latest
data from a publicly available property market trend index to provide our
credit intelligence department with a reference point when conducting
valuations of the assets owned by borrowers.
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CREDIT REVIEW AND APPROVAL (CONTINUED)

We will perform background searches on the SME loan applicant. Our
SME dashboard is able to connect to the POS system of our applicants or
borrowers which enable us to collect and review the real-time transaction
and operational data of such applicants. For applicants who do not operate
a compatible POS system, we will request documents such as audited
financial statements, latest management accounts and the applicant’s
facility letter(s) (if any) to verify the SMEs’ financial performance. We will
then prepare a credit assessment report based on the data collected and
our analysis of the applicant’s financial indicators. We have also used
blockchain technology to ensure that the loan application is tamper-proof
and resistant to fraud.

RISK MANAGEMENT
Credit Risk
Pre-drawdown risk

Before commencing credit approval process, we carry out know-your-
customer procedures to verify the customer’s identity through reliable and
independent source documents. We use documents, data and information
obtained from reliable and independent sources, such as Hong Kong
Government, third-party service providers and internal databases, to
identify and verify the borrower’s identity.

Unsecured Property Owner Loans

We have adopted a set of procedures to effectively manage credit risk,
including procedures that may be utilized to recover overdue payments
through selling the property owned by the borrower. Hence, as part of
the loan approval process, the value of the applicant’s property underlying
the application will be estimated and reviewed. In addition, we review the
applicant’s credit history as well as the general economic conditions at the
time of application.

Personal Loans

Our data analytics capabilities, particularly the classification of Personal
Loan applicants into different credit ratings under our IDCM, enable us
to use risk-based pricing that reflects each borrower’s unique risk profile.
We also set out certain criteria, such as the applicant’s repayment ability
to assist our review. These criteria are assessed holistically which forms the
basis of our credit intelligence department’s decision.

SME Loans

We may use qualitative information obtained during the due diligence
process to help assess the risk exposure of our borrowers. Such qualitative
information include feedback from the borrower’s counterparties and
independent third parties, and the controlling person’s expertise and
experience in the business. Review of the guarantors’ risk exposure is also
included in our review of a borrower’s risk exposure.
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RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
Post-drawdown risk

We adopt a “hybrid” risk management methodology to ensure that our
lending activities do not exceed our acceptable risk limit based on our
internal risk management guidelines.

We will receive an alert when our borrowers triggered any risk-related
indicators, such as when there are new legal actions against our borrowers
or there are changes in ownership status of the borrowers’ property.

We also implement a systemic approach in monitoring and handling
default cases. Cases requiring further attention from our credit committee
is prepared regularly, who will then determine the course of action to be
taken.

Cybersecurity Risk

We implement controls to ensure that our cybersecurity risks are managed
and mitigated. For example, all communications between our branches
and offices are conducted by way of encrypted virtual private network
tunnels and our website is equipped with HTTPS protocol to ensure that a
secure connection is established between our web server and the browser.
We believe that our information security, network security and system
security policies allow us to manage the material cybersecurity risks that
we have faced so far.

Operational Risk

Our executive Directors are responsible for determining an overall
operational risk control framework and devising and updating policies
and procedures that are adequate for controlling operational risks. Our
executive Directors meet monthly to review operational issues and are
responsible for supervising our compliance with operational control
procedures and maintenance of security documentation. In addition, to
reduce the operational risk caused by failures of information technology
systems, we backup of our operational data on a regular basis.

Liquidity Risk

We monitor our cash inflow and outflow on a daily basis to ensure the
accuracy of cash collection and deployment such that there is no shortfall
in cash which may interrupt our business operations. We also maintain
sufficient cash buffer on a rolling basis to meet the working capital
requirement and liquidity needs for our operations.
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RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
Interest Rate Risk

We are exposed to fair value interest rate risk in relation to bank
borrowings, and lease liabilities. We are also exposed to cash flow interest
rate risk in relation to variable-rate bank borrowings which carry prevailing
market interests. We monitor our interest rate from fund providers to
ensure any significant change in interest rate for our source of funds is
reflected in the interest rates we charge our borrowers. We currently do
not have an interest rate hedging policy to mitigate interest rate risk. We
manage our interest rate risk exposures by assessing the potential impact
arising from any interest rate movements based on interest rate level and
outlook.

Legal and Regulatory Risk

Our business shall be operated in accordance with the Money Lenders
Ordinance, and are subject to the financial sanctions system in Hong
Kong and legislation prohibiting money laundering activities. We pay close
attention to the statutory framework and have complied and will continue
to comply with such regulations and guidelines, and will also monitor
changes and developments in the regulatory environment to ensure that
measures were implemented to adopt to compulsory changes.

LOAN IMPAIRMENT ASSESSMENT

We assess our loans for impairment, determining a level of allowance for
expected credit losses in accordance with the requirements of HKFRS 9.
Details of the expected credit losses policy and measurement, and the
movement of provision for impairment and written-off of loan and interest
receivables are disclosed in Note 3.1(b) to the consolidated financial
statements.

We write off financial assets, in whole or in part, when we have exhausted
all practical recovery efforts and have concluded there is no reasonable
expectation of recovery. We may write-off financial assets that are still
subject to enforcement activity. The outstanding loan receivables written
off during in 2022 and 2023 were HK$40.2 million and HK$61.8 million,
respectively.
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LOAN RECOVERY

We prepare a list of overdue loans weekly, which will be followed up
by our frontline staff. If the borrower still fails to make repayment, our
management will decide whether it is necessary to commence legal action
against the borrower and/or instruct a debt collector.

Relying on our business risk engine, when there is an alert triggering the
event of default under the loan, we will request the borrower to remedy
the default. If the borrower fails to remedy the default within a reasonable
time, we will decide whether legal action against the borrower and/or
instructing debt collector are necessary. Even if legal proceedings have
been commenced, we will continue our negotiation with the default
borrower.

For defaulting borrowers without property, we will consider commencing
bankruptcy or winding up proceedings against the borrower. In addition,
if guarantee was provided for that loan, we will also consider commencing
bankruptcy or winding up proceedings against the guarantor.

For defaulting borrowers that own property, the most effective recovery
method is to obtain a charging order over the borrowers’ assets, which
empowers the court to impose a charge upon the property of the
judgment debtor for securing the payment of any money due under the
judgment. We may enforce the charging order by selling the property
charged after obtaining an order for sale. Once we obtained possession of
the property, unless the debtor pays the judgment debt, we will put the
property for sale in the open market to recover the judgment debt. We do
not immediately enforce charging orders obtained. However, obtaining
charging orders against borrowers is important as it exerts pressure on
them, and additional efforts will be made by our borrowers to repay their
outstanding amount in order to remove the encumbrance created against
their property.

We also engage a debt collection agent to assist with our loan collection
process, and our internal collectors work closely with our debt collection
agent so that there is frequent information exchange on the collection
status or any new information regarding the default. There are policies in
place to ensure the debt collection agent complies with applicable rules
and regulations in respect of debt collection.
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Directors’ and Senior Management'’s Biographies

EFREREERERE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Lee Kun Tai Steven (Zi2R) (“Mr. Steven Lee”), aged 52, has
been an executive Director and chief executive officer of the Company
since 20 March 2023. He is also a member of the Remuneration
Committee and a member of the Nomination Committee of the
Company. Mr. Steven Lee is a director of K Cash Express and K Cash
since December 2003 and April 2008, respectively. He is responsible for
the overall management, operations, and strategic planning and business
development of the Group and risk management in its daily operations.

Mr. Steven Lee has over 20 years of experience in the licensed money
lending business, with a wide focus on unsecured personal loans, loans to
corporations, mortgage loans and finance leasing. He is the chief executive
officer of Trustme Chain Corporation Limited, principally engaged in
the provision of financial technology services, primarily responsible for
overall management, strategic planning and business development
since 2018. He is the chief executive officer of MoneySQ, principally
engaged in the provision of IT services, primarily responsible for overall
management, strategic planning and business development since 2015.
He has also served as the director of Konew Fintech, principally engaged
in providing mortgage and personal loans, primarily responsible for
overall management, strategic planning and business development since
December 2019. Mr. Steven Lee has been the honorary chairman of the
Internet Professional Association since 2015.

Mr. Steven Lee holds a bachelor’s degree in business administration from
the University of Southern California in the United States and a master’s
degree in construction project management from The University of Hong
Kong.

Mr. Steven Lee is the son of Chairman Lee and Mrs. Lee.

Ms. Wong Cheuk Sze (Z=5F) (“Ms. Wong”), aged 44, has been
an executive Director and chief operating officer of the Company since
20 March 2023. She is also a member of the Independent Business
Opportunity Assessment Committee of the Company. She is responsible
for the overall management and operations, strategic planning and
business development of the Group.

Ms. Wong has over 20 years of experience in the licensed money lending
business. Ms. Wong joined the Group in January 2008 and has served
different positions in the Group. She has served as the chief loan officer
of the unsecured loan department of K Cash from October 2022 until
present in which she is responsible for monitoring the loan process and
procedures and ensuring all aspects of workflow comply with the rules
and guidelines.

Ms. Wong holds a bachelor’s degree of art in contemporary English from
the Hong Kong Polytechnic University and a master’s degree of business
administration from the Chinese University of Hong Kong.
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Lee Sheung Shing (Z&E%) (“Chairman Lee”), aged 87, has been
the chairman of the Board and a non-executive Director since 20 March
2023. He is also the chairman of the Nomination Committee and a
member of the Remuneration Committee of the Company. Chairman Lee is
a director of K Cash Express and K Cash since March 1999 and April 2008,
respectively. He is responsible for providing advice on overall strategic
planning and business development of the Group.

Chairman Lee has over 20 years of experience in the licensed money
lending business, with a wide focus on unsecured personal loans, loans to
corporations, mortgage loans and finance leasing.

Chairman Lee has been appointed as permanent honorary president of the
Hong Kong Real Estate Agencies General Association (ZF /i Z&= IR B 42
@) since 1995. From 2004 to 2008 and from 2014 to present, Chairman
Lee was the chairman of the board and the director of the Hong Kong Lee
Clansmen’s Association (EBZF KR D), respectively. Chairman Lee was
appointed as a consultant and honorary president of Hong Kong Alumni
Association of many famous Chinese universities including Huagiao
University, Fuzhou University, Fujian Normal University, Renmin University
of China, University of Jinan and Central South University starting from
2003.

Chairman Lee graduated from China Zhangzhou Agriculture College
(P BIEINEEPT) (currently known as Fujian Agriculture and Forestry
University ({872 E MK E)). Chairman Lee holds a Certificate Programme
in Property Valuation from The Hong Kong Management Association and
an honorary Doctor of Philosophy degree in business administration from
the International American University in the United States.

Chairman Lee is the spouse of Mrs. Lee and the father of Mr. Steven Lee.

Ms. Lee Pik Tsong (Z=Z %) (“Mrs. Lee”), aged 83, has been our non-
executive Director since 20 March 2023. She is also the director of K
Cash Express, K Cash and K Cash (BVI) since March 1999, April 2008 and
December 2019, respectively. She is responsible for providing advice on
overall strategic planning and business development of our Group.

Mrs. Lee has over 20 years of experience in the licensed money lending
business, with a wide focus on unsecured personal loans, loans to
corporations, mortgage loans and finance leasing.

Mrs. Lee graduated from Huagiao University in China specializing in
medicine.

Mrs. Lee is the spouse of Chairman Lee and the mother of Mr. Steven Lee.
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

Ms. Chan Wing Sze (BR#k&) (“Ms. Chan”), aged 47, joined the Group
in May 2007. Ms. Chan has been a non-executive Director since 20 March
2023 and is responsible for providing advice on strategies on overall
management and operations, strategic planning and marketing of the
Group.

Ms. Chan has over 20 years of experience in the licensed money lending
business. Since August 2022, she has served as the chief operating officer
in Konew Capital until present, primarily responsible for monitoring its
overall operation.

Ms. Chan was awarded the Asia Pacific Entrepreneurship Award by
Enterprise Asia in September 2016. She holds a bachelor’s degree in
commerce from the University of Manitoba in Canada.

Ms. Kan Pui Yan (B3 &) (“Ms. Kan”), aged 52, has been a non-
executive Director since 20 March 2023. She is responsible for providing
advice on strategies on the general financial management of the Group.

Ms. Kan has over 30 years of experience in accounting. She has served
as the chief financial officer of Konew Capital from August 2022 until
present.

Ms. Kan has been a member of The Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants since June 2001, and a fellow of the same since June 2006.
She has also been a certified public accountant of the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants since March 2003.

Ms. Kan holds a master’s degree of accountancy and a master’s degree of
business administration from The Chinese University of Hong Kong.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Prof. Hung Wai Man JP ((£ER) (“Prof. Hung"), aged 55, has been
an independent non-executive Director since 31 October 2023. He is
responsible for overseeing the operations and management of the Group
independently. He is also the chairman of the Remuneration Committee
and a member of the Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee and
the Independent Business Opportunity Assessment Committee of the
Company.

Prof. Hung has over 35 years of experience in management consulting,
project management and outsourcing services. He has been a director
of Wit's Technology (HK) Company, since January 2017, and Shenzhen-
Hong Kong Technology Startup Platform Limited, since November 2019,
respectively. He has also been an independent non-executive director of
LH Group Limited, a company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code:
1978), principally engaged in the operation of full-service restaurants,
primarily responsible for assisting in strategical recommendation
since May 2018, Sino Hotels (Holdings) Limited, a company listed on
the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1221), principally engaged in the
operation and management of hotels, primarily responsible for providing
recommendation to the business development since January 2019, and
Sprocomm Intelligence Limited, a company listed on the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 1401), principally engaged in manufacture and sale of
technological products, primarily responsible for assisting in strategical
recommendation since November 2019, respectively.

Prof. Hung obtained a higher diploma in mathematics, statistics and
computing from the Hong Kong Polytechnic (currently known as The Hong
Kong Polytechnic University) in Hong Kong and obtained a bachelor’s
degree in business administration from the Bolton Institute of Higher
Education in the United Kingdom. He obtained a master’s degree in
business administration from the University of Hull in the United Kingdom
and obtained a master’s degree in arts from The Chinese University
of Hong Kong. He obtained a master’'s degree in laws and a doctor’s
degree in laws from the Renmin University of China. He obtained a
doctor’s degree of philosophy in business administration from the Bulacan
State University in the Philippines (through long distance learning). He
obtained a master’s degree in executive business administration from the
City University of Hong Kong. He obtained a master’s degree in public
administration from Tsinghua University.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
(CONTINUED)

Prof. Hung was awarded in the Secretary for Home Affairs” Commendation
Scheme in 2007 and was elected as one of the Ten Outstanding Young
Persons in Hong Kong in 2008. Prof. Hung was also appointed as a Justice
of the Peace by the Chief Secretary for Administration of Hong Kong in
July 2015. He has become a Chartered IT professional, a Fellow member
of the Hong Kong Institute of Directors (FHKIoD), a Fellow member of
the Hong Kong Computer Society (FHKCS), and a Fellow member of the
British Computer Society (FBCS), since July 2008, July 2022, February
2008, March 2022, respectively.

Mr. Mak Wing Sum Alvin (X&) (“Mr. Mak”), aged 71, has
been an independent non-executive Director since 31 October 2023.
He is responsible for overseeing the operations and management of
the Group independently. He is also the chairman of the Independent
Business Opportunity Assessment Committee and a member of the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee
of the Company.

He is an independent non-executive director of Luk Fook Holdings
(International) Limited (stock code: 0590), principally engaged in sale
of jewelries, Lai Fung Holdings Limited (stock code: 1125), principally
engaged in property development business, Hong Kong Technology
Venture Company Limited (stock code: 1137), principally engaged in
provision of e-commerce business, Goldpac Group Limited (stock code:
3315), principally engaged in the production and sale of software and
secure payment products, and Crystal International Group Limited (stock
code: 2232), principally engaged in manufacture and distribution of
clothes, all of which are listed on the Stock Exchange. Mr. Mak was
appointed as an independent non-executive director of Habib Bank Zurich
(Hong Kong) Limited, a Hong Kong based restricted-licence bank in April
2023. Mr. Mak was admitted as a member of Hong Kong Housing Society
in May 2015 and is currently a member of its Supervisory Board, and
Finance committees.

After working in Citibank for over 26 years, Mr. Mak retired on 1 May
2012. He last served as the Head of Markets and Banking for Citibank
Hong Kong, being the country business manager for corporate and
investment banking business. In Citibank, he had various senior positions
including Head of Global Banking responsible for managing all the
coverage bankers. Prior to that he managed the Hong Kong'’s corporate
finance business, regional asset management business and was the Chief
Financial Officer of North Asia. Before joining Citibank in 1985, Mr. Mak
was an audit group manager at Coopers & Lybrand (now known as
PricewaterhouseCoopers). He worked for Coopers & Lybrand for eight
years, five of which were in Toronto, Canada, He graduated from the
University of Toronto with a Bachelor of Commerce degree in 1976. He is
a member of the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants of Ontario.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
(CONTINUED)

Mr. Leung Ka Cheung (2% &) (“Mr. Leung”), aged 62, has been
an independent non-executive Director since 31 October 2023. He is
responsible for overseeing the operations and management of the Group
independently. He is also the chairman of the Audit Committee and a
member of the Remuneration Committee, the Nomination Committee
and the Independent Business Opportunity Assessment Committee of the
Company.

Mr. Leung has over 35 years of experience in the accounting and finance
industry. He has worked as a partner of an accountant firm KCG & Co.,
primary responsible for accounting, audit assurance and tax compliance
services since December 2001.

Mr. Leung obtained a bachelor’s degree in business administration
from the University of East Asia Macau (through distance learning).
Mr. Leung obtained a master’s degree in professional accounting from
the Hong Kong Polytechnic University in Hong Kong. Mr. Leung is a
fellow of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, the
Institute of Chartered Accountants in England & Wales, the Association
of International Accountants, and the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants. He has also been a member of the Chartered Institute of
Marketing since September 1997 and was an associate member of the
Taxation Institute of Hong Kong in 2003 and became a fellow member
since December 2020.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The senior management of the Company consists of four members,
namely, Mr. Steven Lee, Ms. Wong, Ms. Lin Ching Man and Ms. Leung Ka
Yee.

Ms. Lin Ching Man (#&#) (“Ms. Lin”), aged 41, joined the Group
in March 2012 and was appointed as our chief financial officer of the
Company on 20 March 2023 in which she is responsible for general
financial management of the Group. She has over 18 years of experience
in accounting. Ms. Lin has served as a director of Konew Capital since July
2022 in which she is responsible for ensuring the submission of accurate
and timely reports internally and externally and monitoring cash flow and
accounting policies. She was transferred to K Cash Express since October
2022.

Ms. Lin graduated from the City University of Hong Kong with a bachelor’s
degree of business administration in accountancy with honors. She has
been a member of The Association of Chartered Certified Accountants
since November 2007, and a fellow of the same since November 2012.

Ms. Leung Ka Yee (RER) (“Ms. Leung”), aged 45, first joined the
Group in July 2001 and was appointed as our chief commercial officer of
the Company on 20 March 2023 in which she is responsible for overseeing
and supervising the corporate business department of the Group and
managing the SME Loans and corporate partnership projects.

Ms. Leung has over 22 years of experience in customer services. She has
served as the director of prestige account department of K Cash Express
since October 2022 in which she is responsible for formulating the long
term development goals of the company and promoting the execution of
company’s policy.

Ms. Leung holds a bachelor’'s degree of arts in hotel & catering
management from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University and a master’s
degree of business and administration from the Chinese University of
Hong Kong. She was awarded Distinction in Accounting (Third Level) by
the London Chamber of Commerce and Industry Examinations Board.
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Directors’ Report

EFERT

The Board is pleased to present the annual report and audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2023.

GENERAL INFORMATION

Our Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 25 October
2022 and our Shares were listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
on 5 December 2023 (the “Listing Date”).

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND ANALYSIS OF
OPERATIONS

The Group is principally engaged in the money lending business
specialising in unsecured loans in Hong Kong.

The activities and particulars of the Company and its subsidiaries are
shown under note 12 to the consolidated financial statements in
this annual report. An analysis of the Group’s business and financial
performance for the year by principal activities is set out in the section
headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” in this annual report.

RESULTS

The consolidated results of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2023 are set out on pages 141 to 244 of this annual report.

PROPOSED FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board recommended payment of a final dividend of HK 1.998 cents
per Share, which will be payable in cash. Th proposed final dividend will
be paid on Friday, 21 June 2024 following approval at the annual general
meeting of the Company (“AGM") to Shareholders whose names shall
appear on the register of members of the Company on Wednesday, 5
June 2024.
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ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The AGM of the Company will be held on Tuesday, 28 May 2024. Notice
of the AGM will be published and issued to Shareholders in due course.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For determining the entitlement of the Shareholders to attend and vote
at the AGM, the register of members of the Company will be closed from
Thursday, 23 May 2024 to Tuesday, 28 May 2024, both days inclusive,
during which period no transfer of Shares will be registered.

In order to be qualified for attending and voting at the AGM, all Share
transfer documents accompanied by the relevant share certificates must
be lodged with the Company’s Hong Kong share registrar, Tricor Investor
Services Limited at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong
Kong for registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on Wednesday, 22 May
2024.

For determining Shareholders’ entitlement to the proposed final dividend,
the register of members of the Company will be closed from Monday, 3
June 2024 to Wednesday, 5 June 2024, both days inclusive, during which
period no transfer of Shares will be registered.

In order to be qualified for attending and voting at the AGM, all Share
transfer documents accompanied by the relevant Share certificates must
be lodged with the Company’s Hong Kong share registrar, Tricor Investor
Services Limited at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong
Kong for registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on Friday, 31 May 2024.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy on payment of dividends.
Depending on the financial conditions of the Company and the Group
and the conditions and factors as set out in the Dividend Policy, dividends
may be proposed and/or declared by the Board during a financial year and
any final dividend for a financial year will be subject to the Shareholders’
approval. The declaration, payment and distribution of dividends to the
Shareholders is also subject to any restrictions under the laws of the
Cayman Islands, the Articles of Association and any applicable laws, rules
and regulations.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of our Group’s results, assets and liabilities for the last four
financial years are set out on page 5 of this annual report.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group during the Reporting Period, the Group’s
exposure to principal risks and uncertainties, business prospects, financial
performance and relevant analysis, together with compliance with the
relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the Group
are set out in the section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis”
to this annual report. Environmental policy of the Group have been put in
place to give due consideration to environmental issues and minimise the
impact of business operations of the Group on environment. In addition,
discussions on the aforesaid policies of the Group and the Group's
relationships with employees, customers, suppliers and other stakeholders
are contained in the Environmental, Social and Governance Report and the
Corporate Governance Report on pages 61 to 110 and pages 111 to 131
of this Annual Report, respectively. The review and discussion form part of
this directors’ report.
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group’s financial condition, results of operations, businesses and
prospects may be affected by a number of risks and uncertainties. The
followings are the key risks and uncertainties identified by the Group.
There may be other risks and uncertainties which are not currently known
to the Group or which may not be material now but could turn out to
be material in the future. Some of the major risks we face include the
following:

o We are exposed to credit risks of our customers who may default
on their loans.

o If we fail to control our credit risk exposure, our bad debt ratio
may increase, and our business and results of operations may be
adversely affected.

o Our provision for expected credit losses may not be adequate to
cover actual credit losses.

o We are in a highly competitive industry. If we are not able to
compete effectively, it could impact our profitability.

o If we fail to promote our technology-based services to a satisfactory
level of market acceptance, or if we fail to continuously enhance
our technologies at a competitive pace, we may lose certain
businesses and not be able to recover our investment on adopting
relevant technologies.

o We may not be able to obtain sufficient funding on terms
acceptable to us to finance our operation; we may not be able to
comply with covenants in our borrowings, and our lenders may
request loan repayment without prior notice.

o Our future expansion plans are subject to uncertainties and risks.

o If the credit or other information of a prospective borrower we
receive from other parties is inaccurate or unreliable, the accuracy
or effectiveness of our credit assessment and risk-based pricing
may be compromised.
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COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

To the best of our knowledge, our Group has complied with all laws
and regulations which had a significant influence on our money lending
business during the Reporting Period (including but not limited to the
Money Lenders Ordinance (Chapter 163 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and
the Anti-Money Laundering and Counter-Terrorist Financing Ordinance
(Chapter 615 of the Laws of Hong Kong)) in all material aspects, and
that our Directors are not aware of any matters that might come to their
attention that our money lenders licence will be revoked prior to their
expiration dates. Moreover, given our successful track record in renewing
such licenses, we do not envisage any legal impediments to such renewals
in the future.

USE OF PROCEEDS FROM THE GLOBAL OFFERING

Our Company was listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange on 5
December 2023 with gross proceeds and net proceeds of approximately
HK$225.0 million and HK$181.2 million from the Global Offering,
respectively.

As of the date of this annual report, there was no change in the intended
use of net proceeds and the expected timeline as previously disclosed in
the section headed “Future Plans and Use of Proceeds” in the Prospectus.
The following table sets forth a summary of the utilization of the net
proceeds as of 31 December 2023:
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the Listing Date
and up to the
date of this
annual report
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amount as at
the date of this
annual report
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Expected
timeline for the
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MEFEREN
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HK$ million
BEBTT
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HK$ million

.
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HK$ million
BEATT

AHRER

Enrichment of our technology G E 306 2.7 279 By December 2026

capabilities ZEZRETZAA

Expansion of our loan portfolio BAEFME 1336 50.2 834 By March 2024
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General working capital and general ~ —REEES N 17.0 8.2 8.8  ByDecember 2024
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CUSTOMERS AND FUND PROVIDERS EFRESRME

Customers BFE

During the Reporting Period, our customers comprised individuals and ~ RAMEER - KAWECEIERARER - A
corporations and were not connected persons of the Company. WIEARRFIBFEAL ©

During the Reporting Period, our top five customers (as determined by ~ RIREHA - KA AAREP (REENF A
interest income generated) accounted for approximately 2.1% (2022: WAEBE)(HINFAZTEL21% (T -4 :
2.1%) of our total revenue, and aggregate value of outstanding loan  2.1% )R AARPHRESENEFEELE
receivables of our top five customers accounted for approximately 1.9%  WEKEZELI1.9%(ZFE-—F : 2.0%) °
(2022: 2.0%) of our total loan receivables.

Fund Providers EERHE
During the Reporting Period, our major fund providers (by aggregate  RIREHA - RPN T EESIEMHE (BT A
interest expense) are as follows: FIX @RI
Approximate
% of our
total source
of funding
(excluding
cash flow
from
Loan amount  operations) Approximate
as at 31 as at 31 Effective % of our
December December interest rate Interest interest
2023 2023  (per annum) expense expenses
R-%-=F
t=A
=t+-g
R=B==F {GAESRR
=R (TRfERE ERER
=t-Bf FERLRE) B S3:00
EREE HENELL R BAl
(HK$'000) % (HK$'000) %
(F#1) (Fi&r)
DBS Bank (Hong Kong) Limited ERFIT(BR)BRAT 294,225 90.7 85 22323 88.6
Big Development Asset Management ~ ARBEEEEABAF Nil N/A 78 1,415 5.6
Limited z Nam
Sinopac Capital International (HK) Limited k24 A ABR (&) 5RAR 30,060 93 9.9 555 22
Total Eoh 324,285 100.0 24,293 96.4
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND
INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the Group
are set out in note 13 to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the Share capital of our Company during the
Reporting Period are set out in note 20 to the consolidated financial
statements.

DEBENTURES

Our Group did not issue any debentures during the Reporting Period.

RESERVES

Details of the movement in the reserves of the Group and of the Company
during the Reporting Period are set out in the consolidated statements of
changes in equity and note 26(b) to the consolidated financial statements,
respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2023, the Company’s distributable reserves were
HK$652.1 million.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

Our Company is not aware of any relief from taxation available to the
Shareholders by reason of their holding of the Shares.

BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS

Particulars of bank loans and other borrowings of the Group as at 31
December 2023 are set out in Note 22 to the consolidated financial

statements.
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SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the major subsidiaries held by the Company are set out in note
12 to the consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS

During the Reporting Period and as at the date of this annual report,
Directors of the Company are as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Lee Kun Tai Steven
Ms. Wong Cheuk Sze

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Lee Sheung Shing
Ms. Lee Pik Tsong
Ms. Chan Wing Sze
Ms. Kan Pui Yan

Independent Non-executive Directors

Prof. Hung Wai Man JP
Mr. Mak Wing Sum Alvin
Mr. Leung Ka Cheung

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, at every annual general meeting
of the Company one-third of the Directors for the time being, or, if their
number is not three or a multiple of three, then the number nearest to but
not less than one-third, shall retire from office by rotation provided that
every Director, including those appointed for a specified term, shall be
subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years. A retiring
Director shall be eligible for re-election.

Accordingly, Ms. Wong Cheuk Sze, Mr. Lee Sheung Shing and Prof. Hung
Wai Man JP will retire and, being eligible, have offered themselves for re-
election as Directors at the AGM.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of the Directors and senior management of our
Company are set out on pages 28 to 34 of this annual report.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE OF
INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Our Company has received a confirmation of independence pursuant to
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules from each of the independent non-executive
Directors and our Company considers such Directors to be independent
during the period from the Listing Date and up to the date of this annual
report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of our executive Directors and non-executive Directors has entered
into a service contract with the Company for a term of three years starting
from the Listing Date, which may be terminated by not less than one
months’ notice in writing served by either party on the other.

Each of our non-executive Directors and our independent non-executive
Directors has entered into a letter of appointment with the Company for
a term of three years from the Listing Date, which may be terminated by
not less than one months’ notice in writing served by either party on the
other.

The appointments of the Directors are subject to the provisions of
retirement and rotation of Directors under the Articles of Association.

None of the Directors has entered into any service contract with the
Company or any of its subsidiaries which is not determinable by the
employer within one year without payment of compensation, other than
statutory compensation.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, a permitted indemnity provision
for the benefit of the Directors is currently in force and was in force
throughout the financial year. The Company has purchased the Directors’
and Officers’ Liability Insurance to provide protection against claims arising
from the lawful discharge of duties by the Directors.
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole
or any substantial part of the business of the Company were entered into
by the Company or existed during the year ended 31 December 2023.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 December 2023, we employed 62 employees (31 December
2022: 68). Our employee benefit expenses for the Reporting Period were
HK$40.7 million (2022: HK$47.6 million).

The Company adopted a share scheme which was effective upon the
Listing, and employees are eligible for share options under such scheme.
For details, see the section headed “Share Scheme” below.

The Group adopts a remuneration policy covering the position, duties
and performance of our employees. The remuneration of our employees
include salary, overtime allowance, bonus and various subsidies.

CHANGE TO INFORMATION IN RESPECT OF
DIRECTORS

Since the Listing Date, there was no change to information which is
required to be disclosed and has been disclosed by the Directors pursuant
to paragraphs (a) to (e) and (g) of Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules for the
Reporting Period.
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DIRECTORS" AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2023, the interests or short positions of the Directors
and chief executive of the Company in the Shares, underlying Shares and
debentures of the Company and its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO), which (a) were required to be notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of
Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions which he/she
was taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); or (b)
were required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be recorded in
the register referred to therein; or (c) were required to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code, were as
follows:

Long position in the Shares

Name of Director

ESff

Capacity/nature of interest

54/ BENRE

EERESTHAER ﬁf
Bt K S VR SR

1‘@%%

RIZE-_=F+-"A=+—8 BLEREAAQF
TR AERARR RERE LB (TR R
(BH M EREIENYFEXVELR) k(D ~ BRI G5
REEEZETFHEEQIRB(ELERAEKRIE
XVEREE7 M8y /B A& 7N x 7] Mo B &2 AT 4
=HIOAR (BIERE(ESR MEEEG)E BIE
N EESIRBHEAENERLAR) (bR
BCRE S M EAE D )EE 35216 7B & st IR &
P &R MrERIAE + S(OREIRESTE
ARG ARRNE MR FMERSAENT

RIRGEFR

Approximate
percentage of interest
in our Company

BARDRARENBAE AL

Number of Shares®

RegRo

Chairman Lee Interest in a controlled corporation and interest jointly 375,000,000 (L) 75%
o held with other persons

AR EB R R EE M A+ HEFBER
Mrs. Lee@® Interest in a controlled jointly held with corporation and 375,000,000 (L) 75%
FRK interest other persons

REIEEE R R R EE M A T HERE R
Mr. Steven Lee@®) Founder of a discretionary trust, interest in a controlled 375,000,000 (L) 75%

Hrat -
(1) FELIZT AR KL A4 E

FIRF R A corporation and interest jointly held with other persons
DRETEMAIZA - R LB AR R EE M A T H
BES¥EN:0k: 3o
Notes:
(1) The letter “L” denotes a person’s long position in our Shares.
2) Chairman Lee, Mrs. Lee and Mr. Steven Lee are family members of one another.

Therefore, pursuant to the SFO, they are deemed to be interested in any Shares
in which one another is interested through their controlled corporation, Konew
Group.

3) East Asia International Trustees Limited as the trustee of the Lee Trust (through
its direct wholly-owned company World Wealth Investment Development
Limited) holds the entire issued share capital of SW Lee Limited. The Lee Trust is
a discretionary trust established by Mr. Steven Lee (as the settlor) and East Asia
International Trustees Limited (as the trustee), for the benefit of Mr. Steven Lee
and his family members. Accordingly, each of Mr. Steven Lee, World Wealth
Investment Development Limited and East Asia International Trustees Limited
is deemed to be interested in the equity interests held by SW Lee Limited.
Chairman Lee and Mrs. Lee, being family members of Mr. Steven Lee, will also
be deemed to be interested in the equity interests of Mr. Steven Lee in SW Lee
Limited.

2) FEE  FAAXRFTRFAERY BREA
& o Bt - RIF(GESRIENED)) - BF#1%
BB T EKonew Group R I #E
BT RP G E s o

(3) REBIRE7EH R 2 AIIERERAFFEZFEA
(EBRE#2E L World Wealth Investment
Development Limited ) #% & SW Lee Limited £
HEZRITRA « FRISTZEHFRFLE(IE
BHERTA) R RS HRA 7 (6
RN ) BERF L ERBEK G B8 Fz i
RYA)TRISEE o Bt - FIRFFLE - World
Wealth Investment Development Limited & B &5
Bl X (5 7E B R 2 5] & B # % 3 K SW Lee
Limited TR E P HE B 2 o 1ERTRFLLE
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING

SHARES AND DEBENTURES (CONTINUED)

Long position in the ordinary shares of associated

corporation

Name of Director

EEps

Chairman Lee

FER

Mrs Lee
EY VN

Mr. Steven Lee

FRFRE

Associated
corporation

i) 3L |

Konew Group

Konew Fintech

B SealciiEEed

Konew Group

Konew Fintech

B SealciiEEed

Konew Group

Konew Fintech

B SealciiEEed

Capacity/nature of interest

B REEE

Beneficial owner and interest jointly held with other
persons

BEaRlE AREEMATHARENER

Interest in a controlled corporation and interest jointly
held with other persons

MR LB MR M A T HARA R
Beneficial owner and interest jointly held with other
persons

BamEA AREEMA T HAREER
Interest in a controlled corporation and interest jointly
held with other persons

MEEB S MR M A T HARA R
Interest in a controlled corporation and interest jointly
held with other persons

MR EB S M EE M A T HARA R
Interest in a controlled corporation and interest jointly
held with other persons

REERE R LB EA A T KA R

EERERSITHRAERER®S
RO KREEETNEZNAR (E)

REBEESBERNER

Number of

shares®

RHEEO

50,000 (L)

1HE

Percentage
of interest
in the
associated
corporation
hAEE R
EmAD

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%
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DIRECTORS" AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES (CONTINUED)

Long position in the ordinary shares of associated
corporation (Continued)

Notes:

(1)

@)

3)

The letter “L” denotes a person’s long position in the relevant associated
corporation.

Chairman Lee, Mrs. Lee and Mr. Steven Lee are family members of one another.
Therefore, pursuant to the SFO, they are deemed to be interested in any shares
in Konew Group in which one another is interested.

East Asia International Trustees Limited as the trustee of the Lee Trust (through
its direct wholly-owned company World Wealth Investment Development
Limited) holds the entire issued share capital of SW Lee Limited. The Lee Trust is
a discretionary trust established by Mr. Steven Lee (as the settlor) and East Asia
International Trustees Limited (as the trustee), for the benefit of Mr. Steven Lee
and his family members. Accordingly, each of Mr. Steven Lee, World Wealth
Investment Development Limited and East Asia International Trustees Limited
is deemed to be interested in the equity interests held by SW Lee Limited.
Chairman Lee and Mrs. Lee, being family members of Mr. Steven Lee, will also
be deemed to be interested in the equity interests of Mr. Steven Lee in SW Lee
Limited.

Save as disclosed above and to the best knowledge of the Directors, as
at 31 December 2023, none of the Directors or the chief executive of the
Company has any interests and/or short positions in the Shares, underlying
Shares or debentures of the Company or its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were required to be notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of
Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions which he/she
was taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO) or which
were required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the
register referred to therein or which were required, pursuant to the Model
Code, to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as otherwise disclosed in this annual report, at no time during the
Reporting Period was our Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to
any arrangement that would enable the Directors to acquire benefits by
means of acquisition of Shares in, or debentures of, our Company or any
other body corporate, and none of the Directors or any of their spouses or
children under the age of 18 were granted any right to subscribe for the
equity or debt securities of our Company or any other body corporate or
had exercised any such right.

DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS UNDER THE SFO AND
FOR SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

So far as our Directors are aware, as at 31 December 2023, the following
persons (other than the Directors or chief executive) had an interests
or short positions in the Shares or underlying Shares as required in the
register required to be kept under section 336 of the SFO:

Name of Shareholder Capacity/nature of interest

5 HEME

BRREME

Interest in a controlled corporation
REEEE SR

Beneficial owner

EmfaA

Interest in a controlled corporation
REEE SR

Interest in controlled corporation
REEEEH R

Trustee of a trust

Konew Group®

Konew Fintech
RS BRHE
SW Lee Limited®

World Wealth Investment
Development Limited®
East Asia International

Trustees Limited® EFEMETEA
REBBREFARARAO
Notes:
(1) The Letter “L” denotes a person’s long position in our Shares.

2) Konew Group is held by Chairman Lee, Mrs. Lee, Mr. Steven Lee and Mr. Edwin
Lee as to 25.0%, 25.0%, 28.5% and 21.5% respectively. Konew Group in
interested in the equity interests of the Company through its wholly-owned
subsidiary, Konew Fintech.

3) East Asia International Trustees Limited as the trustee of the Lee Trust (through
its direct wholly-owned company World Wealth Investment Development
Limited) holds the entire issued share capital of SW Lee Limited. The Lee Trust is
a discretionary trust established by Mr. Steven Lee (as the settlor) and East Asia
International Trustees Limited (as the trustee), for the benefit of Mr. Steven Lee
and his family members.
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B EERARBRBE AR RS E AR
ik EEmMERN - BEERE AR BN
R85 F L BB R R AR A SR
H AR B A0 B AN SRAB TS 78 SR RN S E AT
Ef A RARER -

RISCES RO LB R
i B

BESHA RZT_=F+-A=+—8"
ATAL(EERERITERAERIN RAMH K
AR R B AR IBCRE 75 R M R IR 1) F 336
FRGFENELMAMEHEOERIORE

Approximate
percentage of
interest in our

Company
EEQ TR
BABEE

Number of
Shares™

REEE®

375,000,000 (L) 75%
375,000,000 (L) 75%
106,875,000 (L) 21.4%
106,875,000 (L) 21.4%
106,875,000 (L) 21.4%

() FELEFEARBGOLE -

2) Konew GroupfiFEF & + FAK « FTIRFSLE
RERBIEAE S FIFFE25.0% ~ 25.0% ~ 28.5%
Je21.5%#25 ° Konew Group BB 2 EH1EA
A E 2 BEHERE L Gl R A g -

3) RDBEFEFEAR A FIERFLIEFERFEA
(EBEE 2 E 2 7 World Wealth Investment
Development Limited)#¥ 5 SW Lee Limited= &
BEITRE o FLIGARHFRFLLES
HERTA)ERTERETHR A A (ERX
FEA ) BERFSEERAZ K S 19z T 5
TR HEIGEE
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DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS UNDER THE SFO AND
FOR SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS (CONTINUED)
Save as disclosed herein, as at 31 December 2023, our Directors are not
aware of any persons (other than the Directors or chief executive) who

had an interests or short positions in the Shares or underlying Shares as
recorded in the register required to be kept under section 336 of the SFO.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

During the Reporting Period, the Company has not entered into any
equity-linked agreement.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the period from
the Listing Date and up to 31 December 2023.

As set out in the Prospectus, the Company offered an aggregate of
125,000,000 new Shares as part of the Global Offering. The securities of
the Company were listed on the Stock Exchange on the Listing Date.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of Association
or the laws of the Cayman Islands that would oblige our Company to offer
new Shares on a pro rata basis to existing Shareholders.
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NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKINGS

To avoid any actual or potential competition between the business of the
Controlling Shareholders and our Company, each of Chairman Lee, Mrs.
Lee, Mr. Steven Lee, Mr. Edwin Lee, Konew Group and Konew Fintech, as
a covenantor (each a “Covenantor”, and collectively the “Covenantors”)
provided non-competition undertakings in favor of us, pursuant to
which each of the Covenantors has, among other things, irrevocably and
unconditionally undertaken with our Company that at any time during
the Relevant Period (as defined below), subject to certain exceptions, each
of the Covenantors shall not, and shall procure its close associates (other
than members of our Group) not to, directly or indirectly, engage in, invest
in, participate in, or attempt to participate in, whether on its own account
or with each other or in conjunction with or on behalf of any person or
company, any business directly or indirectly in competition with or likely to
be in competition with the Unsecured Loan Business.

For the above purpose, the “Relevant Period” means the period
commencing from the Listing Date and until the earlier of: (i) the date
on which our Shares cease to be listed on the Stock Exchange; and (ii)
the date on which such Covenantors (together with their respective close
associates) cease to be our Controlling Shareholders.

The aforesaid undertaking does not apply with respect to the holding of or
being interested in, directly or indirectly, by the Covenantors and/or their
respective close associates, any shares in any company which conducts or
is engaged in, directly or indirectly, any business directly or indirectly in
competition with or likely to be in competition with the Unsecured Loan
Business, provided that:

i. such shares are listed on a recognized stock exchange; and

ii. the total number of such shares held by any of the Covenantors
and/or their respective close associates does not amount to more
than 10% of the issued shares of that class of such company in
question.
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NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKINGS (CONTINUED)
Right of First Refusal

Each of the Covenantors further undertakes with our Company that, if any
new business opportunity relating to the Unsecured Loan Business arises
(the “Unsecured Loan Business Opportunity”):

i. the Covenantors shall direct to our Company any such Unsecured
Loan Business Opportunity by serving our Company a written
notice. Such written notice shall include all information together
with any documents possessed by it or its close associates in
respect of the Unsecured Loan Business Opportunity to enable our
Company to evaluate the merit of the Unsecured Loan Business
Opportunity; and

ii. provide all reasonable assistance as requested by our Company
to enable our Group to secure the Unsecured Loan Business
Opportunity.

Upon receipt of the written notice from the Covenantors, our Board
(other than the interested Director, if any) will consider whether it is in
the interest of our Company and our Shareholders as a whole to pursue
the Unsecured Loan Business Opportunity. The Covenantors and their
respective close associates (other than members of our Group) will not be
entitled to pursue the Unsecured Loan Business Opportunity unless the
Unsecured Loan Business Opportunity is declined by us, and the principal
terms of which they and/or their close associates (other than members of
our Group) invest or participate are no more favorable than those made
available by our Company.

For details of the non-competition undertakings, please refer to the
Prospectus. Our controlling Shareholders has fully complied with the above
non-competition undertakings during the period from the Listing Date to
31 December 2023.
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DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN COMPETING BUSINESS

Since the Listing date and up to the date of this annual report, none of the
Directors or their respective associates had engaged in or had any interest
in any business which competes or is likely to compete, either directly or
indirectly, with the Unsecured Loan Business.

DONATIONS

During the Reporting Period, we did not make any charitable and other
donations (2022: HK$420,000).

SIGNIFICANT LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

During the Reporting Period, our Company was not engaged in any
litigation or arbitration of material importance and no litigation or claim
of material importance is known to the Directors to be pending or
threatening against our Company.

CONVERTIBLE SECURITIES, OPTIONS, WARRANTS
AND OTHER SIMILAR RIGHTS

During the Reporting Period, the Company had no convertible securities,
options, warrants and other similar rights.
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SHARE SCHEME

The Share Scheme was conditionally approved by the sole Shareholder on
31 October 2023 with effect from the Listing Date. Up to the date of this
annual report, no Awards (as defined below) has been granted, agreed to
be granted, exercised, cancelled or lapsed under the Share Scheme.

1) Purpose

To incentivize and reward an Eligible Person (as defined below) for
their contribution to our Group and to align their interests with
that of our Company so as to encourage them to work towards
enhancing the value of our Company.

2) Participants

Any person of any one of the following classes of participants
(“Eligible Person”):

i. any director and employee of any member of our Group
("Employee Participants”);

ii. any director or employee of any of the holding companies,
fellow subsidiaries or associated companies of our
Company; and

iii. any consultant, supplier or service provider who provides
services to the Group on a continuing and recurring basis
in its ordinary and usual course of business which are in
the interests of the long-term growth of the Group (but
excluding professional service providers who provide
assurance or are required to performance their services with
impartiality and objectivity) (the “Service Provider”).

The basis of eligibility of any of the participants shall be determined
by the Board from time to time. In assessing the eligibility of
any participant, the Board will consider all relevant factors as
appropriate, including, among others, (i) work performance; (ii)
years of service; and (iii) potential or actual contribution to the
business of our Group.
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SHARE SCHEME (CONTINUED)

3)

4)

5)

Total number of Shares available for issue under the
Share Scheme

The maximum number of Shares which may be issued pursuant to
all Awards to be granted under the Share Scheme shall not exceed
50,000,000, i.e. 10% of the total number of Shares in issue as at
the date of this annual report. The number of options and awards
available for grant under the scheme mandate and the service
provider sublimit on 31 December 2023 were 50,000,000 and
5,000,000, respectively.

The number of shares that may be issued in respect of options and
awards granted under all schemes of the issuer during the financial
year divided by the weighted average number of shares of the
relevant class in issue for the year/period is nil.

Types of Awards

An Award may be in the form of:

i. an award which vests in the form of the right to subscribe
for and/or to be issued such number of Award Shares as
the scheme administrator may determine at the Scheme
Issue Price (as defined below) in accordance with the terms
of the Share Scheme (a “Share Award"); or

ii. an award which vests in the form of the right to subscribe
for such number of Award Shares as the scheme
administrator may determine during the exercise period at
the Scheme Exercise Price (as defined below) in accordance
with the terms of the Share Scheme (a “Share Option”).

Maximum entitlement of each participant

No Awards shall be granted to any Eligible Person under the
Share Scheme and any other schemes of our Company which, if
exercised, would result in such Eligible Person becoming entitled
to subscribe for such number of Shares as, when aggregated
with the total number of Shares already issued or to be issued to
him under all Awards granted to him (excluding any options and
awards lapsed in accordance with the terms of the scheme) in the
12-month period up to and including the date of offer of such
Awards, exceeds 1% of the Shares in issue at such date.

R tpErEl (&)

3)

4)

5)

REBR O BT HBITHROER

HREROEIX LA MA EEm A
TETHEaRHEE  TE5EA
50,000,000/% (DA AR 3 B #2347
IR BEHI10%) c RZTE_=F+=
A=1—8  RBE B R RERE
& TEPR B8 A I ) A s A e K HREDEL
B % 51450,000,000153 5%5,000,00017 °

RAFBERRIBETARETER G
HORE AR N B2 I AT BE B TTHOA D 2K
B B ASE, HIRE B ATHERE R RIA &Y
IMEFHHBBET

REER
B ATERAU TR

i PAREB N, SHEBEITETEIE R A
IR 7T B R FRIR T 813 7T
BOEERTX)AREEEMNNA
oA S2Eh A 0 B B AR R (T B {0
RE ) A ETTRE M RRE
%

i. ARBEAEIEBARITESM
IR D 7T B R FIRFT BT
BOEER T AREEEMNNA
7 S2Eh A 0 B B B9 R (T BB AX
B DAETRBRRE -

BESRETERWERN LR
ARIE A (D 518 AR BUEE 52l
AR A BIE A LR R SR T T(E
HREEABRBENE R (BEZA)
LE1216 A SRR R E I R 5 2 2R 22 RD
(T EBRE BUFRF RN EAEAR
RN B2RY) M2 i M EITH AR &
BAEGFE  HERBEWEERALE
BRI 2B BBEZ B 2 BTG
M1% @ AT FRZAEBRALREE
B o

54 K CASH CORPORATION LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2023



Directors’ Report & E 2R &

SHARE SCHEME (CONTINUED)

6)

7)

Acceptance of an offer of Awards

Awards shall be open for acceptance for such period (not
exceeding 30 days inclusive of, and from, the grant date) as the
Board may determine and notify to the Eligible Person concerned
provided that no such offer shall be open for acceptance after the
expiry of the duration of the Share Scheme. A grantee may accept
an Award by giving written notice of their acceptance to the
scheme administrator, together with remittance in favour of the
Company of any consideration payable upon grant of the Award.
An Award may be accepted in whole or in part provided that it
must be accepted in respect of a board lot for dealing in Shares or
a multiple thereof. To the extent that an Award or part thereof is
not accepted within the time and in the manner indicated in this
section, the portion not accepted shall be deemed to have been
irrevocably declined and shall automatically lapse.

Issue Price and Exercise Price

For Awards which take the form of Share Awards, the price
per Share a grantee is required to pay for obtaining the Shares
comprising the Share Awards (the “Issue Price”) for the exercise of
such Share Awards shall be such price determined by the scheme
administrator in their absolute discretion and notified to the
grantee in the Award Letter. For the avoidance of doubt, the Board
or the scheme administrator may determine the Issue Price to be at
nil consideration.

For Awards which take the form of Share Options, the price
per Share at which a grantee may subscribe for Shares upon
the exercise of a Share Option awarded under the Scheme (the
“Exercise Price”) shall be such price as determined by the Board or
scheme administrator and notified to a grantee and which shall not
be less than the higher of:

i. the closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange's daily quotations sheet on the date of grant,
which must be a business day; and

ii. the average closing price of the Shares as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the five
business days immediately preceding the date of grant.
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SHARE SCHEME (CONTINUED)

8)

9)

10)

Duration of Share Scheme

The Share Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of ten
years commencing on the Listing Date (i.e. till 4 December 2033),
after which period no further Awards will be granted but the
provisions of the Share Scheme shall remain in full force and effect
to the extent necessary to give effect to the vesting and exercise
of any Awards granted prior thereto which are at that time or
become thereafter capable of exercise under the Share Scheme,
or otherwise to the extent as may be required in accordance with
the provisions of the Share Scheme. As at the date of this annual
report, the remaining life of the Share Scheme is approximately 9
years 7 months.

Time of vesting

The Board or the scheme administrator may in respect of each
Award and subject to all applicable laws, rules and regulations
determine such vesting criteria and conditions or periods for
vesting of the Award in its sole and absolute discretion. The
relevant vesting date of any Award shall be set out in the Award
Letter. The vesting date in respect of any Award shall be not less
than 12 months from the grant date, provided that for Employee
Participants, the vesting date may be less than 12 months from the
grant date (including on the grant date) in certain circumstances
as provided under the Share Scheme. A Share Option may be
exercised in accordance with the terms of the Share Scheme at any
time after the date upon which the Share Option is deemed to be
granted and accepted and prior to the expiry of 10 years from that
date. The period during which a Share Option may be exercised
will be determined by the Board in its absolute discretion, save that
no Share Option may be exercised more than 10 years after it has
been granted.

Payment on grant

The Board or scheme administrator may determine in their absolute
discretion the amount (if any) payable on application or acceptance
of an Award and the period within which any such payments must
be made.
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MATERIAL INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS" AND
CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS IN TRANSACTIONS,
AGREEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed under the section headed “Connected Transactions” of
this annual report, there was no transaction, arrangement or contract of
significance in relation to the Company’s business, to which the Company
or any of the Company'’s subsidiaries was a party, subsisting at the end of
the Year or at any time up to the date of this annual report, and in which
a Director or an entity connected with a Director had, whether directly
or indirectly, a material interest, nor was there any other transaction,
arrangement or contract of significance in relation to the Company’s
business between the Company or any of the Company’s subsidiaries and
a controlling shareholder or any of its subsidiaries.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Material related party transactions of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2023 are detailed in Note 27 to the consolidated financial
statements, and the transactions thereunder are also the connected
transactions/continuing connected transactions under Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules. / None of the related party transactions constitutes
a connected transaction or continuing connected transaction which
was subject to any of the reporting, announcement or independent
Shareholders’ approval requirements in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
The Company has confirmed that it had complied with the disclosure
requirements in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
Continuing connected transactions

The Company entered into the following continuing connected
transactions with the connected persons (as defined in the Listing Rules),
and transactions have been conducted in accordance with the agreed
terms. Details of the continuing connected transactions conducted during
the Reporting Period that are subject to the annual review and annual
reporting requirements are set out as below:

On 24 March 2023, K Cash Express entered into an occupation license
with smartME (the “Occupation License”), pursuant to which K Cash
Express, as the assignee of 17/F, Wheelock House, 20 Pedder Street,
Central (the “17/F Office Premises”), has agreed to grant smartME a
contractual license to use and occupy 50% of the 17/F Office Premises (the
“17/F Office Premises Shared Portion”) from 1 April 2023.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)
Continuing connected transactions (Continued)

Chairman Lee and Mrs. Lee are indirectly interested in 56.8% of
smartME's shares. By virtue of being a majority-controlled company (as
defined in the Listing Rules) of the Lee’s Family, smartME is an associate
of the Lee’s Family and a connected person of the Company, and the
transactions contemplated under the Occupation License constitute
continuing connected transactions of the Company under Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules.

Based on the tenancy agreement entered into between K Cash Express
and the landlord of the 17/F Office Premises, which is an independent
third party, K Cash Express was allowed to share the 17/F Office Premises
Shared Portion with smartME. Having considered that the monthly license
fee payable by smartME under the Occupation License is comparable to
the prevailing market rents of comparable properties in similar locations,
we have granted a contractual license to smartME to use and occupy the
17/F Office Premises Shared Portion. Entering into the Occupation License
is consistent with normal commercial terms and provide us with a stable
income by fully utilizing additional office space leased by K Cash Express.

The annual cap in respect of the transactions contemplated under the
Occupation License for the period from 1 November 2023 to 31 December
2023 was HK$936,000, and the aggregate amount paid/payable by
smartME to the Group under the Occupation License during such period
amounted to HK$904,000.

Annual review of continuing connected transactions

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed and confirmed
the continuing connected transactions set out above are:

1. in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;
2. on normal commercial terms or better; and
3. entered into relevant agreements on terms that are fair and

reasonable and in the interests of the Shareholders as a whole.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

Annual review of continuing connected transactions
(Continued)

The auditor of the Company was engaged to report on our continued
connected transaction in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on
Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) “Assurance Engagements Other
than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and with
reference to Practice Note 740 (Revised) “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing
Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

The auditor of the Company has reviewed these transactions pursuant
to the Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules, and confirmed to the Board of
Directors that nothing has come to their attention that causes them to
believe that the disclosed continuing connected transactions:

a. have not been approved by the Company’s board of directors;

b. were not, in all material respects, in accordance with the pricing
policies of the Group for transactions involving the provision of
goods or services by the Group;

C. were not entered into, in all material respects, in accordance with
the relevant agreements governing such transactions; and

d. have exceeded the annual cap as set by the Company.

The Board acknowledged the receipt of the auditors’ confirmation letter
which confirms the matters as required by Rule 14A.56 of the Listing
Rules.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee had, together with the management and the auditor
of the Company (the “Auditor”), reviewed the accounting principles and
policies adopted by our Group and the consolidated financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2023.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Our Company is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate
governance practices. Information on the corporate governance practices
adopted by our Company is set out in the Corporate Governance Report
on page 111 of this annual report.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to our Company and within
knowledge of the Directors, our Company has maintained a sufficient
public float as required under the Listing Rules since the Listing Date and
up to the date of this annual report.
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ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

We believe our continued growth rests on integrating social values into
our business and are committed to being a responsible corporate citizen.
We are committed to promoting corporate social responsibility and
sustainable development and integrating it into all major aspects of our
business operations. We have implemented an ESG policy, which provides
guidelines to the management of the Group’s environmental, social and
climate-related issues. During the Reporting Period, the Group was in
compliance with all relevant ESG laws and regulations in material aspects.
Further details of the Group’s environmental policies and performance,
please refer to the Environmental, Social and Governance Report section
of this annual report.

AUDITOR

PricewaterhouseCoopers (“PwC") was appointed as the auditor of the
Company for the year ended 31 December 2023. The accompanying
financial statements prepared in accordance with HKFRs have been
audited by PwC.

PwC shall retire at the forthcoming annual general meeting and, being
eligible, will offer themselves for re-appointment. A resolution for the re-
appointment of PwC as the auditor of the Company will be proposed at
the AGM.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Details of important events subsequent to the end of the Reporting Period
and up to the date of this annual report are disclose in note 29 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Save as disclosed above, there is no material event affecting the Group
need to be reported to the Shareholders that has occurred after the end
of the Reporting Period.

By Order of the Board

Lee Sheung Shing

Chairman and Non-executive Director
Hong Kong, 25 April 2024
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

BRI - MEREQRE

ABOUT THIS REPORT

Reporting objectives

K Cash Corporation Limited (“the Company” or “we") hereby presents
our first Environmental, Social and Governance (ESG) Report (the
“Report”), which aims to disclose the strategies, practices, and vision of
the Company in terms of ESG issues, and to convey our commitment to
sustainable development.

We recognize that ESG issues can affect our value and financial
performance, which in turn influence the assessment and decisions of
stakeholders. Through incorporating ESG principles into its business
operations and decision-making processes, the Company is committed to
operating in a manner that enhances positive contributions to the society
and the environment to sustain long-term growth, achieve the Company’s
goals and strategies and meet the expectations of the stakeholders.

Reporting scope and boundary

Unless otherwise specified, the scope of the Report covers our operations
and offices located in Hong Kong, which is the same as the coverage of
the annual report. The Reporting Period for the Report is from January 1,
2023, to December 31, 2023 (the “Reporting Period"), which is consistent
with the fiscal year covered by our 2023 annual report.

Reporting standard and principles

The Report is prepared in accordance with the Environmental, Social
and Governance Reporting Guide (the “ESG Reporting Guide”) as set
out in Appendix C2 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the
“Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) and complies with the disclosure requirement of “Comply or
Explain” as well as the principles of materiality, quantitative, balance and
consistency.
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ABOUT THIS REPORT (CONTINUED) BNAIRE ()
Reporting standard and principles (Continued) EHRFERFRA (E)

Reporting principles Description

BE 3R R A P

Materiality The Report has pinpointed and prioritized environmental, social, and governance
concerns that matter to both stakeholders and the Company by engaging with
stakeholders and ranking material issues.

B2 FBRERNERR  ARSELOYEXRRUFNHERARFARKEENRE 18
NERHE  WHEBERBETHF -

Quantitative Key Performance Indicators (“KPIs”) have been established, which are measurable
and suitable for effective comparison under appropriate conditions. The data for the
standards, methodologies, assumptions, and/or calculation tools used, as well as the
sources of the conversion factors employed, have been disclosed where applicable.

Bt BREMER([BAREMIERDEWEY - ZSHEEEBAAE  URNEEBRTES R
EBRCEL - FTARE - 7% - BRER/ R ETAMEIEARTRER ZERE
TR (EA) -

Balance The Report presents an unbiased account of the Company’s performance during the
Reporting Period, to avoid any selection, omission, or manner of reporting that might
lead readers to make inappropriate decisions or judgments.

i RBERESHRARTNMERANKIR - LB REMAIREEBEEE (EH TR EREK
Sk FIETEERE - BRI ESR -

Consistency Consistent methodologies will be adopted to allow for a fair comparison over time.
Where there are changes or any other relevant factors which may affect meaningful,
they will be described in the corresponding sections.

—H% M E R — B AR B EHAELLER - BRI REEEASRTZENNE
e EMBREE - SR EREEE EEL A -
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SUSTAINABILITY APPROACHES
Statement of the board

The Board of Directors (the “Board”) considers the sustainable
development of the Company to be of paramount importance and
takes on the responsibility of reviewing material ESG issues related to
the Company. The Board is tasked with overseeing and evaluating the
Company'’s overall ESG management and execution, as well as shouldering
the overall responsibility for the Company’s ESG strategy and its reporting.
A board meeting will be held at least annually to discuss and review ESG
issues. The Policy will be reviewed, and the performance will be monitored
annually by the Board in the board meeting on an ongoing basis.

Acknowledging the value of stakeholders’ insights and opinions, the
Company ensures that effective communication channels are maintained
with key stakeholders. This facilitates discussions on our principal ESG issues
and potential ESG risks and promotes the continuous refinement of ESG-
related strategies and policy frameworks. For more detail, please refer to
the Materiality Assessment section.

The Company has developed an ESG targets management structure that
addresses metrics such as electricity consumption and paper consumption.
The progress towards these goals is reviewed annually by the Board, which
also considers any necessary adjustments or enhancements to ensure
ongoing advancement in ESG objectives. For further information, please
refer to the Green Development and Environment Protection section.

This report provides a detailed account of the environmental, social, and
governance issues, which have been scrutinized and approved by the
Board on 2024.
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SUSTAINABILITY APPROACHES (CONTINUED)
ESG management process

The Board and senior management of the Company are primarily
responsible for ensuring that the consideration of ESG issues is integrated
into the operations as well as embedding ESG principles into the
Company’s overall business strategies through education, control, and
supervision procedures.

Key department or division within the Company is responsible for
identifying its own ESG issues including ESG risks and designing,
implementing its own and monitoring the compliance of such relevant
ESG policy as well as business continuity plans for ESG-related crisis.
For example, the Administration Department should prioritize initiatives
to conserve water, reduce paper usage, and save electricity. The
Legal Department and the Compliance Department concentrates on
governance issues, ensuring that regulatory requirements are met and
ethical standards are upheld. Similarly, the Human Capital Department
emphasizes the social component of ESG, such as employee well-being,
diversity and inclusion, and labor practices. Meanwhile, the FinTech
Department is particularly vigilant about cybersecurity, protecting the
integrity and privacy of financial transactions and customer data. If any
ESG issues are identified, such Department Head shall report to the Board
for completion of the internal records as early as practicable. If any ESG
issues are identified, such Department Head shall report to the Board for
completion of the internal records as early as practicable.
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Each key department’s engagement in these specialized ESG areas should
not only reflect their unique operational roles but also contribute to the
Company'’s broader commitment to sustainable and responsible business
practices.

Board and Senior Management
ESENGREERE

Ensure ESG considerations are mtggrated into comfany operations.
BRARANERSEBRERER  HERE
Embed ESG r|nC|p\es into the overall busmess strategy.

HERE - i REARBIMA BRI R
Oversee tralmng control and superV|5|on related to ESG.
ERAMER  HEREANE - BER

The Board maintains internal records based on reported ESG issues.

EFRRBHRENRR B REARATENCE

Key Department Head
TEHIEE
N
Report identified ESG issues to the Board,
MEERRECHAFNORE  AEREAHE -
Eort to the Board as earg asBract|cab|e at least monthly
BTN VER (205H) RNESEHS
J/
Key Department or Division
RTINS B
N

Idemlfy specmc ESG issues and risks.
BRFERS g REABBARER

De5|gn and implement departmenti_feqﬂc ESG pohues
RET R E WA PVRE RIRR EAD

Monitor comfhance with ESG policies.
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Create business commu\ty glans for ESG-related crises.
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A
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SUSTAINABILITY APPROACHES (CONTINUED)

Stakeholder engagement

Recognizing stakeholders as pivotal to our success and long-term
sustainability, we are committed to maintaining transparent and consistent
communication, along with regular engagement with these key parties.
By actively engaging with our major stakeholders, the Company has been
able to gather valuable feedback on its performance. The engagement
is not merely about meeting stakeholder expectations but is aimed at
exceeding them, particularly in areas related to governance, management,
and sustainability. It also enables the Company to responsively adapt
to evolving expectations and concerns, ensuring that governance and
sustainability practices remain robust and relevant.

The major ESG concerns of its stakeholders and the means through which
the Company engages with such stakeholders are detailed below:

Stakeholders

K&

Government and regulatory
authorities

BF R EEHE

Shareholders/investors

R REE

Employees

7l
pi

Areas of ESG Concern
RIE - R ERBEEHE

e Llaw and regulation
e Compliance

e Employee protection
e Business Ethics

o JEDINFRBI

o AR

o EERE

s HEBIE

e Business strategies and
performances

e Effective corporate governance

¢ Information transparency

e Investment returns

o FIEHEEMKRER

o BAMEEEAR

o EFEMN

o KREM®

e Remuneration and welfare
e Training and development
e Occupational health and safety

o HrBHEEF
o EFIRER
o BiXEFHEZE
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Means of Engagement

BEB5%

e Enquiries and clarifications
e Correspondence

e Office inspection

e Compliance reporting

. SHRE

o EAAR

o KAEMAE

o BRWME

e General meetings and
investors briefings

e Financial reports and
announcements

e Company’s website

o RERARGKREEBRE

o MBmELAE

LIV F b

e General meetings

e Employee surveys

e Orientation

e Training and workshops

o BEAE
» REWE
o ABIEFI

o EIIRTIIEY
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SUSTAINABILITY APPROACHES (CONTINUED) AFERREHE (&)
Stakeholder engagement (Continued) BHESHE(E)

Stakeholders Areas of ESG Concern Means of Engagement
& BIR - MERERETEE BEgAE
Media and Public e Corporate Governance e Announcements

e Environmental protection e Company websites

e Uphold human rights standards e Press conference
BERARAL o BEREAR s &

o IRGIRE o RNEIMEL

RSN 3 o HE#TME
Peer/Industry associations e Industry development e Regular meetings and

correspondence

DEVERES -4 o TTEBIRE o FHEEIBAER
Customers e Business Procedure e “K Cash” mobile App

e Information security e Customer Service hotline

e Product and service quality e Social media platform

assurance e Company websites
e Customer surveys

S o EH/MBF e [KCash|FH#ERERX

o BRMRZ o BEERBER

o EmERBEERRE o HMRHEBFE

N
- EFEE
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SUSTAINABILITY APPROACHES (CONTINUED)
Materiality assessment

The process of recognizing and prioritizing the expectations and needs
of stakeholders is essential to the formulation of our ESG strategy. This is
because it significantly aids in identifying and prioritizing both existing and
potential risks and opportunities throughout our business operations and
within the communities we serve. By pinpointing the material topics, the
Company can set clear directions for its sustainability journey.

During the Reporting Period, a thorough materiality assessment was
carried out which was designed to identify the issues that have a
significant impact on our business operations and our stakeholders.
The outcomes of this materiality assessment are vital as they guide the
Company in determining which ESG areas require focused attention and
resources and shape the strategic actions and initiatives that the Company
undertakes in its commitment to sustainable development.

The materiality assessment process is as follow:

® Identification

A list of potential issues is compiled based on:

e Company's on-going and previous stakeholder engagement

e Corporate strategy as well as risk priorities

e With reference to established material topics in the relevant and global
guidelines

@ Prioritization and stakeholder engagement

The process is conducted by:

e Both regular engagement as well as the special annual engagement

e Identify key stakeholder groups

e Determine the materiality with the help of materiality matrix, focus
group discussions, online survey, interviews, and importance to the
corporation under its enterprise risk management system.

® Validation

Validation is conducted by senior management’s endorsement under the
board’s review and supervision (e.g. by reviewed and confirmed findings
of stakeholder engagement.)
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SUSTAINABILITY APPROACHES (CONTINUED)

The following chart shows the materiality matrix of the Company’s
sustainability issues. We will further disclose its management approaches
on these issues in the subsequent sections of this Report.

AR R & ()
TERRAAATHARRABNESILE
B o BN AR R E e — S REH
ERSHB LT -

Environment &%

1. Greenhouse Gases and Exhaust
Emissions Management
BERBRERMREE

5. Employee Equality, Diversity,
and Inclusiveness
RBETSE  ZR/LRHR

2. Energy & Resources Management 6. Development and Training
BER N EIREE R
- 3. Waste Management 7. Health and Safety
S (14) (11]18) EENEE RERE2
T ﬁ G 4. Response to Climate Change 8. Compensations and Benefits
8l RS RIRE(E i etz T
2 9. Prevention of child labor and
ﬁ @ forced labor
HIFET REHISE)
#*
K
“
g § Q 10. Customer Service 15. Community Investment
3 i ' k7% ALERS
= ﬂ o 11. Privacy Protection
3 o FLERRE
3
o 12. Supply Chain Management
Lg g E e
2 13. Intellectual Property Management
% HHEEEE
S 14. Cybersecurity
s = WL
o @ =
-

Governance &34

16. ESG Governance Structure
B B REARBEE

17. Business Ethics and Anti-
Corruption
[EES IS -vel

18. Risk Management
RRER

Materiality to stakeholders $#$3 HEHNEE M4

Low Medium High
& o
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COMPLIANCE AND HIGH STANDARD GOVERNANCE

As a conscientious provider of consumer finance and loan services, we
dedicate ourselves to upholding a high level of corporate governance.
Commitment to operating with accountability and integrity is at the core
of our business ethos. To this end, the Company vigilantly ensures that
its operations are in strict compliance to all relevant legal and regulatory
standards. This includes, but is not limited to, stringent compliance with
anti-bribery and corruption laws, anti-money laundering (AML) and
counter-terrorist financing (CTF) regulations, as well as responsible supply
chain management.

The Company is committed to conducting all its businesses with integrity
and fairness. The employees are expected to maintain the highest
standards of professionalism in all their dealings with others; seek
mutually beneficial relationships with contractors and suppliers. They are
also required to promote the application of the “Code of Conduct” in all
dealings and to give preference in business dealings to those who adhere
to similar business ethics.

Whistleblowing

The Company is committed to maintaining a workplace free of corruption
and any form of unethical behaviour. To facilitate this, a “Whistleblowing
Policy” along with related procedures have been established. These
measures are designed to empower employees to report any suspected
instances of misconduct, malpractice, or irregularities without fear of
retaliation. The areas covered by this policy include but are not limited to:

Violations of employee handbook.

o Improprieties in financial reporting and/or internal controls.

o Criminal offences or breaches of other legal or regulatory
requirements.

. Breaches of contract.

o Misconduct, malpractice, negligence or unethical behaviour.
° Misappropriation of company property.

o Putting people’s health and safety at risk.

o Deliberate concealment of any of the above.
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COMPLIANCE AND HIGH STANDARD GOVERNANCE
(CONTINUED)
Whistleblowing (Continued)

The Company is committed to the fair treatment of all persons making
genuine and appropriate reports under the “Whistleblowing Policy”,
including the protection of the whistleblower against unfair dismissal,
victimization, or unwarranted disciplinary action. Reasonable steps will
be taken by the Company to protect the whistleblower from reprisal or
disadvantage as a result of making a report. All information received will
be treated with confidence, except where the Company is required by
law or regulation to disclose it, for legal or audit purposes or where the
Company refers the matter to relevant regulators or law enforcement
authorities. The Company will make every effort to keep the identity of the
whistleblower confidential. However, there may be circumstances where,
due to the nature of the investigation, it will be necessary to disclose the
whistleblower’s identity.

The employees, officers or directors who are found to have breached
the “Code of Conduct” will be subject to disciplinary action, which may
include termination of employment. In cases of suspected corruption or
other criminal offences, a report should be made to the Independent
Commission Against Corruption or the appropriate authorities, as
considered appropriate.

During the Reporting Period, there is no submission from whistleblower.
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COMPLIANCE AND HIGH STANDARD GOVERNANCE
(CONTINUED)

Anti-money laundering and counter-terrorist financing

The Company is keenly aware of its obligations under the regulations
overseen by the Registrar of Money Lenders and is fully compliant with all
relevant laws and regulations. To ensure this compliance, the Company
has developed “Anti-Money Laundering and Counter-Terrorist Financing
Policy” which are reviewed at least on an annual basis. It defines roles
and responsibilities for each department and provides guidance on the
practical implications of the relevant legislations in Hong Kong, including
the below main pieces of legislation that are concerned with money
laundering, terrorist financing and financing of proliferation of weapons
of mass destruction:

. The Anti-Money Laundering and Counter-Terrorist Financing
Ordinance, Cap.615 (“AMLO");

o The Drug Trafficking (Recovery of Proceeds) Ordinance, Cap. 405
("DTROPO™);

° The Organized and Serious Crimes Ordinance, Cap.455 (“OSCO");

° The United Nations (Anti-Terrorism Measures) Ordinance, Cap.575
("UNATMO");

o United Nations Sanctions Ordinance, Cap. 537 (“UNSQO"); and

° Weapons of Mass Destruction (Control of Provision of Services)

Ordinance, Cap. 526 (“WMD(CPS)O")

A risk-based approach is fundamental to the architecture of an effective
anti-money laundering and counter-terrorist financing framework within
the Company. To this end, we have developed procedures and controls in
our daily operations on:

o Risk Assessment

o Customer Due Diligence

o Ongoing Monitoring of Customers
o Suspicious Transactions Reporting

o Record Keeping

o Employee Training and Education
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COMPLIANCE AND HIGH STANDARD GOVERNANCE
(CONTINUED)

Anti-money laundering and counter-terrorist financing
(Continued)

A clear and comprehensive mechanism has been put in place to detect
and report on the matters relating to money laundering and terrorist
financing. All employees are required to report when coming across any
suspicious transactions and the Director of Legal Department is designated
as the Money Laundering Reporting Officer. Independent checks and
evaluations are carried out by the Compliance Department regularly to
ensure that the Company’s approaches and procedures continue to be
appropriate and adequate.

During the Reporting Period, the Company is not aware of any breach
of laws or regulations concerning anti-money laundering and counter-
terrorist financing.

Customer protection against identity fraud

As a pioneer among licensed money lenders in Hong Kong, our company
has set a benchmark by deploying Virtual Teller Machines (VTMs) to
revolutionize the customer service experience. VTMs represent an
amalgamation of convenience and personal touch, providing customers
with an interactive video banking platform that connects them face-to-
face with remote tellers via live video feeds. This technology allows for
real-time, personalized assistance for a variety of services including account
inquiries, loan applications, and document submissions, all without the
need for customers to visit a physical branch.

The Company has embraced cutting-edge biometric technologies to
enhance the security and efficiency of our VTMs. By integrating facial
recognition technology, we enable real-time verification where an
individual’s facial features are matched against the image on their Hong
Kong identity card. This advanced method of authentication not only
complements the traditional Hong Kong identity card verification process
but also adds an additional layer of security.
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COMPLIANCE AND HIGH STANDARD GOVERNANCE
(CONTINUED)

Customer protection against identity fraud (Continued)

To further bolster our security measures and ensure the physical presence
of individuals at the VTM, we have incorporated finger vein biometrics.
This innovative approach captures the unique vein patterns beneath the
skin’s surface of an individual’s finger. It provides a more reliable form
of authentication compared to traditional fingerprint recognition due to
its precision and significantly reduced rates of false rejections and false
acceptances. Our VTMs include a document scanner that conveniently
accepts submissions such as proof of address, ensuring all loan application
requirements can be met at a single point of service. These technologies
collectively reduce the likelihood of fraudulent activities, safeguarding both
our customers and our financial operations with state-of-the-art security
measures.

As a pivotal element of our lending framework, in terms of verification and
authentication, our K Cash App embodies stringent security measures to
against identity fraud. The app employs stringent measures including Hong
Kong identity card verification and facial recognition login technology, to
ensure a secure and efficient digital onboarding experience. To uphold
the integrity of our lending system and maintain strict control over credit
limits, we utilize cutting-edge blockchain technology. This innovative
approach helps prevent the issuance of multiple loans to a single borrower
that would exceed their credit limit as determined by our assessment.

During the Reporting Period, there is 1 report case on identity fraud and
we have reported to police for investigation immediately.

op
et
=)
of

BRREKFER (&)

REFEFRE S HREE(E)

— IR R L e MR B A B REE
BESH - HPRBIEFREDBER LA
JERBRMEA TR ERE N E— 8 HRF
IRARAE - ANEAB BRI - TRREXIREEIE
BER L REE - ERESESGEREL - 2B
FRAIENFNREN N o WP EFHEB#R
BXfrimies - MERMA FREFER - i
RAE—(EIERABEERRREL - ZF
BT RBRERGEE RS AT BENE - PARIEHER
ZEHEBRETEF RN SRES -

KCashApp{’EF%ff IERHE R - PR E KR
78 7 ESRENEBAR MY R 2 FE DRI & I BRRF © 3%
ﬁﬁﬁ&ﬁ%ﬁﬁfﬁﬁ’ﬁaﬁm BREBEHNER
)SU\E”A#)%E%P‘)\%UTI PARE IR 22 2 = RUEO BX
B - SERERRGTE LEBEGIEE
%ﬁE BPERASCE R R R - thBIFT
ERBIERE—ERABRZEER - A
HEBLTEEENEERE -

RBEHRR - BEIRGOHEFREEZE - M
BT BERNAE S HEETHE -

K CASH REBERAT 2023F

73

ANNNN\N



Environmental, Social and Governance Report Izi% « (& K&

COMPLIANCE AND HIGH STANDARD GOVERNANCE
(CONTINUED)

Anti-corruption and bribery

The Company has zero-tolerance for any form of deception, bribery,
breach of trust or abuse of power. We believe that conducting business
with integrity is critical to continuing to develop the Company as a
successful, sustainable, and responsible business entity. Corruption hinders
economic, social and political development and progress.

The Company’s “Anti-corruption and Compliance Guidelines” states that
all employees should comply with the anti-bribery laws to which they
are subject, it also prohibits employees soliciting any advantage from
customers, suppliers or any other persons. The “Code of Conduct” sets
out the standards of behaviour expected from the Company and the anti-
bribery compliance procedures adopted by the Company. In addition, all
employees should sign an annual declaration on their compliance with the
"Code of Conduct” and attend anti-bribery training organized by Human
Capital Department at least once every two years (except that those who
need to handle cash or are involved in the decision-making process of any
business transactions should attend such training on an annual basis).

During the Reporting Period, we are not aware of any non-compliance
of laws and regulations concerning anti-bribery and corruption by the
Company and its employees.
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BUSINESS AND CUSTOMERS COMMITMENT

The Company is dedicated to delivering an outstanding customer
experience and upholding a consistently high level of service. Elevating
customer satisfaction is our foremost objective in maintaining the quality
of our professional services. We are steadfast in keeping our commitments
to customers with integrity and providing high-quality services at fair
prices. The emphasis on customer satisfaction, coupled with trustworthy
and equitable service, serves as the cornerstone of our success and
continued growth.

Data privacy policy on customer data
Laws and regulations

The Company values data as an enterprise asset, protecting customer data
confidentiality is fundamental in upholding our corporate reputation and
ensuring our long-term business success. The Company strictly complies
with the relevant laws and regulations including Personal Data (Privacy)
Ordinance (PDPO) and have adequate “Data Privacy Policy” in place for
the protection of personal data throughout the operations, the following
six Data Protection Principles (DPPs) of the existing legislation apply to the
entire Company:

o DPP1 — Purpose and manner of collection of personal data

o DPP2 — Accuracy and duration of retention of personal data

o DPP3 — Use of personal data including the requirements for
consent

o DPP4 — Security of personal data

o DPP5 — Information to be generally available

DPP6 — Access to personal data

To ensure that the personal data and privacy of our customers are well
protected, all departments of the Company are also guided and governed
by internal “Data Privacy Policy”, which set out instructions to stipulate
employees from protecting customers’ privacy on storage and access of
customers’ personal information, etc.
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BUSINESS AND CUSTOMERS COMMITMENT
(CONTINUED)

Data privacy policy on customer data (Continued)
Training and education

It is important for all employees to have an appropriate level of skills,
knowledge and understanding to the data lifecycle. As such, the following
policy is in place within the Company:

o Personal data protection training and education to be given to new
employees in the induction programme.

o Personal data protection training should be conducted annually
and be attended by all staff.

o The personal data protection training should cover the policies and
procedures established in the Company.

o Relevant materials are widely available in the internal website
and be circulated to relevant employees as soon as practical if an
urgent need arises.

Specific policy on CCTV surveillance

CCTV is installed in all K-Cash ATM machine branches and in-house
premises for security reason. Despite the use, we also recognise the
potential intrusive nature of CCTV and commits to safeguard our
customers and employee’s personal data, we conduct thorough
assessments before installing CCTV to ensure minimal privacy intrusion
and proportionality to security needs. Cameras are not placed in private
areas, and clear signage about surveillance is displayed. Third-party
contractors manage CCTV with strict data retention limits. Recorded
footage is securely stored and access is restricted to authorized personnel,
with robust oversight including internal audits to ensure compliance with
privacy and security policies.
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BUSINESS AND CUSTOMERS COMMITMENT
(CONTINUED)

Data privacy policy on customer data (Continued)

Specific policy on biometrics

To provide better customer services and improve operational efficiency,
biometrics has been introduced in the business and is expected to gain
wider usage in the future. Recognising the sensitive nature of biometrics

due to its unchanging characteristics, we follow stringent compliance with
DPPs and provisions of the PDPO.

o Storage: Biometric data is converted into templates before storage
and no identifiable biometric data is kept. All stored data is
encrypted to prevent unauthorized or accidental access.

o Data Transmission: Any transfer of data is securely encrypted to
avoid leakage. Even after biometric comparisons, the resulting
decisions are protected during transmission, despite not containing
biometric data.

o System Access: Only specific, authorized personnel have access to
the biometric system and data, with stringent controls on use and
data export.

o Segregation of Biometric Information: Biometric data is stored
separately from other personal information, either physically (on
different storage media) or logically (using security software to
restrict access).

EHREFE®(E)

FREFEBENEBIBER(E)
BREMBANABEE
RERHEENT P R R EERE - M
EEBHSIALYHER - WIEMERKEEZ
HoFE BT o R AEYERI MBS B A U
B HARRETREEH R E(EAER
(AL IRBIIRTE -

. - EVER BRI eERs
A - TERE B EYERI
i o FTBREFEEEEBINE - AP LE
REEAESIEIMFE °

. BB - TUBBREHIEBEREM
Z AR IR TR o BMER LY BRI E8IE
TEHEPRERL T B LR #E - B
HENE&HBREPIDIIRE -

. RHER EEREOREALTER
HEERI R R - WA R
TR B o

. EVREBER D FRET - EYERIEUE
NE B A (RERTRMFHFRE) %
BT (ERRZEIFRFIFE) EE
e EAER D FFHF o

K CASH REBERAT 2023F

77

ANNNN\N



Environmental, Social and Governance Report (835 1+ & M E)ARE

BUSINESS AND CUSTOMERS COMMITMENT
(CONTINUED)

Business and products

The Company’s loan product portfolio is meticulously designed to
cater to subprime borrowers who may encounter financial difficulties,
urgent monetary needs, or unforeseen costs. By leveraging advanced
technologies, we offer unsecured credit including loan application, credit
assessment, drawdown and loan repayment. The Company has three
distinct offerings: Unsecured Property Owner Loans, Personal Loans and
SME Loans.

The Company implements a comprehensive credit risk management
approach to monitor credit risk throughout the entire loan cycle. Our
business operations have also integrated various technologies to realize
digitalization and automation in all aspects of the loan process, including
loan application, credit review and approval, drawdown, and post-
drawdown. The financial technologies adopted include blockchain
technology, cloud computing, big data analytics, machine learning
technology, and business process automation technology, which have
been implemented at various stages of our business process. On the front
end, we utilize various technology tools to automate and digitize the
credit cycle from loan application to repayment, continuously enhancing
the user experience. At the same time, on the back end, we make use
of established technologies such as artificial intelligence, blockchain, and
business process automation technology to automate and streamline
our risk management systems and business processes. Our K Cash GO
Platform is built on a hybrid cloud environment that supports all these
technologies, enabling us to achieve optimal operational efficiency.

Due to the business nature of the Company, our products and services
principally involve personal loan and related financial services. Product
recalls due to health and safety reasons, product quality assurance process
and recalls are not applicable to our business and the nature of our
products provided, therefore no disclosure will be made.
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BUSINESS AND CUSTOMERS COMMITMENT
(CONTINUED)

Customer experience and financial inclusion
Enhancing Accessibility, Usability, and Quality
Accessibility

o We are committed to supporting the financial needs of both
individuals and business entities that may not have access to
traditional banking services. Our goal is to facilitate the liquidity
and cash flow requirements of our customers through our services.

Usability

o Access to credit stands as a pivotal factor in nurturing the vitality and
expansion of small businesses. It is essential for both immediate
operational needs and sustained long-term development, including
capital expenditures and growth initiatives.

o Understanding the unique challenges faced by these enterprises in
securing financing, we have innovated our credit scoring system
based on TU data.

o Our objective is to derive a more nuanced and precise view of
creditworthiness that transcends traditional measures. By doing so,
we aim to broaden financial inclusivity, offering opportunities to a
wider array of businesses.

Quality

o Our organization is dedicated to fostering a culture that cherishes
each member of our community — from our employees to our
customers and partners. We are committed to cultivating an
environment where everyone feels a deep sense of belonging,
ensuring that our interactions resonate meaningfully with all
stakeholders.

o We hold ourselves to the highest ethical standards in all our
operations, recognizing the importance of the public’s trust.
Our dedication to integrity is unwavering as we endeavor to
offer products and services characterized by their value, clarity
and dependability. This commitment is in strict alignment with
our "Treating Customers Fairly” principles, ensuring that we
consistently act in the best interest of those we serve.”
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BUSINESS AND CUSTOMERS COMMITMENT
(CONTINUED)

Customer experience and financial inclusion (Continued)
K Cash GO Platform and Customer Data Platform

The Company has harnessed a range of technologies to modernize
and optimize both customer-facing and internal processes. Front-end
tools have been implemented to digitize the entire credit cycle, from
application to repayment, enhancing the user experience. In parallel, back-
end systems employ advanced technologies such as Al, blockchain, and
business process automation to refine risk management and business
workflows. The integration of these technologies is supported by the
hybrid cloud-based K Cash GO Platform, which underpins the Company’s
drive for operational excellence.

By embedding technology into the lending process, the Company
distinguishes itself from traditional money lenders, achieving a more
efficient digital and automated system. This technological edge allows
for a more thorough credit assessment, heightened efficiency, precise
risk management, and control, coupled with reduced overhead and
operational costs.

As a new operating model aiming to provide choices for the provision of
consumer credit reference service to credit providers, “Credit Data Smart”,
formerly known as “MCRA Platform”, facilitates the transmission of
consumer credit information in encrypted form between credit providers
and credit rating agencies. In 2023, we have also connected our K Cash
GO Platform to the Credit Data Smart, by the connection, our K Cash GO
Platform can reduce human capital required to perform repetitive tasks,
shorten customer’s application time and reduce the chance of human
error during the data entry process since customer credit report will be
downloaded through the API and information in the report will be directly
extracted and imported into our platform. By removing the need for
manual processing, we significantly enhance the efficiency and accuracy
of our back-end work.
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BUSINESS AND CUSTOMERS COMMITMENT

(CONTINUED)

Customer experience and financial inclusion (Continued)
K Cash GO Platform and Customer Data Platform (Continued)

The Company continues to improve the K Cash GO Platform to bring

better clients’ experience and financial inclusion to the market.
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BUSINESS AND CUSTOMERS COMMITMENT
(CONTINUED)

Customer experience and financial inclusion (Continued)
K Cash GO Platform and Customer Data Platform (Continued)

Notes:

10.

11.

K CASH CORPORATION LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2023

Our blockchain technology ensures the veracity of loan application data by
storing records on a blockchain platform, enabling staff to detect and prevent
duplicate loan applications and avoid issuing multiple loans to the same
borrower.

Our customer-facing employees carry name cards with unique QR codes, which
customers can scan to confirm the employee’s identity and guard against
impersonation, with verification details displayed on the customer’s mobile
device.

Upon online loan contract completion, a unique hash value (i.e., a cryptographic
representation of the file) is recorded on the blockchain for authentic
verification, securely stored in our database for future verification purposes.

We utilize an eKYC solution to remotely authenticate Hong Kong ID cards and
verify customer identities, enhancing our anti-forgery measures.

We leverage various automation technologies to transform labor-intensive
manual tasks into efficient automated processes, thereby boosting internal
productivity and expediting our credit assessment procedures.

We input diverse metrics from our loan portfolio into our Credit Modelling
System to aid the machine learning’s iterative credit assessment process, aiming
to refine our model for predictable and benchmarked performance outcomes.

The tool we utilize forecasts digital market and sales data for future loan
portfolios, aiding resource allocation in marketing and sales strategy decisions.

This is employed to monitor the performance of our SME loan borrowers,
presenting their business and financial data in a structured format for effective
tracking and analysis.

We have developed an in-house business rules alert engine that notifies us of
various potential risk events associated with our loans, enabling swift decision-
making and risk mitigation actions.

We have incorporated facial recognition technology into our app and Video
Teller Machines (VTMs) as part of our eKYC process, allowing us to confirm
identities in photos, videos, or in real-time.

We employ a biometric authentication method that analyses blood vessel
patterns, integrated into our VTMs, ensuring that the individual withdrawing
funds is indeed the authorized borrower.
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BUSINESS AND CUSTOMERS COMMITMENT
(CONTINUED)

Customer experience and financial inclusion (Continued)
K Cash GO Platform and Customer Data Platform (Continued)

Additionally, we rolled out our Customer Data Platform (CDP) in late 2023
and we are expected to gain insight on customer behaviour and optimize
our customer acquisition efforts once we start applying CDP to various
scenarios.

Source of Customer Data % 5 B8 3R Customer Data Platform
DN

J:I. Website
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Mobile
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Apps
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Existing customer profile
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Buy now, Pay Later

Buy now, Pay Later (BNPL) is a type of short-term financing that allows
consumers to make purchases and pay for them at a future date, often
interest-free. It is a type of unsecured personal loan, which means the loan
does not require any type of collateral.

In December 2023, we soft-launched PayKool, our BNPL platform.
Customers can apply for the PayKool credit card, which offers customized
BNPL services. This card enables customers to take advantage of flexible,
interest-free installment plans for purchases made with PayKool's
designated merchants and business partners. We are committed to the
ongoing development of additional functions and features for the PayKool
platform to provide distinctive advantages to its cardholders.

Synthesize r

I « Big data analytics
CAS H = « Personalize user experience
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Function and Application of CDP
EFBETENIIERER

¢ Collect, clean and structure data
* Construct and build up

comprehensive customer profile
¢ Precision marketing
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BUSINESS AND CUSTOMERS COMMITMENT
(CONTINUED)

Quality services and complaint handling

We are committed to provide products and services with accountability
and high transparency to our customers. Internal guidelines including
Complaints Handling Policy and standard approval procedures are
developed to provide ensure our customer service representatives
communicate properly with customers for the most appropriate solution.

In 2023, we are honored to receive the “Outstanding Digital Lending
Solution” awarded by ET Net FinTech Awards 2023. The Awards aims
to commend the outstanding achievements of Hong Kong’s financial
technology community which shows the market and industry’s recognition
of the Company’s FinTech development achievements.

|| FINTECH AWARDS 2023

BHEFERERMASE
DITA RONG:

The Creative Intelligence Department (Complaint Handling Division) is
tasked with acknowledging any complaints received in writing within
7 days. The department receives the complaint must provide the
complainant with either a final response or an explanation for the delay
within 30 days directly or through a senior management appointed
delegate, including any additional information or documents needed to
resolve the issue.

Complex complaints, significant trends, systemic problems, and underlying
causes of complaints are to be escalated immediately to the relevant
business head. Extremely serious complaints need to be brought to the
attention of the Chief Executive Officer (CEO) or Chief Operation Officer
(COO0). The Complaint Handling Division is also responsible for consulting
with the Compliance Department and Legal Department for advice on
complaints that may involve compliance issues, allegations of bad faith,
fraud, legal breaches by an employee, systemic issues with compliance
implications, breaches of regulatory requirements, or when external
regulators are involved.
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BUSINESS AND CUSTOMERS COMMITMENT
(CONTINUED)

Quality services and complaint handling (Continued)

During the Reporting Period, the Company conducts a customer
satisfaction survey, the Company attained a 99% satisfaction rate among
the survey respondents.

During the Reporting Period, the number of complaints received is 2, all
complaints was resolved satisfactorily.

Intellectual property protection

Intellectual property (IP) is a crucial asset for the Company, underpinning
its competitive edge, funding future ventures, and supporting
employment. We rely on various types of intellectual property (such as
trademarks, trade secrets, domain names) for our success in the market. IP
helps us stay competitive, allows us to fund future successes, and supports
each of our jobs at the Company. The Company’s IP Policy envisages
protection and management of its own IP well, internally and with its
business partners. We also want to respect the IP of others as we develop
our products and services, run our business, and work with business
partners.

The Company’s strategy for protecting and managing its intellectual
property involves a cross-functional compliance team, which is supervised
by the Director of Legal Department. This team has the authority to
consult with or hire advocates and experts both from within and outside
the Company to provide advice and assist in fulfilling the responsibilities
outlined in the IP Policy.

We are also committed to ensuring that all relevant personnel receive
continuous and appropriate training on IP protection and management.
Specialized training is provided to those directly responsible for developing
and implementing the Company’s IP protection, management, and
compliance program. Additionally, the Company extends suitable training
on IP protection and management to relevant members of the supply
chain.

To ensure the protection of our source code and maintain the security of
our proprietary technology, we have implemented strict access controls.
Only authorized personnel are granted access to our source code
repositories. This access is based on roles and responsibilities, ensuring
that individuals only have the necessary permissions for their specific job
functions.

As of the Report, we have 4 domain names (“kcash.hk” “kcash.com.hk”
"kcashsme.hk” “paykool.hk”) and 5 registered trademarks in Hong Kong
which we believe are material to our business.
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BUSINESS AND CUSTOMERS COMMITMENT
(CONTINUED)

Supply chain management

Suppliers and business partners are essential to the Company’s operations,
allowing for the delivery of high-quality products and services to
customers. Consequently, effective supply chain management is crucial in
protecting the Company’s brand and business continuity.

The Company has set procurement principles that require employees to
engage in practices that promote transparency and fairness. Policies are
developed to determine when competitive tendering is necessary based on
the purchase size, and suppliers are chosen through a fair and impartial
process. When competitive tendering isn't used, documentation is being
kept to justify the decision. Regular re-tendering is expected to ensure
ongoing competitiveness, while monitoring systems are in place to oversee
contract fulfilment and prevent fraud. Suppliers are also expected to
confirm annually that no undue personal benefits have occurred from the
arrangement and that legal requirements are met. For minor works and
property maintenance, the Company’s tendering procedures are followed,
and any deviations require approval from top management. During the
Reporting Period, no competitive tenders were conducted based on the
pre-set criteria.

Especially for the Fintech Department, our “Information Security
Policy”(ISP) regulates that every new supplier is expected to provide
their name, address, contact information. The Company also conducts
supplier evaluation process which include evaluating the price range
and the quality of the good or services according to its specifications.
Moreover, the supplier should be the “Payment Card Industry Data
Security Standard” (PCI DSS) compliant for deployment in “Card Data
Environment”(CDE). During the Reporting Period, all new Fintech related
suppliers have conducted new supplier evaluation as prescribed in ISP.

As our business is money lending, our suppliers are fundamentally not
engaged in production and manufacturing, resulting in extremely low
environmental risks.
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BUSINESS AND CUSTOMERS COMMITMENT
(CONTINUED)

Supply chain management (Continued)

In addition to considering reasonable prices when looking for high-
quality products and services, the Company expects to consider human
health and environmental factors in the coming years to reduce negative
environmental impacts. We will evaluate suppliers’ performance in various
environmental and social aspects including legal & authenticity, health and
safety and environmental management.

Supply chain data

EESEE S

Location

1th 25

Hong Kong e

Rest of Asia TME A=
Others HAtb

EBRNEFEGE(E)

HrEREEE ()

BYeEEERLRERERSEERI K
REEHARREFHEREE TIREMRRER
= NREHRENEETE - RMABESE
RERTETHMGHERNRR - 2iAE
LA  ERELERIRFER -

As of

31 December

2023
BE-_E_—=

+=A=+—H

Number

#E
35

12
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KEEP PEOPLE-ORIENTED

As a responsible employer, the Company strictly abide by relevant
laws and regulations of Hong Kong to establish a robust employees’
management system, such as:

The Employment Ordinance;

o Employees’” Compensation Ordinance;

o Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance;

o Sex Discrimination Ordinance;

o Disability Discrimination Ordinance; and

o Family Status Discrimination Ordinance and Race Discrimination
Ordinance.

Any instance of irregularity or failure to comply with such rules and
regulations will be forthwith rectified by the Company upon identifying
such deficiencies.

Equal opportunities, diversity and respect in the workforce
Recruitment management

The Company recognizes that its ability to attract, retain, and motivate
skilled employees is crucial to its success. Recruitment is based on a
variety of factors including work experience, educational background and
specific job requirements. The hiring process is merit-based, reflecting
the Company’s commitment to equal opportunity without discrimination
based on gender, age, race, religion, or other personal attributes.

op
et
=)
of

BEFUABR
FRBEENRESE - FARARKETESEN
EPIRGED - R R2ERERHE - 1

. (ERGD

. (EEmEMRB

. CRFIMERTE R ENEE)
. CHERISAR B -

. CRRBARIER) + 2

. (R BE e (L AR R D)) Re CRE R AR 15
{51 o

ARB-BEHRERITR/IARBETZERR
KRB BB IERRBER -

BETWVEHRE  ZREBEE

BEEE

ARBRPELA - B LHB S ERE
MENHERNEREE - HEEANSERE
BT BRIERR BESSLARTEE
Ko HEBREEARE  RIRAQFE FEH
GHAGE - WERRERMR - Fie - Bk - TH
SE M EAFE AR o

88 K CASH CORPORATION LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2023



Environmental, Social and Governance Report Izi% « (& K&

KEEP PEOPLE-ORIENTED (CONTINUED)

Equal Opportunities, Diversity and Respect in the Workforce
(Continued)

Diversity, equity and inclusion

The Company upholds the principle of equal opportunities, understanding
the diversity in its workforce contributes significantly to the varied
commercial ventures it engages in. Valuing diversity goes hand in hand
with the commitment to providing equal opportunities across the
organization.

A diverse workforce, in the Company’s view, is one where discrimination
is absent, and each member is valued for their unique contributions.
We support equal opportunities and strongly oppose discrimination and
harassment. The Company will take whatever action to prevent, and if
necessary, discipline behaviour which violates this policy.

The Company’s Equal Opportunity Policy forbids the following
discrimination and harassment activities carried out in the course of
employment, provision of goods and services, or other activities organised
by the Company. The definitions of the following terms in the relevant
legislation will apply:

o Sex discrimination

o Sexual harassment

o Disability discrimination

o Family status discrimination
o Race discrimination

Each employee has a duty to ensure that there is no discrimination with
the Company in any aspect of employment (hiring, transfer, promotion,
compensation, termination, etc.) based on race, religion, gender, national
origin, age, marital status, current or previous military status if any, colour,
sexual orientation or any other status.

Should any instances of unacceptable conduct occur, e.g., employees who
believe that they have been or are being sexually harassed, it is mandatory
for them to be reported to the appropriate parties, which may include
the Department Head, Team Head, the Compliance Department, or the
Human Capital Department. The Company is dedicated to maintaining a
professional environment where the rights and dignity of all employees
are respected and protected.
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KEEP PEOPLE-ORIENTED (CONTINUED)

Equal Opportunities, Diversity and Respect in the Workforce
(Continued)

Labour standards

According to the Employee Handbook, all employees are required to
provide necessary information during employment, such as personal
history, education certificates, references from previous employers and
valid identity card or passport. The Company’s Human Capital Department
adopts robust measures to confirm the identity credential, and integrity of
candidates during the selection process to ensure staff members are not
less than 18 years old and are suitable to be engaged for the positions
concerned. All Employees are engaged under standard employment
contracts that detail salary, benefits, and confidentiality obligations. With
our current measures verifying candidates’ identities, there is no risk of
engaging child labour or forced labour in our operation.

We believe that we maintain a good working relationship with our
employees and we did not experience any significant labour disputes or
any difficulty in recruiting staff for our operations during the Reporting
Period.

Employee Data
EERE

Total Number of Employees

EERAH

By Gender Male

IR E]
Female
i

By Age Group Aged below 30

BEERAER 30BRAT
Aged 30 to 49
30%495%
Aged 50 or above
5078k A _E

By Employee Type Full-time

RIERER 2R

By Geographical Region Hong Kong

== B

BEFUABR(E)
BINTERE  STIEEE (M)

HIFRE

REEEFM - AERENEEMESARM
BEER - PIMEALE  HEZE - AlEE:
BESERBRENELER - ARRATE
REPERENVE N - REUE B2 R RBE
BB D RE RS RaB(E - BIRE THFm 185
EANERERRBL - TARBHRRIZERRE
BRI HhFIFE BARREEE -
TP B ATERBUZ ESKBE SO - &
REEPIWEEAE TS THER

BB RREHA - RIFERB RS R
TR - BEXEBRATMEAZEND - 1
SEREE T EMEBENEAINEE -

As of 31 December 2023
BE-_ZE-_=F+-A=1+—H

Number of
people Ratio
A tb=
62 100%
31 50%
31 50%
11 18%
42 68%
9 15%
62 100%
62 100%
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KEEP PEOPLE-ORIENTED (CONTINUED)
Equal Opportunities, Diversity and Respect in the Workforce

(Continued)
Labour standards (Continued)

Turnover Data

AERBBE

Total Number of Employees

EEAH

By Gender
gkl

By Age Group
REERAER

By Employee Category
RIERER

By Geographical Region
==

Male
B
Female

g

Aged below 30
305 A TN

Aged 30 to 49
30%495%

Aged 50 or above
5078 A _E

Senior Management
BREEE

Middle Management
hRERE
General staff
—RET

Hong Kong
N

AN
/B

e

BEFUABR(E)
BINTERE  STIEEE (M)

B ITREE)

As of 31 December 2023
BE-_ZE-_=F+-A=1+—H

Number of
people Ratio
A tb=
19 23%
9 23%
10 24%
8 42%
11 21%
0 0%
0 0%
1 9%
18 28%
19 23%
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KEEP PEOPLE-ORIENTED (CONTINUED)
Remuneration and benefits

In our commitment to employee well-being, we have implemented
comprehensive leave policies that support our team members through
various life events. We offer generous sick leave accrual in line with the
Hong Kong Employment Ordinance, maternity and paternity leave with
fair compensation, and special leave provisions that include days off for
birthdays, anniversaries, weddings, and compassionate circumstances.
To further support our employees, we provide study leave and reward
high-performing individuals with additional days off. Our approach
ensures a balance between work and personal life, fostering a supportive
environment that values the health and happiness of our employees,
which in turn contributes positively to our organizational productivity and
morale.

Moreover, the Company enhances its employment package with additional
benefits like low-interest personal loans of up to HK$200,000 and study
subsidies of up to HK$100,000, which serve to further incentivize and
support its workforce.

The Company is proactive in promoting a healthy work-life balance among
its employees, recognizing that a positive and cohesive work environment
not only benefits individual well-being but also enhances overall team
performance. To this end, the Company organizes a variety of social and
team-bonding activities.

Training and development

The Company places a high value on its employees, considering them as
key assets integral to the Company’s success. In recognition of this the
Company offers regular training on a range of relevant subjects such as
land search case studies, understanding credit reports, and loan product
knowledge. The Human Capital Department includes a dedicated Learning
and Development Team, which collaborates closely with Business Units
and the Compliance Department. Their responsibilities are not limited
to offering comprehensive and up-to-date onboarding training for new
frontline staff and back-end support roles. Additionally, they are tasked
with delivering annual refresher training on AML and Cyber Security to all
current employees.
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KEEP PEOPLE-ORIENTED (CONTINUED)
Training and development (Continued)

Throughout the Reporting Period, the Company has offered a diverse
range of training opportunities to our valued employees. These training
programmes were conducted by both our robust internal training
department and esteemed external institutions, which has brought positive
impacts on accelerating digital transformation by providing cutting-edge
workshops for our employees, such as “Data Analytics in Power Bl for
Business Users” and “Web and Mobile Application Development with
Emerging Low Code Approach.” Additionally, our internal programs have
focused on leadership development, strategic thinking, and compliance.
Management sharing sessions drawing on the ancient wisdom of “The
Art of War “for Supervisors and Deputy Heads have been instrumental in
enhancing our leadership capabilities. Furthermore, we have conducted
seminars on privacy laws and regulations, such as the “Introduction to the
PDPO Seminar,” to ensure our operations adhere to the highest standards
of data protection and privacy. Our training and development program
not only equips our employees with the knowledge and skills necessary
to excel in their roles but also supports their personal growth and the
Company'’s long-term success.
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As of 31 December 2023
BE-_ZE-_=5+-A=1+-—H

Number of Number of Average
attendants training hours training hours
Training Data (People) (Hours) (Hours) &
SZIAR BIRFE PRI
EIIBE (A) (/INEF) (/INEF) He il
Total 76 620.5 8.2 123%
et
By Gender Male 40 291.5 7.3 129%
IR B
Female 36 329.0 9.1 116%
eqid
By Employee Category Senior Management 6 130.0 21.7 100%
RIERLER SRERE
Middle Management 11 96.5 8.8 110%
hREIRRE
General staff 59 394.0 6.7 128%
—RET
Note: Hiat -
(1) The total number of attendants is higher than number of employees due to staff (1) AREIT Rk HEBAHBSRMESAE - KX

turnover such that the percentage of employees trained exceed 100%.
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KEEP PEOPLE-ORIENTED (CONTINUED)
Occupational health and safety

Though our business does not involve significant health and work safety
matters, the Company is committed to doing its best to safeguard the
health and safety of its employees, those with whom it does business and
the communities within which it operates. We endeavour to create a safe,
healthy, and comfortable working environment, one which protects the
physical and mental health of employees and minimises the probability of
occupational diseases.

For the protection of others, the “Employee Handbook” regulates that
all employees are expected to always observe all safety regulations and
precautions and report any observation of unsafe conditions to the Human
Capital Department.

In the past three years including the Reporting Period, there were zero
work-related fatalities in the Company.
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Number of work-related fatalities AT THAAZB(A)
(persons)

Rate of work-related fatalities (%) AT THEIABEEE(%)

Lost days due to work injury (days) ~ FEI{Ei8.T{EAE(AH)

0 0 0
0 0 0
0 0 0

GREEN DEVELOPMENT AND ENVIRONMENT
PROTECTION

The digital operation of the business is a testament to this commitment.
Cloud-based services have been adopted to minimize the need for
paper, especially on the client’s end. Customers enjoy the convenience
of accessing lending services through various digital platforms such as
websites, VTMs and mobile applications. Loan agreements and repayment
schedules are made available online, allowing borrowers to easily refer
to them at any time, further eliminating the need for physical paper
applications, agreements, and statements. Through these measures, the
Company not only enhances efficiency and customer convenience but also
significantly reduces its ecological impact.
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GREEN DEVELOPMENT AND ENVIRONMENT
PROTECTION (CONTINUED)

The Company is actively working to minimize the environmental impact
of its operations, with a focus on key areas such as greenhouse gas (GHG)
emissions from transportation, effective waste management, and the
consumption of energy and resources. This extends to the procurement
process, wherein the environmental impact of purchased goods and/
or services is also considered. We strictly comply with relevant laws and
regulations regarding environment protection including but not limited to:

. Air Pollution Control Ordinance;

° Ozone Layer Protection Ordinance;

° Road Traffic Ordinance;

° Noise Control Ordinance;

. Waste Disposal Ordinance;

. Water Pollution Control Ordinance; and
o Sewage Services Ordinance.

During the Reporting Period, the Company is not aware of any significant
impact of its activities on the environment and natural resources. Moving
forward, the Company is committed to enhancing its sustainability
measures by conducting internal studies aimed at identifying and
understanding the resources utilized in its operations and further extend
sustainability practices to our suppliers for a win-win situation for the
environment.

RERREREREE)

ARARBRERBLEHRENTE  EH
T ERBIENREREIN BREYEE
ANBEREERARSEHEE - NREBE
hIREZEEMBEERLHREERFENY
E - RMBRETABRRRENRBEN K
RO BIRERRR

. (ERBRE BRG]

. (RERARZEH) :

. CGEERZBIRP) -

. CREEBRBI) -

. (R EIRDL) :

. CORBREBED) + R

. CRKBR IR RIS D) ©

RB|ERA - ARBL B EBHERER
BABREXRNEMEAZE - KK - KAAF
BB BRRAN R IR A R AE R IE I
SEBA N THRALERERNER  WiE—
THRAFBERTRBERERMOEES B

REERER

K CASH REBERAT 2023F

95

ANNNN\N



Environmental, Social and Governance Report (835 1+ & M E)ARE

GREEN DEVELOPMENT AND ENVIRONMENT
PROTECTION (CONTINUED)

Energy Saving and Emissions Reduction

The Company has committed to an “efficiency use of resources”
policy, which reflects its dedication to sustainability and environmental
responsibility. Employees are encouraged to engage in sustainable
practices that contribute to the reduction of the Company’s carbon
footprint. This includes promoting recycling initiatives and reducing paper
waste within all operations.

As part of its commitment to achieving carbon neutrality, the Company
has taken proactive steps to foster a low-carbon lifestyle both internally
and in the services it provides. A leader in its field, the Company has
moved towards a paperless environment, setting a precedent in the
industry for environmental consciousness. We also have installed energy-
saving LED lights to replace traditional tubes and have arranged for
the installation of smart meters to monitor real-time data for effective
consumption management.

Energy

RETR

Direct Energy

EEER
Petrol kWh
R TR
Indirect Energy
BEREIR
Electricity kWh
& TRE
Total energy consumption kWh
HEERUHFER F R

Emission Intensity
BREE FTRE, EEAZR
The Company is committed to reducing energy consumption and will
improve energy efficiency in the coming years to reduce greenhouse gas
emissions.

1 Environmental KPIs is calculated according to “How to prepare an ESG Report —
Appendix 2: Reporting Guidance on Environmental KPIs".

2 Intensity calculated by dividing total energy consumption by total number of
employees in the Company. As of 31 December 2023, the total number of
employees were 62.

kWh/number of employees?

RERREREREE)

B REIR B

ARBRA =R ERERIBE - ERRAR
ARBEETAREERLRREEL - ARFE
BB 8 288 Byl 7R R BIRR R BR A AT 5 4 3%
RER - BRENAEXHTHEERRN AR
DREE4E

~

\
5

ERBEIRRP AN —IR - AABERIGA
1BIEHE - NABIA R ER A RS 1R G
HEEAN - AERITERE - ARRERERL
RIGEE - REARBRREZNE - B
LK LEDEIRE B IAMNK BHREE - L LHR
KERERUEITEREE  KmAREEH
FEBM ©

36,377.08

186,171.00
222,548.08
3,589.49

AR BB D BERRRE - WARHER R

PR - AR DR ERBHNE

RIEFREXIEFIRE WG ERSE &
REGHE -tk — - RGNS FIER
155/ JFHE »

2 TRERBREITEFE BB AR L Al R AR BLETH -

B E_ZFEF A=+ —H EREHA
624 °
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GREEN DEVELOPMENT AND ENVIRONMENT
PROTECTION (CONTINUED)

Gas emission management

Air pollution emission management

As our business does not relate to manufacturing and production, there
are no fixed machinery emission sources involved in gas fuel consumption
and emission in our normal operations. Emissions (including nitrogen
oxides (NO,), sulphur oxides (SO,) and particulate matter (PM) are
generated from our own vehicles.

Details of exhaust gas generated by the Company’s vehicles:

Types of emissions

E235 L7k i)

Nitrogen Oxides (NO,) kg
AAL(NO,) NI
Sulphur Oxides (SO,) kg
mEm(SO,) NI
Particulate Matter (PM) kg
SR RF NI

Greenhouse gas emission management

Our greenhouse gas emissions primarily consist of direct emissions
from company vehicles and indirect emissions resulting from electricity
consumption in office spaces and air travel emissions caused by business
trip.

The company sets a target for greenhouse gas emission and expects
to continue control the emission in the coming years, aiming to reduce
emission.

RERREREREE)

REHFHER

ZRIRMFRER
RREMNEFESGEMEERR R
B Ko RAB KRR H FE S BE iR a0 B E i BE
HORIR - B (BEAS/ET(NO,) - AL
(SO0 BRI FHF ) IR F AP A< & 4R -

KRR EEEMEEE RN ¢

Total

Year ended

31 December

2023

et
BE-—ZT—=

+=HA=+-—8

IEFE

2.30

0.45

0.17
BERBHEKER
REREHREIZEEARERNERFRK

EM R =R E N ERGBAREEBEBUA KB
IRATRE RO ZE Z IR BRI ©

ARRRERERELHMBE - BEHARREF
FEZHIREREHNE BRI HRE -
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GREEN DEVELOPMENT AND ENVIRONMENT
PROTECTION (CONTINUED)

Gas emission management (Continued)

Greenhouse gas emission management (Continued)

Detailed breakdown of Greenhouse Gases Emissions by the Company:

Types of emissions

E290 €7k bl

Scope 1 - Energy Direct Emissions

SE - REREEER

roBRERRERE ()
REFREEE)
BERBHREE (H)
AATRERIEIE BEAM

Total

Year ended
31 December
2023

et

H
R

BE—T
+=A=

.
1E

Combustion of fuels by the vehicles tCO,e 10.22
BRI R —AitiREE
Scope 2 - Energy Indirect Emissions
EiE2 - sER B EBEN
Electricity tCO,e 108.30
B —EtREE
Scope 3 - Other Indirect Emissions
HiE3 - HthEEBEN
Business Air Travel3 tCOze 0.47
7 745 i 22 22 Bk —akiREE
Wastepaper Treatment tCOze 6.79
REAR BT IR —AitiREE
Total Emissions tCOze 125.78
BEEME —akiREE
Emission Intensity tCO,e/number of employees* 2.03
HEREE —EEEERE AB
3 The CO, emission is calculated with reference to International Civil Aviation 3 LRI AR R E FIR AR B 1R S E S
Organization (ICAQ) data. e
4 Intensity calculated by dividing tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent by total 4 FEIZWE =S E BRI AL AR IES B2

number of employees in the Company. As of 31 December 2023, the total
number of employees were 62.
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GREEN DEVELOPMENT AND ENVIRONMENT
PROTECTION (CONTINUED)

Use of resources

The Company is acutely aware of the environmental implications of its
operations, notably the consumption of paper in the course of conducting
business. With a deep understanding of the limited nature of Earth’s
resources, the Company remains steadfast in its commitment to transition
towards paperless operations, thereby diminishing superfluous paper usage
both at the headquarters and across all branches. Digitalization stands as
our strategic objective for the long term.

To foster this culture of sustainability and digitality, we actively encourage
our employees to favor electronic communication methods, such as
email and the intranet, for sharing and obtaining information. Looking
ahead, the Company plans to maintain a collaborative relationship with
our suppliers to gain a more holistic understanding of our environmental
footprint beyond our office spaces and to continue our journey of
reducing our ecological impact.

Water usage

Water consumption within the Company’s operations is minimal, with the
primary usage stemming from our office, which sources water from the
local municipal supply provided by the Water Supplies Department. Given
that Hong Kong experiences low water stress, there are no significant
challenges in obtaining water for our needs.

Despite the relative ease of water access, the Company is dedicated
to minimizing water usage and enhancing water efficiency. We expect
to improve the water efficiency in the coming years. We are proactive
in our efforts to promote water conservation among our employees,
underscoring the importance of responsible water use as part of our
commitment to environmental stewardship.

Types of water

AxER

Barrelled water m3
K SR
Tap water m3

SP W TR
Total Consumption m3
BHEEE K

RERREREREE)

BRER

ARBFRMERBHRENTE  LEEEE
EBBRTRFERE - NRARY) T REHIR
BRBER M- EBETBBEEER(CE
B R RERPAEDITRERA - BIBLA
BN RARBEER -

RIBERFRHERR MBS - BAEERS
BREEZEAEHLABBTETEANALF
RERER - REARK - ANrl S| EBHRER
HRAERE  UE2mi TERMAERAZ
BZINIRIR R - WHERPIEMERTE
HHERE o

JiiP/§ =1

KARMBEFKERD  TBRRPAE
K KRR BKEBIREA A T EHK o 28
REBNEKBAR) - RPN ERFE KR
T Sl 4 T e B KRB o

BEEBUKFEHE S  ARBLE AR A
IKEIRERRAKEE » ZABRRERKEFRES
KRS - HAERE 2 MEGHERE DM
Ko RABBERKNERNE - UHEERR
I RIRE IR AGER) —IR ©

Total

Year ended

31 December

2023

et
BE-—ZT—=

+=HA=+-—8

IEFE

30.11
10.00

40.11
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GREEN DEVELOPMENT AND ENVIRONMENT
PROTECTION (CONTINUED)

Use of resources (Continued)

Waste management

Guided by a commitment to environmental responsibility, the Company
has introduced several initiatives within the office to encourage the reuse
and recycling of materials. We recognize the importance of minimizing
waste and maximizing the lifecycle of resources as part of our sustainability
efforts.

As the Company’s operations do not encompass industrial manufacturing
activities, we do not produce a substantial amount of hazardous waste.
Consequently, there is no pressing need to establish reduction targets
for hazardous wastes. Nevertheless, we remain vigilant and continue to
adhere to best practices regarding waste management to ensure any
potential hazardous waste is handled responsibly, even in small quantities.

Types of wastes

BERYEE

Non-Hazardous Waste

BEREY
Wastepaper tons
REAR Mg
Hazardous Waste tons
BEREY i
Total Emissions tons
BEEME i

Regarding the treatment of hazardous and non-hazardous waste, we will
consider source reduction, reuse, recycling or other recycling methods in
the coming years to reduce their impact on the environment.

RERREREREE)

EREA ()

BERMER

AEHRRABNARE - NRARHAEHET
LIREE - FEMHOEKRER - BIFTRFAR
PRENEEBRAEREPADNESM £
RAFEERTEN—D o

RRARRHEE NS N TREEEE) - T
SELEREAFERY - At - RFIALHEY)
FEFRERIEETERDNER - BEWL
BAMRIBES  HERBEENERNRE
B EREAEEHEETMNECEAETER
Y BMEHRERE -

Total
Year ended
31 December

1.40

REEAEMEEERNME - RABERK
HEZRIRBRE 5 - @DRSEBERT
% AREERENTE -
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GREEN DEVELOPMENT AND ENVIRONMENT

PROTECTION (CONTINUED)
Coping with climate change

Climate change is one of the greatest challenges that we are facing today.
We have identified several significant climate-related issues including
extreme weather events, chronic weather patterns, policies and regulations
and market sentiment. The following table summarises the risks faced
by the Company and the Company’s strategy in combating with climate

change.

Risk Category

B Rl

ERRR

Transition Risk
AR

Description of Risk
g

Actual Physical Risk:

Increased frequency of extreme
weather events like typhoons,
rainstorms, and floods.
BEEERAR

FoR - BRAKERImR AR
BAMBER T o

Chronic Physical Risk:
Rising temperatures.
REERER

Fom LTt o

Reputation Risk:

Increasing public focus on
climate actions by companies.
BERR:

NS DaNEE 20 )
RIRTTE -

Tightening Environmental
Rules and Guidelines:

Emerging regulatory requirements
on climate risk management.
BRERARIECIKER
ABARFRERERNEEER
B -

op
et
=)
of

FEHRIRE

TRELHOSRAE

Potential Impact

RERREREREE)

RIRBCRHFIR S EHORAKIBEZ — - K
ME@EpZAEARREBRE - SERmK
REMN - BHRREN - BREROIA R TS
A o NREVIAR R B ER AR N SR

Company'’s Strategy in Response

KD TR L R

- Potential for temporary closure -

of office leading to lower

revenue. —

— WRSEURAEEREMN - A

Dz o -

JlicH

- Risk of property damage and ~ —

threat to staff safety.
- AXPEXBRHEIZZE
PBE HIER -

- Possible temporary suspension -
of electricity supply affecting
system and service availability.

- FWREHENHEDEDEY - -

FERG RGO AL -

- Need for greater investment -
in climate-related areas to
maintain or enhance company
reputation.

- BRAREHESERHESER -

B DRI RAEE -

- Operations need to adaptto -
new regulations, which may

include formalizing climate risk —

management and performing
scenario analysis. -
- ZEFREEFARN - ke

BREARERREERACE —

ETRRENM -

Enhance digitalization of
financial services through.

2R RRBEBL -

Support hybrid working modes
to minimize impact.

SRS TERAURIER
2,

Establish back-up data centers
and service centers in diverse
locations to mitigate risks.
PRI 2R B 8RO
R FRISH L + DAPHERRR o

Engage in proactive
climate-related actions and
communication to enhance the
Company's reputation.
RER2ERIGAETERE

B ARARREES -

Stay informed on regulatory
changes.
BATRESED -

Implement early compliance
measures.
REEE HE -

Ensure merchants and business
partners are aware and
equipped to adapt to new
environmental rules.

RREP REBEERHAE
FORIERA - WA o
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COMMUNITY RESPONSIBILITY HESE

Our organization is deeply invested in nurturing a sustainable community, &AL EETMERNLERIAEE - 28]
recognizing that our social responsibility extends beyond our immediate  JREREBAFEREALRHAERARELR
operations. We encourage and facilitate our employees to engage HR{fISERIBEETLRMET - IEEREN
in volunteer work, fostering a spirit of service and collaboration. This — {Ef&3% o |t E2(F H IS DRI Al IS BB R Mot
approach allows us to promote sustainability and social well-being. AL -

Due to the Company having just gone public within this Reporting Period, — HAARA RN EEIA S Tk M - BFIH A
we have not yet been able to engage in community investment activities.  BEREAH [RITEEH) o AREF - NAQRHEHE
In the coming years, the Company will invest in community programs and ~ ZEFAIRR - HE ML REtEETE &
activities focusing on environmental protection, education and cultural  SE8) - LA SFCESHERE -

exchanges, in order to move forward as a responsible company.

APPENDIX Hi42

Subject Areas, Aspects,
General Disclosures
and KPIs Description Section

E-3 =
—REEX
RREMIER i pu

A. Environmental

A RE
Aspect A1: Emissions
BEAT : BB
General Disclosure Information on: Green Development
—RIEE (@) the policies; and and Environment
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have Protection
a significant impact on the issuer relating to air and FEERRIRRRE
greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into water and land,
and generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste.
FRABERRREREEN - VKR THHEES - BEREEZEE
BYNEEER
(a) BER &
(b) BFHETABEATL BB ERLIROINER
KPI A1.1 The types of emissions and respective emissions data. Green Development
BREMIEEAL PERU R AR BE R B o and Environment
Protection
GFeEERIRRRE
KPI A1.2 Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2) greenhouse Greenhouse Gas
BREMIEEAL2 gas emissions (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity Emission Management
(e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility). BERBHNERE

BE(SBEN)ReeREE (S8E2)RERBHENE AT E) &
(ER)ZE (MASEE BN - BERMEE)
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APPENDIX (CONTINUED) B dsk (48)

Subject Areas, Aspects,
General Disclosures

and KPIs Description Section
TEGE - BHE
—RIRER
BRERIEE
KPI A1.3 Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and,where Waste Management
FBENISZEALS appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, FEEYEIE
per facility).

PREAAERERMAE (R R(ER) BE (A gE
BEN - BERGHE) °

KPI A1.4 Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and,where Waste Management
BRENIEEALL appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, BEEMERE
per facility.

PELBEEERMAE CANEE) (ER) R (AZE
BEN - BERMHHE) °

KPI A1.5 Description of emissions target(s) set and steps taken to Use of Resources

RARENMISIEALS achieve them. BRE R
RFTRI L HENE B IR RRET S L BRI P 5 -

KPI A1.6 Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are Waste Management

FREMIEIEALG handled, and a description of reduction target(s) set and steps ~ REEEIR

taken to achieve them.
R EIR R ENEEREEYNIE - MRS 8 REE B 1R
NIER|E L BRI ERE P8R -

Aspect A2: Use of Resources

BHEA2 : EREA

General Disclosure Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy, Use of Resources

—RiE water and other raw materials. EREMA
BRERER(BIEEIR - KEREMEMED BB o

KPI A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type Energy Saving and

R ENIEIEA2.1 (e.g. electricity, gas or oil) in total (kWh in’000s) and intensity Emissions Reduction
(e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility). Ok

LR DM ER R LEEER(NE - RIom)EFEE (A
TETERAE) REE(WMASER S - BFIEREAE)

KPI A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per unit of Water Usage

FABENISEA2.2 production volume, per facility). HkE
BFKERRE(WMAGES S - BIERMTE) ©

KPI A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set and steps Energy Saving and

BREMIEEA2.3 taken to achieve them. Emissions Reduction
FRILFrRT SRR IE A e B R R miE S G L B IZFR R 2 EnBe IR BE
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APPENDIX (CONTINUED)

Subject Areas, Aspects,

General Disclosures
and KPIs

TESGE - BH
—RIFER
BAREMIEE

KPI A2.4
FRBENISEA2.4

KPI A2.5
RARENISIEA2.5

B % (&)

Description

i pud

Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water
that is fit for purpose, water efficiency target(s) set and steps
taken to achieve them.

a3 SKEVGE B /R E AT B ERIREIRE - LAKRFRRT S B AR R B
RN EDE L B IRPTERE A 8R

Total packaging material used for finished products (in tonnes)
and, if applicable, with reference to per unit produced.

SRR MATABEMRNAS (LAREETE) R (Eh ) FEEEMN
HE e

Aspect A3: The Environment and Natural Resources

BEA3 : RIERRXAER

General Disclosure

—RIKE

KPI A3.1
RARENISIEA3

Aspect A4: Climate Change

EHA4 : RIRE1{L

General Disclosure

—RIRE

Policies on minimising the issuer’s significant impacts on the
environment and natural resources.

BIEEIT AR R AR ERERBEAZENBR -

Description of the significant impacts of activities on the
environment and natural resources and the actions taken to
manage them.

Hl E S RS IRIE R AAERNERTEREENEEB
HEHTTE) ©

Policies on identification and mitigation of significant climate-
related issues which have impacted,and those which may
impact, the issuer.

BRI M EHE R L AR Y BT AEEFENEAR KRS
HEBE -

Section

Water Usage
AxE

K Cash does not have
packaging material
used for finished
products.

K Cashiliz & 2L5K &2 AT F
BEMEL -

Green Development
and Environment
Protection

REBRLRBIRE

Green Development
and Environment
Protection
FEERIRRRE

Coping With Climate
Change
e SRIRE b
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APPENDIX (CONTINUED)

Subject Areas, Aspects,
General Disclosures
and KPIs

TESGE - EE
—RIRER
BRERIEE

KPI1 A4.1
FARENISIEAL

B. Social
B. &

B % (&)

Description

Description of the significant climate-related issues which have
impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer, and the
actions taken to manage them.

BB RATEEHETAEEATENERREEBEE - &
FEH1TH -

Employment and Labour Practices

BRRZEIESR

Aspect B1: Employment
BEB1 : &(E

General Disclosure

—RIKE

KPI B1.1
BARENISIZEB1.1

Information on:

(a) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer relating to compensation
and dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working hours,

rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination,

and other benefits and welfare.
ERASREE  BEXEM  TENE &Y FESKe -
%At - RIBARA R EAFE REFR
(a) B+ &

(o) BTHEITABERTZENHEMEZRLAPINER

Total workforce by gender, employment type (for example,
full- or part-time), age group and geographical region.

&R
g -

RERL (N 2BERE) - FiAER Mt SR

Section

Coping With Climate
Change
FEHT RIREE

Keep People-oriented

BEUAR/K

Equal Opportunities,
Diversity and Respect in
the Workforce
BINFERE 2T
felREE
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APPENDIX (CONTINUED)

Subject Areas, Aspects,

General Disclosures
and KPIs
TEGE - EHm
—BEER
BAREMIEE

KPI1 B1.2
FARENIE1ER1.2

B % (&)

Description

i pus

Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and
geographical region.
IR - FEAR RS SR EE AL E -

Aspect B2: Health and Safety

[EEB2 : @RERZE

General Disclosure

—RIRE

KPI B2.1
B EMIE1ZEBR2.1

KPI B2.2
FARENISEB2.2

KPI B2.3
RARENISEB2.3

Information on:

(@) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have
a significant impact on the issuer relating to providing a
safe working environment and protecting employees from
occupational hazards.

BRRHEZ 2 TERERREREERMABENLBEN

(@ B&E: &

(b) BFHBETABEATENBBERLROINER -

Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred in each of

the past three years including the reporting year.

BE=F(BRERFE)SFRITHOHABMELE -

Lost days due to work injury.

EIGEXTIERS -

Description of occupational health and safety measures
adopted, and how they are implemented and monitored.
RO PTERAR VBB R R R 2556 - ARABRA T REER T
e

Aspect B3: Development and Training

fEEB3 : B#RERIEZI
General Disclosure

—RIKE

Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills for
discharging duties at work. Description of training activities.
BRARTHE B BT TR E AU MR M BB I BER © Ht R sINE
g o

Section

Equal Opportunities,
Diversity and Respect in
the Workforce
BIRNTEHKE 2T
e E

Occupational Health
and Safety
BEREEee

Occupational Health
and Safety
BEERETe

Occupational Health
and Safety
BEERERE
Occupational Health

and Safety
BRERERTE

Training and
Development
B R ER
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APPENDIX (CONTINUED)

Subject Areas, Aspects,
General Disclosures
and KPIs
TESGE - BH
—RIFER
BAREMIEE

KPI B3.1
BB NIE1ZER3.1

KPI B3.2
FARENIS1ZEB3.2

Aspect B4: Labour Standards

[ETEB4 : T %A
General Disclosure

—RIKE

KPI B4.1
AR ENIS1ZEBRA4.1

KPI B4.2
RARENIE1EBR4.2

Operating Practices

“EEN

B % (&)

Description

i pud

The percentage of employees trained by gender and employee
category (e.g. senior management, middle management).
RUEFIREERMN(INESREERE PREEE)ZSHNXIIIE
BERAMDL -

The average training hours completed per employee by gender
and employee category.

BRI REEERE S - BREETREIIN TR -

Information on:

(a) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer relating to preventing child
and forced labour.

BRI IEE T ekoab| & TH)

(a) B &

(b) BFHETABEALENEBERLIROINER -

Description of measures to review employment practices to

avoid child and forced labour.

g s R B e e AR R B T KR KI5 T -

Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices when
discovered.

TSI R ENEE R A BB P ERERE 2B -

Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management

[EmEBS : {EsEER

General Disclosure

—RIRE

KPI B5.1
B A& WIS 1EB5.1

Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the
supply chain.
ERHEENRE R S RRBUR o

Number of suppliers by geographical region.

iR B MHEREE -

Section

Training and
Development
BIIRER

Training and
Development

I Re 3

Labour Standards
L TR

Labour Standards
& T AR

Labour Standards
TR

Supply Chain
Management
Hre@E R

Supply Chain
Management

HEmRE
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APPENDIX (CONTINUED)

Subject Areas, Aspects,
General Disclosures

B % (&)

and KPIs Description Section

FEHE - BE -

—RIEER

BEREVER

KPI B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, number  Supply Chain

B EMIEIEBS5.2 of suppliers where the practices are being implemented, and Management
how they are implemented and monitored. HpEsEEE
AR AHERED - mERITEBENNHERE
B ARMEERITRERTE -

KPI B5.3 Description of practices used to identify environmental Supply Chain

B EMIEIEBS.3 and social risks along the supply chain, and how they are Management
implemented and monitored. HEgEE
i3l 8 B e S B EIR B VIR 35 Rt @ bR eV 1E Bl - LA
MERAITREER A -

KPI B5.4 Description of practices used to promote environmentally Supply Chain

AR ENISIEB5.4 preferable products and services when selecting suppliers, and ~ Management
how they are implemented and monitored. HpEgRE R

R BRI (T 2 RIRRE M SRIEE R - LAKAE
FREATT REEER TR o

Aspect B6: Product Responsibility

[EEB6 : EMET
General Disclosure

Information on:

Business and

—RIE (a) the policies; and Customers
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have Commitment
a significant impact on the issuer relating to health and E YN S
safety, advertising, labelling and privacy matters relating to
products and services provided and methods of redress.
EAMREERMRENERELZS BE  BERLEEE
AR AR AR
(@) B &
(b) BFHETABEAZENHBERLIROINER -
KPI B6.1 Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to recalls Business and Products
A E N IE1EB6.1 for safety and health reasons. HENESR
EEXCEXEREHT AT REZRIEMAMARKN A S
Lt e
KPI B6.2 Number of products and service-related complaints received Quality Services and
AR EIE1EB6.2 and how they are dealt with. Compliant Handling

BRI E G MRS AVIRAR BB A R BT - BE R S AR AR B IR
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APPENDIX (CONTINUED) B dsk (48)

Subject Areas, Aspects,
General Disclosures

and KPIs Description Section
FEHE - BE -
—REER
BEREVER
KPI B6.3 Description of practices relating to observing and protecting Intellectual Property
AR ENIEIEB6.3 intellectual property rights. Protection
fii it BR A T SRR B AN B E R B AV B B - HBERERE
KPI B6.4 Description of quality assurance process and recall procedures Customer Experience
R ENIEEB6.4 H I E 218 5F 1812 N E m BlWR and Financial Inclusion
ERERLE MR
KPI B6.5 Description of consumer data protection and privacy policies, Data Privacy Policy on
AR ENIS1EB6.5 and how they are implemented and monitored. Customer Data
U EEERMRE RALBEBOR - UMEERTRERTE - ARTEFEENEER
FLEUR

Aspect B7: Anti-corruption
[EEB7 : RES
General Disclosure Information on: Anti-Corruption and
—RIRE (a) the policies; and Bribery
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a k&S &R
significant impact on the issuer relating to bribery, extortion,
fraud and money laundering.
BRADILARES - B - MGEFROERER ¢
(@) B% &
(b) BFE BT AFERZENHMEERROINER o
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APPENDIX (CONTINUED) B ds% (48 )

Subject Areas, Aspects,

General Disclosures
and KPIs

TEGE - BHE
—RIRER
BREMIEE

Description

Section

KPI B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices Anti-Corruption and

AR EMIEIERT.1 brought against the issuer or its employees during the reporting  Bribery
period and the outcomes of the cases. RES & AR
RERHAH BT ARHESIRE T BENE THARTH
A LFDRER -

KPI B7.2 Description of preventive measures and whistle-blowing Whistle-Blowing

AR EMIEERT.2 procedures, and how they are implemented and monitored. 2B
Ry iE b R B ERIRT - A RMEARITRER A -

KPI B7.3 Description of anti-corruption training provided to directors Anti-Corruption and

B RANIERBT.3 and staff. Bribery
ftmES K E TRENREFE - &5 N HaRE

Community

#HE

Aspect B8: Community Investment

[EMEBS : HERE

General Disclosure Policies on community engagement to understand the needs Community

—RIBE of the communities where the issuer operates and to ensure its ~ Responsibility
activities take into consideration the communities’ interests. HEEF
BRAAE2ERTREEMEHRTENEREEXER RS
ZREARNEABER

KPI B8.1 Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, environmental Community

B A& W I51EB8.1 concerns, labour needs, health, culture, sport). Responsibility
EIEREE(NHE  BIREHE  BIHFR - 2F - b HEREE

8%) -
KPI B8.2 Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the focus area. Community
B SRE M IE1EBS.2 EEIHRMBAER (N EARRE) Responsibility
HEEE
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Corporate Governance Report
PERELIRE

The Board is pleased to report to the Shareholders on the corporate
governance of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2023.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CULTURE

The Company is committed to establishing and fulfilling a good corporate
governance practice and procedures, for ensuring a quality Board, sound
internal control, and transparency and accountability to all Shareholders
in order to enhance credibility and reputation of the Company. We
firmly believe that good corporate governance practice can earn trust of
the Shareholders as well as other stakeholders, and most importantly,
preserve the long-term interests of the Shareholders. In addition, a healthy
corporate culture is critical to the achievement of the Group’s vision
and strategy. The Group is committed to maintaining high standards of
business ethics and corporate governance in the Company's operation.

The Company will continuously review and adjust, if necessary, our
business strategies and keep track of the changing market conditions to
ensure prompt and proactive measures will be taken to respond to the
changes and meet the market needs to foster the sustainability of the
Group.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

Our Group is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate
governance to safeguard the interests of the Shareholders and to enhance
corporate value and accountability.

The Company has adopted the principles and code provisions of the CG
Code contained in Appendix C1 of the Listing Rules on Stock Exchange as
the basis of the Company’s corporate governance practices.

The Board is of the view that throughout the period from the Listing Date
and up to 31 December 2023, the Company has complied with all the
applicable code provisions as set out in the CG Code.

EEEMANBRRERARTANBE_T =
FH-A=t—HLEFENEEEREBER

EEER
ARBBAFERBITRIEFNEEERFER
LR UNERSEEZNEEE  R20OR
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MRARRBNEERMEE - HAIRE - R
HFHEEE AT R RMEBRREMFNEN
B REENRAHEERRORENE © It
SN REAERIEHBERARE AR KK
REMER - AEEZHTHR - EARAEE
FRBREENEXERREEER

WMENE - ARB B ERT MABEEBER
B - WEISRTEE BTN - ARERIESRER
TERE YR - BNTISHER - RERE
B AREER -

TRERER
AEBENEHBIZENCLER -
AR RA L BERMEY -

PAGRFEZ A
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MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in Appendix C3 to
the Listing Rules as the code of conduct regarding securities transactions
by the Directors since the Listing Date. Specific enquiry has been made of
all the Directors and the Directors have confirmed that they have complied
with the Model Code throughout the period from the Listing Date and up
to 31 December 2023.

The Board has also adopted its own code of conduct regarding
employees’ securities transactions on terms no less than the standard
set out in the Model Code to regulate all dealings in the Company’s
securities by relevant employees, including any employee or a director or
employee of a subsidiary or holding company, who, because of his/her
office or employment, are likely to be in possession of unpublished inside
information of the Company as referred to in the applicable code provision
D.2.4(e) of the CG Code. No incident of non-compliance with the Model
Code by the Company’s relevant employees has been noted during the
Reporting Period after making reasonable enquiry.

BOARD COMPOSITION

As at 31 December 2023 and up to the date of this annual report, the
Board comprised nine Directors, the composition is set out as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Lee Kun Tai Steven
Ms. Wong Cheuk Sze

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Lee Sheung Shing
Ms. Lee Pik Tsong
Ms. Chan Wing Sze
Ms. Kan Pui Yan

Independent non-executive Directors

Prof. Hung Wai Man JP
Mr. Mak Wing Sum Alvin
Mr. Leung Ka Cheung

EITEZ R 7 WRET A
B LW B - AARCEMA LT RN
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EEEAM
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BOARD COMPOSITION (CONTINUED)

The biographical details of the Directors are set out in the section headed
“Directors’ and Senior Management'’s Biographies” of this annual report.
The relationships between the Directors are disclosed in the respective
Director’s biography under the section headed "Directors’ and Senior
Management’s Biographies” of this annual report. Save as disclosed
above, there is no relationships (including financial, business, family or
other material/relevant relationship(s)) among members of the Board and
the senior management of the Company.

BOARD MEETINGS AND GENERAL MEETINGS

The Board shall hold at least four meetings a year at approximately
quarterly intervals. Additional meetings would be arranged when required.
Notices for all regular Board meetings will be given to all Directors at least
14 days before the meetings and the agenda and accompanying Board
paper will be given to all Directors at least 3 days before the meetings
in order that they have sufficient time to review the papers. Minutes of
meetings are kept by the Company Secretary with copies circulated to
all Directors or Board Committee members for information and records.
Directors who have conflicts of interest in a board resolution shall abstain
from voting for that resolution.

Minutes of the Board meetings and Board Committee meetings are
recorded in sufficient detail about the matters considered by the Board
and the Board Committees and the decisions reached, including any
concerns raised by the Directors/Board Committee members. Draft and
final versions of the minutes of each Board meeting and Board Committee
meeting are sent to the Directors/Board Committee members for
comments and records respectively within a reasonable time after the date
on which the meeting is held. Minutes of the Board meetings are open for
inspection by Directors.
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BOARD MEETINGS AND GENERAL MEETINGS
(CONTINUED)

All Directors shall obtain information related to the Board resolutions
in a comprehensive and timely manner. The Board has also established
mechanisms to ensure independent views are available to the Board,
including providing the Directors with sufficient resources to perform its
duties and shall seek, at the Company’s expense, independent professional
advice to perform its responsibilities if necessary. All independent non-
executive Directors are invited to attend the meetings of the Board and
the Board Committees, communication channels to the management
and the Company Secretary are also available at all times. The Board
shall at all times comprise at least three independent non-executive
Directors that represent at least one-third of the Board, such that there
is always a strong element of independence on the Board which can
effectively exercise independent judgement. All the Directors, including
the independent non-executive Directors, will be given equal opportunity
and channels to communicate and express their views to the Board and
have separate and independent access to the management of the Group
in order to make informed decisions. The chairman of the Board will
hold meetings with the independent non-executive Directors without the
involvement of other Directors at least annually to discuss any issues and
concerns. Any Director or his/her associate who has a conflict of interest
in a matter to be considered by the Board will be dealt with by a physical
Board meeting rather than by written resolutions. Such Director will be
required to declare his/her interests before the meeting and abstain from
voting and not counted towards the quorum on the relevant resolutions.
Independent non-executive Directors who, and whose associates, have
no interest in the matter should attend the Board meeting. The Board will
review regularly as to whether the mechanisms are effective in ensuring
that independent views and input are provided to the Board.

During the period from the Listing Date to 31 December 2023, no Board
meeting or general meeting was held.
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RESPONSIBILITIES, ACCOUNTABILITIES AND
CONTRIBUTIONS OF THE BOARD

The Board should assume responsibility for leadership and control of the
Company; and is collectively responsible for directing and supervising the
Company’s affairs.

The Board directly, and indirectly through its committees, leads and
provides direction to management by laying down strategies and
overseeing their implementation, monitors the Group’s operational and
financial performance, and ensures that sound internal control and risk
management systems are in place.

All Directors, including non-executive Directors and independent non-
executive Directors, have brought a wide spectrum of valuable business
experience, knowledge and professionalism to the Board for its efficient
and effective functioning. The independent non-executive Directors are
responsible for ensuring a high standard of regulatory reporting of the
Company and providing a balance in the Board for bringing effective
independent judgement on corporate actions and operations. All Directors
have full and timely access to all the information of the Company. The
Directors shall disclose to the Company details of other offices held by
them.

The Board reserves for its decision all major matters relating to policy
matters, strategies and budgets, internal control and risk management,
material transactions (in particular those that may involve conflict of
interests), financial information, appointment of Directors and other
significant operational matters of the Company. Responsibilities relating
to implementing decisions of the Board, directing and coordinating the
daily operation and management of the Company are delegated to the
management.

The Company has established a mechanism to ensure independent
views and advice are available to the Board through seeking the external
independent professional advice from legal advisers and auditor, as well
as the full attendance of all INEDs at all the meetings of the Board and
its relevant committees. The Board reviews the implementation and its
effectiveness of the aforementioned mechanisms on an annual basis.

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance coverage on Directors’
and officers’ liabilities in respect of any legal actions taken against
Directors and senior management arising out of corporate activities. The
insurance coverage would be reviewed on an annual basis.
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BOARD INDEPENDENCE EVALUATION

Since the Listing Date, the Board reviewed the implementation and
effectiveness of the mechanisms in place to ensure that independent
views and opinions are available to the Directors. Having considered the
following aspects, the Board considered that the Company maintained
an effective mechanism to ensure a potent and sufficient element of
independence in the Board:

there are three INEDs in the Board (representing one-third of the
Board), all of whom continued to devote sufficient time to the
Company; other Board Committees are also comprised sufficient
number of independent non-executive Directors to ensure that
independent views are available to each Board Committee;

the Board reviews its structure, size and composition (including
skills, knowledge, experience, gender balance and length of tenure)
and the implementation and effectiveness of the diversity policy at
least annually to maintain a balanced Director composition in the
Board;

the Nomination Committee assesses the independence of all INEDs
annually in accordance with the independence standards set out
in the Listing Rules to ensure that they are always able to exercise
independent judgment;

all Directors (including INEDs) have equal opportunities and
multiple channels to convey and express their independent views
and input to the Board and Board Committees;

all Directors (including INEDs) may request further data and
documentation from the management of the Company on matters
discussed at Board meetings;

all Directors may seek assistance from company secretary and
seek external independent professional advice at the Company'’s
expense;

all Directors (including INEDs) shall not vote on any Board
resolution approving any contract or arrangement in which he/she
or any of his/her associates has a material interest nor shall he/she
be counted in the quorum of the meeting; and

the Chairman of the Board should at least annually hold meetings
with the INEDs without the presence of other Directors to discuss
matters and address concerns.

The Board has delegated to the CEO and the senior management of the
Group the authority and responsibility for the day-to-day management
and operation of the Group and has the full support of them for discharge
of their responsibilities. The delegated functions and responsibilities are
periodically reviewed. Approval has to be obtained from the Board prior to
entering into any significant transactions.
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

The positions of chairman of the Board and the chief executive officer
of the Company are held by Mr. Lee Sheung Shing and Mr. Lee Kun Tai
Steven, respectively. The chairman of the Board provides leadership and is
responsible for the effective functioning and leadership of the Board. The
chief executive officer focuses on the Company’s business development
and daily management and operations generally.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

For the period from the Listing Date and up to 31 December 2023, the
Company has three INEDs in compliance with Rules 3.10(1) and 3.10(2)
of the Listing Rules, with at least one of them possessing appropriate
professional qualifications or accounting or related financial management
expertise. The number of INEDs is at least one third of the number of the
Board members. According to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules, each of Prof.
Hung Wai Man, Mr. Mak Wing Sum Alvin and Mr. Leung Ka Cheung,
being the INEDs as at 31 December 2023, have made confirmations to
the Company regarding their independence throughout from the Listing
Date and up to 31 December 2023. Based on the confirmations of such
INEDs, the Company considers each of them to be independent during the
Reporting Period.

APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

The code provision B.2.2 of the CG Code stipulates that every director
should be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years.
The procedures and process of appointment, re-election and removal of
Directors are laid down in the Articles of Association.

Each of our executive Directors and non-executive Directors has entered
into a service agreement with the Company for a term of three years
which may be terminated by not less than one months’ notice in writing
served by either party on the other.

Each of our INEDs has entered into a letter of appointment with the
Company for a term of three years, which may be terminated by not less
than one months’ notice in writing served by either party on the other.

All the Directors are subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at
the annual general meetings. Under the Articles of Association of the
Company, at each annual general meeting, one-third of the Directors
for the time being, or if their number is not three of a multiple of three,
the number nearest to but not less than one-third shall retire from office
by rotation provided that every Director shall be subject to retirement
by rotation at least once every three years. The Company’s Articles of
Association also provides that all Directors appointed to fill a casual
vacancy on the Board or as addition to the existing Board shall hold office
until the first annual general meeting after appointment. The retiring
Directors shall be eligible for re-election.

FERITBHEE

EFEEIFERAR A THAAR RS D BB
FRAENFRECEET EFETFES
LEEERENRBEELESE - TTHRER—
RBINARBNEHERARBREEERE
38 o

BEHITESE
HrmHEBEREZE - ZE-_=F+—-_A=+—H
B KRB BB IENITES  FE
MRAE3.101) R3.10Q)& - EhEL—%
B IENITEEAERHENEEERNEITH
HEPKEHEER - B IFMTESAHED
HEEEREABN=SZ— - *E%th%ﬁﬁu

F313MF R E-_=F+_-_A=+—8"
Q#ﬁﬁ%%ﬁ%iﬂ%\%*ﬁ%iﬁﬂﬁ

EXECHFEEAELIMAREREE S -=F
T A=+ — A HREABI R R TR
R e g#ui%ﬁiiF#ﬂ'fTﬁ%WﬁEum ! Z’S/L\\Ej

u/u/ﬁ“ﬂi\ Qﬁéiﬁi,ﬁﬁlﬂqﬁﬁi/\i °©
ZENREEES
PEERTASFAGXEB22IEHT - B4

EXRRVB=FRERE K BHREE-

BENEREFOREMEFHNEABEIZA
Bl

MITEESFMTES I BARRET LR
g - /=% AHEA—SRE—T#EE
PAOR—EAEEBRM T AR -

BYFANTEFHORBARBRILREK B
H=%  TREF— SRS HFEHTIR—
BEAEEBAT AL

FIEESANBRAFAS LHERERER
B - RIBARFEMERZMR - EEERIR
BEFEARGL ER=Zpz-BF(IMEFA

B FE=NEE - ARREOETIR=0Z
—WMABORRERT  HEEBREFARIE
=FWERE R - ARFABERAAITR

iE - BREERESERE ZRUENRE

EFEENENMAESNINEZREZOERE
ERRBFAER/IL - REEEHHAERE
BB

K CASH REBERAT 2023F

117

ANNNN\N



Corporate Governance Report 1> ¥%E 4TS

CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT OF
DIRECTORS

Directors shall keep abreast of regulatory developments and changes in
order to effectively perform their responsibilities and to ensure that their
contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant.

Directors should participate in appropriate continuing professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. The
Company has arranged training for its Directors and provided them with
reading material on relevant topics. Each Director has been provided with
necessary induction and information to ensure that he/she has a proper
understanding of the Company’s operations and businesses as well as his/
her responsibilities under relevant statues, laws, rules and regulations.

All Directors have been updated with the latest developments regarding
the Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory requirements to ensure
compliance and enhance their awareness of good corporate governance
practises. In addition, continuing briefing and professional development to
Directors will be arranged whenever necessary.

All Directors have complied with code provision C.1.4 of the CG Code
and participated in continuous professional development to develop and
refresh their knowledge and skills during the Reporting Period.
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CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT OF EENEFEEXEER(E)
DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

The training records of the Directors for the year ended 31 December HE_Z_=%®+_A=+—HILFE &=
2023 are summarized as follows: EVIE SRSt an T -

Type of TrainingVete

Directors E R
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Lee Kun Tai Steven PIREFRE A B
Ms. Wong Cheuk Sze \mEFNR LT A B
Non-Executive Directors FHTES A B
Mr. Lee Sheung Shing TEREE A B
Ms. Lee Pik Tsong FEBLL A'B
Ms. Chan Wing Sze PREKEF 22+ A B
Ms. Kan Pui Yan R 2+
Independent Non-Executive Directors BUFHTES
Prof. Hung Wai Man JP B RBRA T A B
Mr. Mak Wing Sum Alvin BOKRFEE A B
Mr. Leung Ka Cheung RREFE A B
Note: Hraz -
Types of Training 15 5ER
A: Attending induction training by Hong Kong lawyers for newly appointed A : BB RN BT (T B FERITHIA RIS R
Directors and other training sessions, including but not limited to briefings, Emizsl - BIEETRRERS  ig &
seminars, conferences and workshops #ER IS
B: Reading relevant news alerts, newspapers, journals, magazines and relevant B - FIEIBEIAT EIIERE - 3= - BT - Akat RAARS
publications it
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established four committees, namely, the Audit Committee,
Remuneration Committee, Nomination Committee and the Independent
Business Opportunity Assessment Committee, for overseeing particular
aspects of the Company’s affairs. All Board Committees of the Company
are established with specific written terms of reference which deal
clearly with their authority and duties. The terms of reference of the
Board Committees are posted on the Company’s website and the Stock
Exchange’s website.

Audit Committee

During the Reporting Period, the Audit Committee consisted of three
INEDs, namely, Mr. Leung Ka Cheung, Prof. Hung Wai Man JP and Mr.
Mak Wing Sum Alvin. Mr. Leung Ka Cheung, who holds the appropriate
professional qualifications as required under Rule 3.10(2) and Rule 3.21
of the Listing Rules, served as the chairman of the Audit Committee.
The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to review and supervise
the Company'’s financial reporting process and internal control and risk
management systems, to nominate and monitor external auditors, to
provide advice and comments to the Board on matters related to corporate
governance, and to perform other duties and responsibilities as assigned
by the Board. The written terms of reference of the Audit Committee are
available on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

During the period from the Listing Date to 31 December 2023, no Audit
Committee meeting was held.

Remuneration Committee

During the Reporting Period, the Remuneration Committee comprised five
members, namely Prof. Hung Wai Man JP, Mr. Lee Kun Tai Steven, Mr. Lee
Sheung Shing, Mr. Mak Wing Sum Alvin and Mr. Leung Ka Cheung, the
majority of them are INEDs. Prof. Hung Wai Man JP served as the chairman
of the Remuneration Committee. The primary duties of the Remuneration
Committee are to establish, review and offer advice to the Board on the
Company'’s policy and structure concerning remuneration of the Directors
and senior management of the Company and on the establishment of a
formal and transparent procedure for developing policies concerning such
remuneration, and to make recommendations to the Board on the terms
of the specific remuneration package of each executive Director and senior
management of the Company. The written terms of reference of the
Remuneration Committee are available on the websites of the Company
and the Stock Exchange.

During the period from the Listing Date to 31 December 2023, no
Remuneration Committee meeting was held.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (CONTINUED)
Nomination Committee

During the Reporting Period, the Nomination Committee comprised
five members, namely Mr. Lee Sheung Shing, Mr. Lee Kun Tai Steven,
Prof. Hung Wai Man JP, Mr. Mak Wing Sum Alvin and Mr. Leung Ka
Cheung, the majority of them are INEDs. Mr. Lee Sheung Shing served as
the chairman of the Nomination Committee. The primary duties of the
Nomination Committee are to review the structure, size and composition
of our Board and make recommendations to our Board regarding any
proposed changes to the composition of our Board, to identify, select
or make recommendations to our Board on the selection of individuals
nominated for directorships, to ensure diversity of our Board members,
to assess the independence of our independence of our INEDs and
make recommendations to our Board on relevant matters relating to
the appointment, re-appointment and removal of our Directors and
succession planning for our Directors. The written terms of reference of
the Nomination Committee are available on the websites of the Company
and the Stock Exchange.

During the period from the Listing Date to 31 December 2023, no
Nomination Committee meeting was held.

Independent Business Opportunity Assessment Committee

During the Reporting Period, the Independent Business Opportunity
Assessment Committee consists of four members, namely Ms. Wong
Cheuk Sze, Prof. Hung Wai Man JP, Mr. Mak Wing Sum Alvin and Mr.
Leung Ka Cheung. Mr. Mak Wing Sum Alvin served as the chairman of the
Independent Business Opportunity Assessment Committee. The primary
duties of the Independent Business Opportunity Assessment Committee
are to, among other matters, ensure that the Excluded Group NCU
given by the Excluded Group will be implemented strictly and effectively,
review, assess and consider matters related to the Excluded Group NCU,
and assess whether or not our Group has taken up the Referred Business
Opportunities and whether the Excluded Group NCU has been duly
implemented.

During the period from the Listing Date to 31 December 2023, no
Independent Business Opportunity Assessment Committee meeting was
held.
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

In order to enhance the effectiveness of the Board and to maintain the
high standard of corporate governance, we have adopted the board
diversity policy which sets out the objective and approach to achieve and
maintain diversity of the Board. Pursuant to the board diversity policy,
the Company seeks to achieve Board diversity through the consideration
of a number of factors when selecting the candidates to the Board,
including but not limited to gender, age, culture, education background,
ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service.
The ultimate decision of the appointment will be based on merit and the
contribution which the selected candidates will bring to the Board.

The Board comprises nine Directors, including two executive Directors,
four non-executive Directors and three INEDs. The Directors have a
balanced mix of knowledge and skills, including knowledge and skills in
the business of licensed money lending industry, finance and accounting.
They obtained degrees in various majors including commerce, accounting
and business administration. The Company has three INEDs with different
industry backgrounds, representing one-third of the members of the
Board. Furthermore, the Board comprises Directors of a wide range of age,
ranging from 44 years old to 86 years old. As at 31 December 2023, there
were four female Directors on the Board. The Board targets to maintain at
least the current level of female representation, with the ultimate goal of
achieving gender parity. The Company will continue to apply the principles
of appointments based on merits with reference to our board diversity
policy as a whole.

Among all the employee, of the Company, male and female employees
accounts for 50% and 50%, respectively. The Company believes that the
gender ratio in the workforce is balanced and within the reasonable range
and the Group will continue to maintain the gender diversity in workforce.

DIRECTOR NOMINATION POLICY

Our Board has adopted a nomination policy which sets out the selection
criteria and process in relation to the selection, appointment and re-
appointment of the Directors and aims to ensure that our Board has a
balance of skills, experience, knowledge and diversity of perspectives
appropriate to our Company’s business.

The nomination policy sets out the factors for assessing the suitability
and the potential contribution to our Board of a proposed candidate,
including but not limited to the following: (a) character and integrity;
(b) qualifications including professional qualifications, skills, knowledge
and experience and diversity aspects under our board diversity policy
that are relevant to our Company’s business and corporate strategy; (c)
requirement for our Board to have INEDs in accordance with the Listing
Rules and whether the candidate would be considered independence with
reference to the independence criteria set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules; (d) potential contributions the candidate can bring to our Board
in terms of qualifications, skills, experience, independence and gender
diversity; and (e) the willingness and ability to devote adequate time to
discharge duties as a member of our Board of our Company.
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REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

Our Directors and senior management receive compensation in the form
of fees, salaries, contributions to pension schemes, other allowances,
other benefits in kind and/or discretionary bonuses with reference to those
paid by comparable companies, time commitment and performance of
our Directors and senior management, as well as the performance of our
Group. Our Group regularly reviews and determines the remuneration
and compensation packages of our Directors and senior management
by reference to, among other things, market level of remuneration and
compensation paid by comparable companies, respective responsibilities
of our Directors and senior management and performance of our
Group. The remuneration policy for INEDs is to ensure that INEDs are
adequately compensated for their efforts and time dedicated to the
Company’s affairs, including their participation in Board committees.
The remuneration for the INEDs mainly comprises Director’s fee which is
determined with reference to their duties and responsibilities by the Board.
Individual Directors and senior management have not been involved in
deciding their own remuneration.

Details of the remuneration by band of the members of the senior
management of our Company for the Reporting Period are set out below:
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The remuneration of each Director and the chief executive are set out in ~ FEF L& THA B NEHMEN 4G4 B5R
note 7 to the consolidated financial statements. EUEYE

For the Reporting Period, no emolument was paid by our Group to any
Directors or any of the five highest paid individuals as inducement to join
or upon joining our Group as compensation for loss of office.

For the Reporting Period, none of the Directors has waived or agreed to
waive any emoluments.
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY IN RESPECT OF THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing the
financial statements of the Company for the Reporting Period. The
Directors are responsible for overseeing the preparation of financial
statements of the Company with a view to ensuring that such financial
statements give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group
and relevant statutory and regulatory requirements and applicable
accounting standards are complied with. The Board has received from the
senior management the management accounts and such accompanying
explanation and information as are necessary to enable the Board to make
an informed assessment for approving the financial statements. As at 31
December 2023, the Board was not aware of any material uncertainties
relating to events or conditions that might cast significant doubt on the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern. The responsibility of the
external auditor is to form an independent opinion, based on their audit,
on those consolidated financial statements prepared by the Board and
to report their opinion to the Shareholders. The statements by external
auditor, PricewaterhouseCoopers, about their reporting responsibility
on the consolidated financial statements of the Group are set out in the
independent auditor’s report in this annual report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board recognizes that corporate governance should be the collective
responsibility of Directors which include:

o to formulate and review the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance and make recommendations to the Board,;

o to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management;

o to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

° to formulate, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and Directors;
and

o to review the Company’s compliance with the Listing Rules and

disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.

ESHHEUBHRERNET

EEERRFAEEREARANHEHRAN
EHEK - EFREEBEAR AP BRERNMR
2 BHEERABMBHEREEMSSHBRMR
AEEMER  WETHBEEMEERTEN
MERETER - EEgC R REEERM
HNEZ SR EMBREFLANEFEMNS
B EOEIEMR B AN R ER - N
E_=F+-A=1+—H EF2ATHEME
MBS AEESELERNELEASR
BEEHHBERNERTEERR SRR
EAE ERRERENERHESTEMRRZ
ERAMBHRRERBUBR  YRRRER
BERER - BRSNS ZEED (& ERUKE S
Bh =R P ) AR EAR A M RRBHRE LN
BN ANFRBLAZBANRS -

ERERREE
EEERAH  CEOARBEFORANML
B

. 1 MR AR R M R EABR L E
B WRABERSRIES

. ma REREELSREEENETIK
FEEERR

o BERERAAREETEEREEH
S EMEE R ER

. HE - A REREE REFEMANR
SR RARFMIE) - Rk

. WA AREEST ETRANBERREDR
EERMERNIE -

124 K CASH CORPORATION LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2023



Corporate Governance Report (b2 &4

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS

Our Board is responsible for our Company’s risk management and internal
control systems and for reviewing their effectiveness at least annually.
Such systems are designed to manage rather than eliminate risks of failure
to achieve the business objectives of our Group and to only provide
reasonable and not absolute assurance against material misstatement or
loss.

During the Reporting Period, our Board supervised the design,
implementation and monitoring of the risk management and internal
control systems, and reviewed the adequacy and effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control systems of our Group on an ongoing
basis; such review covered all major control aspects of our Group,
including financial, operational and compliance controls. Our Board is
of the view that the risk management and internal control systems of
our Company for the year ended December 31, 2023 is effective and
adequate.

The Company has an internal audit function to focus on the adequacy
and effectiveness of its risk management and internal control systems.
Our Group's risk management and internal control systems covered each
operation department, to ensure that our Group could effectively manage
the key factors that might affect our Group in achieving its strategic
objectives, such factors including events, accidents or behaviors with
a material impact on our Group's reputation, assets, capital, profit or
liquidity.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS
(CONTINUED)

Our Company has adopted a consolidated set of risk management policies
which set out a risk management framework to identify, assess, evaluate
and monitor key risks associated with our strategic objectives on an on-
going basis. Our audit committee and ultimately our Directors supervise
the implementation of our risk management policies. Risks identified by
our management will be analyzed on the basis of likelihood and impact,
and will be properly followed up and mitigated and rectified by our Group
and reported to our Directors. We have adopted or will continue to adopt,
among other things, the following principles:

(a) establish an audit committee to review and supervise our financial
reporting process and internal control system;

(b) adopt various policies to ensure the compliance with the Listing
Rules, including but not limited to policies in respect of risk
management, connected transactions and information disclosure;

(0 appoint Ms. Lai Siu Kuen as our company secretary to ensure the
compliance of our operation with applicable laws and regulations;

(d) appoint China Everbright Capital Limited as our compliance
advisors upon the Listing to advise us on compliance with the
Listing Rules;

(e) engage external legal advisors to advise us on compliance with the
Listing Rules and to ensure our compliance with relevant regulatory
requirements and applicable laws, where necessary;

() provide regular anti-corruption, anti-bribery, anti-money laundering
and sanctions related compliance training for senior management
and employees in order to enhance their knowledge of and
compliance with applicable laws and regulations, our Company'’s
anti-corruption policy, whistleblowing policy and other relevant
policies; and

(9) arrange our Directors and senior management to attend training
seminars on the Listing Rules requirements and the responsibilities
as directors and senior management of a Hong Kong-listed
company.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS
(CONTINUED)

In accordance with the requirements of the SFO and the Listing Rules,
our Group shall disclose to the public any inside information as soon as
possible after such information comes to the attention of our Group,
unless such information is within the scope under any safe harbours
provision in the SFO. Our Group will ensure such information will be
kept confidential before it is fully announced to the public. If our Group
considers that the confidentiality required cannot be kept, or such
information may have leaked already, such information will be disclosed to
the public immediately. We also endeavour to ensure that the information
contained in the announcement shall not be deceptive or misleading in
all material aspects, and there are no other material matters the omission
of which would make the information contained therein to be deceptive
or misleading, such that the insider information disclosed can be made
available to the public in an equal, timely and effective manner. In
addition, if there is any significant risk events, the related information will
be disclosed to appropriate authorities and personnel, so that appropriate
decisions and measures can be made and implemented by our Group to
deal with such risk events. Meanwhile, in order to further develop the
risks management culture of the enterprise, as well as to enhance the risk
awareness of our staff, our Group has already rolled out training programs
to enhance the risk awareness of our staff, so that we can assure to
maintain the balance between business expansion and risks management
in our operation.
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AUDITORS' REMUNERATION

The financial statements contained in this annual report have been
audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers. The remuneration paid/payable to
the external auditors of the Company in respect of audit services and non-
audit services is set out below:

Service Category BRI

H 4 6 557 B

AERFRABREC BELRAERHTE
BB - RELRY RIFBRREEN,
BEONSPIN 2o GIEE I P

Fees Paid/Payable
HKS$

BN ENER
BT

Audit Services EAZ RS 1,100,000
Non-audit Services IEEIZ RIS 95,000
Total st 1,195,000

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company has appointed Lai Siu Kuen (“Ms. Lai”) as its company
secretary. Ms. Lai is a director of the corporate services department of
Tricor Services Limited and is in close collaboration and connection with
Ms. Lin Ching Man, the chief financial officer of the Company. For the
year ended 31 December 2023, Ms. Lai has undertaken not less than 15
hours of relevant professional training in compliance with Rule 3.29 of the
Listing Rule.
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

The Company believes that effective communication with Shareholder
is essential to enhance investor relations and to keep investors informed
of the Group’s business performance and strategies. The Company has
established various and a wide range of communication channels with
Shareholders, including general meeting, annual results and interim
results, annual and interim reports, announcements and circulars. To
facilitate the communication between the Company and investors, the
Company holds meetings, briefings and roadshows with investors and
analysts from time to time. Shareholders may make enquiries with the
Company through channels mentioned below, and provide comments and
recommendations to the Directors or managements at any time. Upon
receipt of written enquiries from Shareholders, the Company will make
actual responses to the Shareholders as soon as possible.

In addition, the Company updates its website from time to time to keep
the Shareholders update of the recent development of the Company. The
Company endeavours to maintain an ongoing dialogue with Shareholders.
At the annual general meeting, the Directors (or their delegates as
appropriate) will be available to meet with the Shareholders and answer
their enquiries. Since the Listing Date, all corporate communications and
regulatory announcements were published by the Company on its website
and the website of the Stock Exchange in a timely manner. Based on a
review of the initiatives taken as mentioned above, the Board considers
that the shareholders communication policy is effective during the period
from the Listing Date and up to 31 December 2023.

Procedures for Shareholders to convene an extraordinary
general meeting

According to Article 58 of the Articles of Association, general meetings
can be convened on the written requisition of any one or more members
holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not less than 10% of
the voting rights, on a one vote per share basis, of the issued Shares
which as at that date carrying the right to vote at general meetings of
the Company. The requisition must state the objects and the resolutions
to be added to the agenda of the meeting and must be signed by the
requisitionists and deposited at the principal office of the Company in
Hong Kong. If within 21 days of such deposit the Directors fail to proceed
to convene such meeting the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may
themselves convene a general meeting, but any meeting so convened shall
be held no later than the day which falls three months after the expiration
of the said 21-day period.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS (CONTINUED)

Procedures and contact details for putting forward proposals
at Shareholders’ meeting

The annual general meeting and other general meetings provide an
important opportunity for Shareholders to express their views and
the Company encourages and promotes Shareholder attendance and
participation at general meetings. The Board members, in particular,
the chairman or his delegates, appropriate members of management
team and external auditors of the Company will attend annual general
meetings to answer Shareholders’ questions. Shareholders attending the
annual general meeting and other general meetings are allowed to have
a reasonable opportunity to ask questions regarding the items on the
meeting agenda, including but not limiting to questions to the external
auditor regarding the conduct of the audit and the preparation and
content of the auditor’s report.

The procedures by which enquiries may be put to the Board

and sufficient contact details to enable these enquiries to be
properly directed

If you have any query in connection with your shareholding, please write
to or contact the Company’s Hong Kong share registrar, Tricor Investor
Services Limited, at:

Address: 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong

Tel: (852) 2980 1333

Fax: (852) 2810 8185

To contact the Company in relation to your query about the Company,
the contact details are as follows:

Address: 17/F, Wheelock House, 20 Pedder Street, Central Hong Kong
(For the attention of the Board of Directors)

Tel: (852) 21111 211

Fax: (852) 3568 9832

Email: ir@kcash.hk
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTOR RELATIONS

Our Company considers that effective communication with the
Shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and
understanding of our Group’s business, performance and strategies. Our
Company also recognizes the importance of timely and non-selective
disclosure of information, which will enable Shareholders and investors to
make the informed investment decisions.

The AGM of our Company provides opportunity for the Shareholders to
communicate directly with the Directors. The Chairman of our Company
and the chairmen of our Board committees of our Company will attend
the AGM to answer Shareholders’ questions. The Auditor will also attend
the AGM to answer questions about the conduct of the audit, the
preparation and content of the auditor’s report, the accounting policies
and auditor independence.

To promote effective communication, our Company adopts a
shareholders’ communication policy which aims at establishing a two-
way relationship and communication between our Company and the
Shareholders and maintains a website of our Company at www.kcash.hk,
where up-to-date information on our Company’s business operations and
developments, financial information, corporate governance practices and
other information are available for public access. Our Board has reviewed
the implementation of the shareholders’ communication policy and
considers its implementation as effective.

Pursuant to Rule 2.07A of the Listing Rules, the Company will
disseminate the future corporate communications of the Company
(the "Corporate Communications”) to Shareholders electronically and
only send Corporate Communications in printed form to Shareholders
upon request. The Company will make the Corporate Communications
available on its website (www.kcash.hk) and the Stock Exchange’s website
(www.hkexnews.hk).

CHANGE IN CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

Our Company adopted amended and restated Memorandum and Articles
of Association on 31 October 2023, which has been effective from the
Listing Date. There was no change in the said Memorandum and Articles
of Association since the Listing Date and up to the date of this annual
report.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
YR LT S

To the Shareholders of K Cash Corporation Limited
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION
What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of K Cash Corporation Limited (the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”), which are set out on
pages 141 to 244, comprise:

the consolidated balance sheet as at 31 December 2023;

o the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year
then ended;

o the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then
ended;

° the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended;
and

o the notes to the consolidated financial statements, comprising
material accounting policy information and other explanatory
information.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2023, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the
Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code
of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters.

The key audit matter identified in our audit is the provision for expected
credit losses on loan receivables.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

Key Audit Matter

RREREE

BREXER(E)

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BN ERNTEEBRERSEIR

Provision for expected credit losses on loan receivables

Refer to notes 2.2.2, 3.1(b) and 15 to the consolidated
financial statements.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group has gross loan
receivables of HK$1,073,847,000 and provision for
expected credit losses (“ECL") on loan receivables of
HK$109,455,000.

The Group applies the “three-stage” approach on loan
receivables to provide for ECL as outlined in HKFRS 9.
Management determines the ECL on loan receivables using
the risk parameter modelling approach that incorporates
certain key parameters including probability of default, loss
given default and exposure at default.

The measurement of ECL for loan receivables involves
significant management judgement and estimations,
primarily including:

- Segmentation of loans based on credit risk
characteristics, types of unsecured loans, selection
of appropriate models and determination of relevant
key measurement parameters;

- Criteria for determining whether or not there were
significant increase in credit risk or default, or credit-
impaired loans; and

- Economic indicators for forward-looking
measurement and the application of probability
weighted scenarios.

Our procedures in relation to management’s determination
of provision for expected credit losses on loan receivables
include:

- We understood and evaluated management’s
processes, and validated on a sampling basis
the key internal controls in connection with the
provision for ECL. We assessed the inherent risk of
material misstatement by considering the degree of
estimation uncertainty and level of other inherent
risk factors such as complexity, subjectivity, changes
and susceptibility to management bias or fraud,;

- We performed retrospective review to evaluate the
provision for ECL determined by management at
the end of the prior reporting period by comparing
with the actual outcome subsequently to assess
the effectiveness of management’s estimation
processes;

- We engaged internal experts with experience in
ECL modelling to assess the appropriateness of
methodologies of the ECL models;

- We evaluated the criteria applied by management
to determine whether there was significant increase
in credit risk or default in the ECL models;

- We evaluated and challenged the appropriateness
of key parameters applied by management in the
calculation of ECL including probability of default,
loss given default, forward-looking adjustments and
other significant factors;
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED) BREREIE(E)
Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

Key Audit Matter

BREZER

BREXER(E)

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BEMNELNAEERRELRSE

We focused on this area as the carrying values of the
gross loan receivables and the provision for ECL on loan
receivables are material to the consolidated financial
statements, and the Group adopted valuation models
to determine the provision for ECL on loan receivables
that required the use of parameters and data inputs, and
involved significant judgments and estimates.
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- We tested, on a sampling basis, the accuracy of the

loan receivables aging by due dates applied in the
ECL models at the end of the reporting period, and
assessed the classification of loans with significant
increase in credit risk or default, or credit-impaired
loans based on the loan receivables aging by due
dates;

- We tested, on a sampling basis, the key inputs of loan
data and loan repayment records applied in the ECL
models;

- We performed statistical analysis to assess the
relevance of the forward-looking factors selected by
management and applied in the ECL models; and

- We re-performed management’s calculation of the
provision for ECL on loan receivables determined using
the ECL models to assess the mathematical accuracy.

Based on the procedures performed above, we considered
management’s judgement on the determination of provision
for ECL on loan receivables were supportable by available
evidence.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises all of the information included in the
K Cash Corporation Limited Annual Report 2023 (the “annual report”)
other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon. We have obtained some of the other information including
Corporate Information and Biographical Details of Directors and Senior
Management prior to the date of this auditor’s report. The remaining
other information, including Financial Highlights, Chairman’s Statement,
Management’s Discussion and Analysis, Corporate Governance Report,
Directors’ Report, Environmental, Social and Governance Report and other
sections (if any) to be included in the annual report, is expected to be
made available to us after that date.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit,
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a
material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report
that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

When we read the remaining other information to be included in the
annual report, if we conclude that there is a material misstatement
therein, we are required to communicate the matter to Audit Committee
and take appropriate action considering our legal rights and obligations.
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THE AUDIT
COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as a
body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.
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AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in
our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However,
future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to
continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.
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AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group
to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements.
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance
of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit
opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report
unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should
not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of
doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Ng Ka Ho.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 22 March 2024
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

FeEZEBRR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE—Z - =F+_-FA=+—HILFE

2023 2022
—EB-=f T
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FHET T
Interest income FLEUA 5 248,734 233,944
Interest expenses FERX 9 (25,182) (22,963)
Net interest income FEU A FEE 223,552 210,981
Other income HAbA 5 4,959 10,094
Other gains/(losses), net Hhlas/(E518)F8E 5 84 (174)
Selling expenses HERX 6 (24,808) (34,375)
General and administrative expenses ~— —#& 1T F 2 6 (80,815) (66,134)
Expected credit losses, net TRHE B EERFHE (55,757) (37,672)
Operating profit B RF 67,215 82,720
Other finance cost H A& A 9 (475) (803)
Profit before income tax R P 18 84 A & A 66,740 81,917
Income tax expense FriSHiF sz 10 (15,174) (14,052)
Profit and total comprehensive FRBEMNRZEBRA
income for the year pab-c] 51,566 67,865
Earnings per share for the year FRERER
Basic and diluted (HK cents) FLAR R #5E (B 1) 11 13.42 18.10
The above consolidated statement of comprehensive income should be  F#it4R & % 1 U &S 2% & 22 [B] & M Bt 55 — 0 5
read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. B o
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Consolidated Balance Sheet

FERERRR

As at 31 December 2023 R=Z=-=4F+=-A=+—H

2023 APV
—E_=F —EFE-—
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET T
ASSETS BE
Cash and cash equivalents BENIRESEEY 17 218,368 24,131
Amounts due from fellow subsidiaries U [F] ZHTE A FIFIE 27 236 90,224
Amounts due from related parties JE Uy FE B 5 TkIE 27 82 638
Amount due from a director e — R ZEEFIE 27 - 575
Loan receivables e E TR 15 964,392 913,815
Prepayments, deposits and TERFIE - ek
other receivables H A EUGRIR 16 12,608 12,132
Repossessed assets &l 61 = 19 16,445 5,795
Income tax recoverable EEEEEEY - 119
Deferred income tax assets REFTISTHEE 18 18,909 17,380
Property, plant and equipment MEE - HEER K ERIE 13 3,008 3,537
Right-of-use-assets FHEEE 23 7,549 18,961
Total assets EEHAE 1,241,597 1,087,307
EQUITY =
Equity attributable to the RATEE AEN
owners of the Company s
Share capital i@ 20 50 —*
Reserves i 880,840 720,539
Total equity ERBE 880,890 720,539
@ Below HK$1,000 * 1ER1,0008 7T

|18 2R & R BB P P 3£ — 61 B9

The above consolidated balance sheet should be read in conjunction with
the accompanying notes.
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Consolidated Balance Sheet 4R 5 B EEEX

As at 31 December 2023 R=Z==%F+=-A=+—H

2023 APV
—E_=F —EFE-—
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAT
LIABILITIES =it
Amount due to the ultimate holding  FEfT & ARIZERL A B
company FOR 27 13 84
Amount due to the immediate holding & EEIERR A A
company IE 27 - 10,500
Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries FEf R B B A R IE 27 99 -
Amounts due to related parties FEAS BAESE 5 5 0E 27 - 28,486
Accruals and other payables FEETE A R Efth BT RIE 21 8,977 5,481
Income tax payable ER TS H 2,459 -
Bank and other borrowings RITREMEE 22 342,629 303,095
Lease liabilities HEBE 23 6,530 19,122
Total liabilities BEH5 360,707 366,768
Total equity and liabilities EEraEAHE 1,241,597 1,087,307

The consolidated financial statements on pages 141 to 244 were approved %141 2244 B4R MIEHREN SN F
by the Board of Directors on 22 March 2024 and were signed on its =A-+-—HEEZEZEHE WHEFSNRE

behalf. BE
Mr. Lee Sheung Shing Mr. Lee Kun Tai, Steven
FRESLE FREFLE
Director Director
EE EE

The above consolidated balance sheet should be read in conjunction with
the accompanying notes.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
TeERBIR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE—Z - =F+_-FA=+—HILFE

Share Share Capital Retained
capital premium reserve earnings Total
RA RADEE EXfE  REEA @t
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
HeF THT THL AL THT TET
Balance at 1 January 2022 R-Z--%-A4
— B - —* 20,000 632,674 652,674
Comprehensive income: 2HEMA :
Profit for the year FRRER - - - 67,865 67,365
Balance at 31 December 2022 R-E-—%+=A
=t+—-BHEH —* - 20,000 700,539 720,539
Balance at 1 January 2023 R=Z==%—A4
— AM4eh —* -* 20,000 700,539 720,539
Comprehensive income: ZEBA :
Profit for the year FRRER - - - 51,566 51,566
Capitalization of shares Bk 20(c) 37 (37) = = =
Issuance of new share pursuantto  #&fk (D 24817
the share offer Hiktn 20(d) 13 224,987 - - 225,000
Listing expense charged to share ARG ERHGRH
premium Naiil 5 - (16,215) = = (16,215)
Dividends e 24 - - - (100,000) (100,000)
Balance at 31 December 2023 R-BE-=%1+=A
=+-BWEH 50 208,735 20,000 652,105 880,890
@ Below HK$1,000 * 18R1,00078 7T

The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should be read in |t 45 & #E 25 2 Sh 3% 8 52 7] B8 B9 B 55 — G B
conjunction with the accompanying notes. Fid
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

FElaRER

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE—Z - =F+_-FA=+—HILFE

2023 2022
—8=-= —F-
HK$'000 HK$'000
TER THIT
Cash flows from operating activities RETHHRLSRE
Cash generated from operations REEHS 25(a) 43,718 200,776
Interest paid BRI (22,482) (22,963)
Income tax paid BFTER (14,125) (8,559)
Net cash generated from operating activities & & BN /214 %58 7,111 169,254
Cash flows from investing activities RETHEESHE
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BB ¥% - 2N EE 13 (1,463) (1,479)
Repayments from/(advances to) RZMNBARIER
fellow subsidiaries (MRZKE A RARAIFIE) 90,645 (109,772)
Repayments from/(advances to) related parties Z8R 77185/ ([FIREHE /7 (508 ) 556 (366)
Repayment from a director —BEEEX 17 100
Proceeds from disposals of property, plant and HE¥Z - #25 MR EME
equipment I 25(c) 360 96
Bank interest received BUERITHE 505 7
Net cash generated from/(used in) REEEME/ (FR)
investing activities Be a8 90,620 (111,414)
Cash flows from financing activities METHHESRE
Repayments of bank borrowings EERITEE 25(b) (375,876) (462,498)
Proceeds from bank borrowings RITEEMEHA 25(b) 414,125 437,490
Payment of principal elements of lease liabilities % (178 & & EH A H 5 25(b) (11,209) (12,447)
Payment of interest elements of lease liabilities % <78 & & &M 2555 25(b) (475) (803)
Payment of listing expenses to be capitalized EA(v AR EHEY
into equity (NE (14,587) (1,628)
(Repayment to)/advances from (RISEIERARER),/
the ultimate holding company AR A R BN TR 25(b) (71) 54
Repayments to the immediate holding R EEER A EER
company 25(b) (10,500) (4,627)
Repayments to fellow BIEES NG
subsidiaries 25(b) - (13,389)
Repayments to related parties IR 77 K 25(b) (29,901) (4,806)
Proceed from the Listing TSR 20(d) 225,000 =
Dividend paid BEARE 24 (100,000) -
Net cash generated from/(used in) financing ~ B&EEIFE,/(FTH)H
activities peck] 96,506 (62,654)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash  RERBRLZEYEM (FL)
equivalents BEE 194,237 (4,814)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year £ 4 kIR EZEY 24,131 28,945
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year FREERBEZEEY 17 218,368 24,131

The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be read in il A IR S 7k E 5 EERBEMH 3 — G163
conjunction with the accompanying notes. i o
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Notes to the Historical Financial Information

B MR FE

1

GENERAL INFORMATION AND
REORGANIZATION

1.1

1.2

General information

K Cash Corporation Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 25 October 2022,
as an exempted company with limited liability under the
Companies Act, Cap. 22 (Act 3 of 1961, as combined
and revised) of the Cayman Islands. The address of the
Company'’s principal place of business is 17/F, Wheelock
House, 20 Pedder Street, Central, Hong Kong.

The Company is an investment holding company and its
subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) are principally engaged
in providing unsecured loans in Hong Kong.

The shares of the Company were listed on the Main Board
of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) on 5 December 2023 (the “Listing”).

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Hong Kong dollars (“HK$"), which is the Company’s
functional and the Group's presentation currency.

Reorganization

Prior to the incorporation of the Company and the
completion of the reorganization (the “Reorganization”)
as described below, the unsecured property owner loan
and SME loan business (“Unsecured Property Owner Loan
and SME Loan Business”) and the unsecured personal
loan business (“Unsecured Personal Loan Business”) were
carried out by K Cash Express Limited (“K Cash Express”)
and K Cash Limited (“K Cash”) (collectively the “Operating
Companies”) respectively.

The Operating Companies were controlled collectively by
Mr. Lee Kun Tai, Steven, Mr. Lee Sheung Shing and Ms. Lee
Pik Tsong (collectively the “Controlling Shareholders”).

In preparing for the listing of the Company’s shares on the
Stock Exchange, the Group underwent the Reorganization
which principally involved the following steps:

1

—RERREA

1.1

1.2

—RER

K Cash&EBR AR ([AAF])
R-E-_—_F+A=-+HAR
BHRESHEEFIFE2ENTE
(—NR—FE35EH - &4
Bt RIER]) ER S S ML
BERPHR AT - AAAIE
DS MBI AT ERIR
ZITH0MSEERE17IE -

ARBRREER AR - HE
MEAR(REIAKxE]) EE
REBNRFREEEFER -

ARNAROR_E_=F+=
ARABEEBBARSFTAR
AR ([BRFT ) ER EM (T E
ml) e

REMBRERABIT(ET])
2% BTAARBNINEE
BERAEENZIEE

B4

AR R FEM AR S & T At
EHA(EHA])STHAT - FEE R
XFERRPNEERER
([EEREFERRFPNEE
REB]) REEMLAERE
B EERLABREBL]D S
AIEK Cash Express Limited ([ K
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Notes to the Historical Financial Information &

1

B ERKIRE

GENERAL INFORMATION AND
REORGANIZATION (CONTINUED)

1.2

Reorganization (Continued)

On 25 October 2022, the Company was incorporated in the
Cayman Islands and allotted all its shares to Konew Fintech
Corporation Limited (“Konew Fintech”), the immediate
holding company under common control of the Controlling
Shareholders.

On 28 October 2022, K Cash Express (BVI) Limited
("K Cash Express (BVI)") was incorporated in the British
Virgin Islands with its one share allotted and issued to the
Company.

On 24 March 2023, the entire issued share capital of
K Cash Express held by Konew Credit Corporation Limited
("Konew Credit”), a fellow subsidiary of the Company
under common control of the Controlling Shareholders,
was transferred to K Cash Express (BVI) for a consideration
of HK$20,000,000.

On 24 March 2023, the entire issued share capital of
K Cash (BVI) Limited (“K Cash (BVI)") held by Konew
Fintech, the immediate holding company, was transferred
to the Company for a consideration of US$1.

Immediately upon completion of the said transfer, K Cash
Express (BVI) and K Cash (BVI) became the wholly-owned
subsidiaries of the Company.

After the completion of the Reorganization steps described
above, the Company became the holding company of the
subsidiaries now comprising the Group.

1

—REMREAH)

1.2
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Notes to the Historical Financial Information 873 Bf 75 &k i 5F

2

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND CHANGES IN
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

2.1

Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have
been prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs"”) issued by the HKICPA and
the disclosure requirement of the Hong Kong Company
Ordnance Cap. 622. The consolidated financial statements
of the Group have been prepared under the historical cost
convention.

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements
in conformity with HKFRSs requires the use of certain
critical accounting estimates. It also requires management
to exercise its judgement in the process of applying
the Group’s accounting policies. The areas involving
a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas
where assumptions and estimates are significant to the
consolidated financial statements are disclosed in Note 4.

(a) New and amended standards adopted by the
Group.
The Group has applied the followings new and

amended standards for the annual reporting period
commencing 1 January 2023:

HKAS 1 and
HKFRS Practice
Statement 2

Disclosure of Accounting
Policies (amendments)

HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting
Estimates (amendments)

HKAS 12 International Tax Reform —
Pillar Two Model Rules
(amendments)

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts

HKFRS 17 Amendments to HKFRS 17

HKFRS 17 Initial Application of HKFRS 17

and HKFRS 9 — Comparative
Information

The new standards and amendments to existing
standards listed above did not have any impact on
the amounts recognized in prior periods and are not
expected to significantly affect the current or future
periods.
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Notes to the Historical Financial Information &

2

BEMBERME

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND CHANGES IN
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Basis of preparation (Continued)

2.1

(b)

New standards, amendments to standards and
interpretation issued but are not yet effective for
the annual reporting period commencing 1 January
2023 and have not been early adopted by the
Group:

2

mEE

(%
2.1

&)

SRR E

mREE(F)

(b)

Amendment to HKAS 1

BESFEREIRUERTAR)
Amendments to HKAS 1

B EEERFE 15 (BRTAN)
Amendments to HKFRS 16

BANBRERAE 165
(ERIA)
HK Int 5 (2020)

E/%ﬂ%*gﬁsiﬁ(— == EE)

Amendments to HKAS 7 and
HKFRS 7

BEASHERETR R
BT HHREERE

Amendments to HKAS 21

B ERENE21R(ERTA)

HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28

BRMBMELEAF 105 R
BB G ERIF 28

75 (ERTA)

Classification of Liabilities as Current or
Non-current (amendments)

H—f@F’\iﬁﬁumiﬁj@#méﬁ(f uT$)

Non-current Liabilities with Covenants
(amendments)

MR AERIEREBE (BRI A)

Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback
(amendments)

ERACDNAERAEVERTA)

Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)
Presentation of Financial Statements —
Classification by the Borrower of a Term
Loan that Contains a Repayment on
Demand Clause (HK Int 5(2020))

BERBEST (—T_TF)MBHRRM
25— ERAH B FRERERIERDN
mﬁﬁla AN DR (BEBREESHR
(ZZ2=%%F))

Supplier Finance Arrangements
(amendments)

HERRELZH(ERIA)

Lack of Exchangeability (amendments)

Bz Al AR (18R] A)

Sale or Contribution of Assets between
an Investor and its Associate or Joint
Venture (amendments)

KEEHEEBENRNEEREZHN
BEHEIHFEA

According to the preliminary assessment by the
directors, the Group expected that these new
standards, amendments and interpretation to
existing standards do not have any significant
impact to its financial position and performance
and have not been early adopted by the Group. The
Group expects to adopt the relevant new standards,
amendments and interpretation to existing
standards when they become effective.

K CASH REBERAT 2023F

EEAER T =
— A —HRABRNFER
2 AR M R AR B R
NEEIR PRI TR E
Bl « B R REBERIA

Effective for
accounting periods
beginning on or after

RUT B#g 2%
BB EHREEN

1 January 2024

—TomE—-A—H
1 January 2024

—Z-MmE—HR—H
1 January 2024

—F-M&—-A—R

1 January 2024

—TmFE-A—H

1 January 2024
—TmFE-A—H

1 January 2025
—ZT_h¥—HA—H

To be determined
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Notes to the Historical Financial Information 873 Bf 75 &k i 5F

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured
entities) over which the Group has control. The
Group controls an entity when the Group is
exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from
its involvement with the entity and has the ability to
affect those returns through its power to direct the
activities of the entity.

Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealized
gains on transactions between group companies
are eliminated. Unrealized losses are also eliminated
unless the transaction provides evidence of an
impairment of the transferred asset. Accounting
policies of subsidiaries have been changed where
necessary to ensure consistency with the policies
adopted by the Group.

Non-controlling interests in the results and equity of
subsidiaries are shown separately in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income, consolidated
statement of changes in equity and consolidated
balance sheet respectively.

Changes in ownership interests in subsidiaries
without change of control

Transactions with non-controlling interests that
do not result in a loss of control are accounted
for as equity transactions — that is, as transactions
with the owners of the subsidiary in their capacity
as owners. The difference between fair value of
any consideration paid and the relevant share
acquired of the carrying amount of net assets of
the subsidiary is recorded in equity. Gains or losses
on disposals to non-controlling interests are also
recorded in equity.

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND CHANGES IN 2 IREEERETTBERE
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) (&)
2.2 Material accounting policy information 22 EXRSHBXER
2.2.1 Principles of combination and equity 221 SHRAIREREE
accounting
Subsidiaries =N

MEBAREAREYE
mAEEGIEORA RS
(REEBILEER) - B
AEBEEE2BRERN
AEERESAER
HABENEBEE

ERERADNENT
BUFOFH - AAKH
oT == [l

EBARFIMERS - &
HEEERRARR S A
BHEWE T IAEHE - &
HERZBRECEREE
HIRE - BRIRER
BEMT AL - B
NAN G BRE R
Z I E L B ) AR R
RERBBRAMRAER — 2K

(R=PNCIE S -PSE: Fates
B IR P2 IO 25 0 Bl S
BEENRER  HER
ERPEBIIR -

WA B B
R EEEE

NS B HUREEIER
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Notes to the Historical Financial Information 873 Bf 75 &k i 5F

2

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND CHANGES IN
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Material accounting policy information

2.2

(Continued)

2.2.2 Financial assets

2.2.2.1

Classification

The classification depends on the Group’s
business model for managing the financial
assets and the contractual terms of the cash
flows.

Where the business model is to hold assets
to collect contractual cash flows or to collect
contractual cash flows and sell, the Group
assesses whether the financial instruments’
cash flows represent solely payments of
principal and interest (“SPPI”). In making this
assessment, the Group considers whether
the contractual cash flows are consistent
with a basic lending arrangement i.e. interest
includes only consideration for the time value
of money, credit risk, other basic lending
risks and a profit margin that is consistent
with a basic lending arrangement. Where the
contractual terms introduce exposure to risk
or volatility that are inconsistent with a basic
lending arrangement, the related financial
asset is classified and measured at fair value
through profit or loss.
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Notes to the Historical Financial Information 873 Bf 75 &k i 5F

2

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND CHANGES IN
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Material accounting policy information

2.2

(Continued)

2.2.2 Financial assets (Continued)

2.2.2.1

Classification (Continued)

Debt instruments are those instruments that
meet the definition of a financial liabilities
from the issuer’'s perspective. During the
year ended 31 December 2023, the Group
only holds debt instruments, including cash
and cash equivalents, loan receivables, other
receivables and deposits, amounts due from
fellow subsidiaries and amounts due from
related parties, which are held for collection
of contractual cash flows where those cash
flows represent SPPI thus measured at
amortized cost.

The Group reclassifies debt investments
when and only when its business model for
managing those assets changes.
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Notes to the Historical Financial Information 873 Bf 75 &k i 5F

2

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND CHANGES IN
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.2

Material accounting policy information

(Continued)

2.2.2 Financial assets

2222

2223

Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial
assets are recognized on trade-date, the
date on which the Group commits to
purchase or sell the asset. Financial assets are
derecognized when the rights to receive cash
flows from the financial assets have expired
or have been transferred and the Group
has transferred substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership.

Measurement
Initial measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures
a financial asset at its fair value plus, in the
case of a financial asset not at fair value
through profit or loss (“FVTPL"), transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction
costs of financial assets carried at FVTPL are
expensed in profit or loss.

Subsequent measurement

The amortized cost is the amount at which
the financial asset or financial liability is
measured at initial recognition: (i) minus the
principal repayments; (ii) plus or minus the
cumulative amortization using the effective
interest method of any difference between
that initial amount and the maturity amount;
(iii) for financial assets, adjusted for any loss
allowance.
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Notes to the Historical Financial Information 873 Bf 75 &k i 5F

2

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND CHANGES IN
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Material accounting policy information

2.2

(Continued)

2.2.2 Financial assets (Continued)

2223

Measurement (Continued)

Interest income from these financial assets
is included in “Interest income” using the
effective interest method.

Interest income is calculated by applying the
effective interest rate to the gross carrying
amount of financial assets and is included in
“Interest income”, except for:

purchased or originated credit-impaired
(“POCI") financial assets, whose interest
income is calculated, since initial recognition,
by applying the credit-adjusted effective
interest rate to their amortized cost; and

financial assets that are not POCI but have
subsequently become credit-impaired, whose
interest income is calculated by applying the
effective interest rate to their amortized cost
(i.e. net of the expected credit loss provision).
If, in a subsequent period, the financial assets
improve their qualities so that they are no
longer credit-impaired and the improvement
in credit quality is related objectively to a
certain event occurring after the application
of the above-mentioned rules, then the
interest income is calculated by applying the
effective interest rate to their gross carrying
amount.
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Notes to the Historical Financial Information 873 Bf 75 &k i 5F

2

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND CHANGES IN
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.2

Material accounting policy information

(Continued)

2.2.2 Financial assets (Continued)

2223

Measurement (Continued)

The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash
payments or receipts through the expected
life of the financial asset or financial liability
to the gross carrying amount of a financial
asset (i.e. its amortized cost before any
impairment allowance) or to the amortized
cost of a financial liability. The calculation
does not consider expected credit losses
and includes transaction costs, premiums
or discounts and fees and points paid or
received that are integral to the effective
interest rate.
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Notes to the Historical Financial Information 873 Bf 75 &k i 5F

2

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND CHANGES IN
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Material accounting policy information

2.2

(Continued)

2.2.2 Financial assets (Continued)

2.2.2.4

Impairment of financial assets

The Group assesses on a forward-looking
basis the expected credit losses (“ECL")
associated with its debt instruments carried
at amortized cost. The Group recognizes a
loss allowance for such losses at the end of
the reporting period. The measurement of
ECL reflects:

An unbiased and probability-weighted
amount that is determined by evaluating a
range of possible outcome.

The time value of money.

Reasonable and supportable information that
is available without undue cost or effort at
the reporting date about past events, current
conditions and forecasts of future economic
conditions.

Note 3.1(b) provides more details of how the
“Provision for impairment” is measured.
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Notes to the Historical Financial Information 873 Bf 75 &k i 5F

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND CHANGES IN
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.2 Material accounting policy information

(Continued)

2.2.3 Financial liabilities

(@

Classification and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified as
measured at amortized cost. A financial
liability is classified as measured at FVTPL
if it is classified as held-for trading, it is a
derivative or it is designated as such on
initial recognition. Financial liabilities at
FVTPL are measured at fair value and net
gains and losses, including any interest
expense, are recognized in profit or loss.
Other financial liabilities are subsequently
measured at amortized cost using the
effective interest method. Interest expense
and foreign exchange gains or losses are
recognized in profit or loss. Any gain or loss
on derecognition is also recognized in profit
or loss.
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Notes to the Historical Financial Information 873 Bf 75 &k i 5F

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND CHANGES IN
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

2.2.3 Financial liabilities (Continued)
(b) Derecognition

The Group derecognizes a financial liability
when its contractual obligations are
discharged, cancelled or expired. The Group
also derecognizes a financial liability when its
terms are modified and the cash flows of the
modified liability are substantially different.
In this case, a new financial liability based
on the modified terms is recognized at fair
value. The difference between the carrying
amount of the financial liability extinguished
and the new financial liability with modified
terms is recognized in profit or loss.

2.2.4 Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net
amount reported in the consolidated balance sheet
when there is a legally enforceable right to offset
the recognized amounts and there is an intention to
settle on a net basis or realize the asset and settle
the liability simultaneously. The legally enforceable
right must not be contingent on future events
and must be enforceable in the normal course of
business and in the event of default, insolvency or
bankruptcy of the Group or the counterparty.
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Notes to the Historical Financial Information 873 Bf 75 &k i 5F

2

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND CHANGES IN
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

2.2

2.2.5

Interest income

Where the loan is originated by the Group, interest
on the loans to customers is accrued based on the
contractual interest rates of the loan as earned using
the effective interest method. When a financial asset
at amortized cost is impaired, the Group reduces
the carrying amount to its recoverable amount,
being the estimated future cash flow discounted at
the original effective interest rate of the instrument,
and continues unwinding the discount as interest
income. Interest income on impaired loans and
receivables is recognized using the original effective
interest rate.

The effective interest method is a method of
calculating the amortized cost of a financial asset
and of allocating the interest income over the year.
The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash payments or
receipts through the expected life of the financial
asset or, when appropriate, a shorter period to the
net carrying amount of the financial asset. When
calculating the effective interest rate, the Group
estimates cash flows considering all contractual
terms of the financial instrument but does not
consider future credit losses. The calculation
includes all fees paid or received between parties
to the contract that are an integral part of the
effective interest rate, transaction costs and all other
premiums or discounts.
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Notes to the Historical Financial Information 873 Bf 75 &k i 5F

3 FINANCIAL RISK AND CAPITAL RISK
MANAGEMENT

The Group's activities expose it to various types of financial risks:
cash flow and fair value interest rate risk, credit risk and liquidity
risk. The Group’s overall risk management program focuses on
the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimize
potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance.

3.1 Financial risk factors
(a) Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk

The Group's interest rate risk arises from its cash
and cash equivalents, loan receivables and bank
borrowings. Cash and cash equivalents and bank
borrowings are entitled to interest at variable rates
that expose the Group to cash flow interest rate
risk. Loan receivables is subject to interest at fixed
rates.

As at 31 December 2023, if market interest rates
had been 1% (2022: 1%) higher/lower with all
other variables held constant, profit before income
tax for the year would have been HK$6,071,000
(2022: HK$3,031,000) lower/higher as a result of
an increase in net interest expense on the bank
and other borrowings netted with loan receivables,
respectively.

(b) Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that a customer or counterparty
will default on its contractual obligations resulting
in financial loss to the Group. The Group’s main
income generating activity is lending to customers
and therefore credit risk is a principal risk.
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Notes to the Historical Financial Information &

3

BEMBERME

FINANCIAL RISK AND CAPITAL RISK
MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.1

Financial risk factors (Continued)
(b)

Credit risk (Continued)

The Group’s credit risk arises from cash and cash
equivalents, amounts due from fellow subsidiaries,
amounts due from related parties, amount due
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1,191,672 1,035,858
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Notes to the Historical Financial Information 873 Bf 75 &k i 5F

3 FINANCIAL RISK AND CAPITAL RISK
MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b)

Credit risk (Continued)
Loan receivables
(i) Credit risk management

Unsecured loans

In respect of the Group’s unsecured loan
receivables, they are not secured by any collaterals
and management has a set of procedures in place
to reduce the potential credit risks.

The Group offers different types of unsecured loans,
namely unsecured property owner loans, unsecured
personal loans and unsecured small and medium
enterprises (“SME") loans.

The Group has a set of loan approval procedures
that takes into account the external credit data and
behavioral patterns to assess the creditworthiness of
its customers requesting credit. These assessments
focus on the individual credit reports obtained
from a third party, occupation and background
of the customers, the general business and
economic conditions at the time of application
and corroborate with the supporting documents
provided by the customers.
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Notes to the Historical Financial Information 873 Bf 75 &k i 5F

3 FINANCIAL RISK AND CAPITAL RISK
MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b)

Credit risk (Continued)
Loan receivables (Continued)
(i) Credit risk management (Continued)

Unsecured loans (Continued)

The Group engages debt collection agents to
handle the collection of outstanding repayments of
delinquent loans. The debt collection agents would
then perform various procedures to approach and
follow up with the customers on the outstanding
repayments. If procedures are considered not
effective, the Group will then initiate legal actions
against the customers to recover the outstanding
amounts.

Management continuously monitors the behavior
of customers and works closely with debt collection
agents on the outstanding repayments of delinquent
loans. Given the procedures and policies in place,
management considers the Group'’s credit risk to
unsecured loans is limited to a certain extent.

As set out in the loan agreements of secured loans,
customers agree to execute a legal charge in the
Group's favor over the property as collateral. In
any event of default by customers, the Group has
the right to charge the defaulted interest on the
overdue loan principal and interest. The agreements
are legally enforceable that if the Group takes
actions to recover the outstanding loan principal and
interest, the customer will also be liable for payment
of relevant legal fees incurred by the Group.

Management continuously monitors the fair values
of the properties as collateral to ensure they are
sufficient to recover the outstanding loan principal
and interest, and considers the Group'’s credit risk to
secured loans is limited to a certain extent.
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Notes to the Historical Financial Information 873 Bf 75 &k i 5F

3 FINANCIAL RISK AND CAPITAL RISK
MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b)

Credit risk (Continued)
Loan receivables (Continued)
(i) Credit risk management (Continued)

Provision for expected credit losses

The Group provides for expected credit losses on
financial assets based on the amount of outstanding
loan receivables taking into account the underlying
risk profile, forward-looking information, historical
loss experience and performance regarding historical
loss rate of the loans with similar attributes.

The Group applies the “three-stage” approach on
loan receivables to provide for expected credit losses
("ECL") as outlined in HKFRS 9. The maximum
period considered when measuring ECL is the
maximum contractual period over which the Group
is exposed to credit risk, and impairment is based on
the changes in credit quality since initial recognition
as follows:

Stage 1: Financial instruments that are not credit-
impaired on initial recognition and has their credit
risk continuously monitored by the Group. Provision
for impairment is measured at an amount equal to
the portion of lifetime expected credit losses that
result from default events possible within the next
12 months (“12-month ECL");
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Notes to the Historical Financial Information 873 Bf 75 &k i 5F

3 FINANCIAL RISK AND CAPITAL RISK
MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b)

Credit risk (Continued)
Loan receivables (Continued)
(i) Credit risk management (Continued)

Provision for expected credit losses (Continued)

Stage 2: Financial instruments with significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, but
are not yet deemed to be credit-impaired. Provision
for impairment is measured based on expected
credit losses on a lifetime basis (“lifetime ECL"); and

Stage 3: Financial instruments that are credit
impaired where provision for impairment is
measured based on lifetime ECL.

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the reporting date with
the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition.
In making this assessment, the Group considers
both quantitative and qualitative information that
is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort.
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Notes to the Historical Financial Information 873 Bf 75 &k i 5F

3 FINANCIAL RISK AND CAPITAL RISK
MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(b) Credit risk (Continued)
Loan receivables (Continued)
(i) Credit risk management (Continued)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly:

o significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk;

3 any actual or expected significant
deterioration in operating results or financial
conditions of customers;

o existing or forecast adverse changes in
business, financial or economic conditions
that are expected to cause a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its
debt obligations; and

o an actual or expected significant adverse
change in the regulatory, economic, or
technological environment of the debtor
that results in a significant decrease in the
debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations.

Unless identified at an earlier stage, loan receivables
are deemed to have suffered a significant increase in
credit risk when they are 30 days past due (“DPD").
These financial assets are then transferred from
Stage 1 to Stage 2 but are not yet deemed to be
credit-impaired and default.
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Notes to the Historical Financial Information 873 Bf 75 &k i 5F

3 FINANCIAL RISK AND CAPITAL RISK
MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b)

Credit risk (Continued)
Loan receivables (Continued)
(i) Credit risk management (Continued)

Definition of default and credit-impaired

The Group determines that a financial instrument
is credit-impaired and in Stage 3 by considering
relevant objective evidence, primarily whether
contractual payments of either principal or interest
are past due for more than 90 days.

The following qualitative factors would also be
considered in determining whether default has
occurred:

. The customer is deceased;
. The customer is insolvent;
o The customer is experiencing significant

financial difficulties; or

o It is becoming probable that the customer
will enter into bankruptcy.

The factors above have been applied to the loan
receivables of the Group and are consistent with
the definition of default used for internal credit risk
management purposes. Therefore, the definitions
of credit-impaired and default are aligned as far as
possible so that Stage 3 represents all loans that are
considered defaulted or otherwise credit-impaired.
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Notes to the Historical Financial Information 873 Bf 75 &k i 5F

3 FINANCIAL RISK AND CAPITAL RISK
MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b)

Credit risk (Continued)
Loan receivables (Continued)
(i) Measurement of ECL

The Group measures expected credit losses, net
of financial assets under HKFRS 9 ECL model. The
ECL is measured on either a 12-month or lifetime
basis, depending on whether a significant increase
in credit risk has occurred since initial recognition
or whether an asset is considered to be credit-
impaired. The estimation of ECL are unbiased and
probability weighted and incorporate all available
information which is relevant to the assessment
including information about past events, current
conditions and reasonable and supportable forecasts
of future events and economic conditions at each
of the reporting date. The measurement of ECL is
a function of PD, EAD and LGD that are defined
below:

. Probability of Default (“PD"): The PD
represents the likelihood of a customer
defaulting on the corresponding loan
and interest receivable (as per “Definition
of default and credit-impaired” above),
either over the next 12 months or over the
remaining lifetime of the loan;
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Notes to the Historical Financial Information 873 Bf 75 &k i 5F

3 FINANCIAL RISK AND CAPITAL RISK 3 HBERERERNERERE
MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) (#8)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 3.1 EBREREEEE)
(b)  Credit risk (Continued) (b) EERRGE)
Loan receivables (Continued) JENE L (4E)

(i) Measurement of ECL (Continued)

(i) FREEBEBNTE
(&)

Exposure at Default (“EAD"): The EAD
represents the expected balance at default,
taking into account the repayment of
principal and interest from the balance sheet
date to the default event together with
any expected drawdowns of committed
facilities. EAD is based on the amounts the
Group expects to be owed at the time of
default, over the next 12 months or over the
remaining lifetime; and

Loss given Default (“LGD"): The LGD
represents expected losses on the EAD given
the event of default, taking into account,
among other attributes, the mitigating effect
of collateral value at the time it is expected
to be realized and the time value of money.
LGD is calculated on either 12-month or
lifetime basis, representing the percentage
of loss expected to be made if the default
occurs in the next 12 months or over the
remaining expected lifetime of the loan
respectively.
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Notes to the Historical Financial Information 873 Bf 75 &k i 5F

3 FINANCIAL RISK AND CAPITAL RISK
MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b)

Credit risk (Continued)
Loan receivables (Continued)
(i) Measurement of ECL (Continued)

The ECL is determined by projecting the PD, EAD
and LGD of each individual exposure for each future
month. These three components are multiplied
together and adjusted for the likelihood of survival
(i.e. the exposure has not been prepaid or defaulted
in an earlier month). This effectively calculates an
ECL for each future month and further aggregated.

The ECL is measured from the initial recognition
of the financial assets. The maximum period
considered when measuring ECL should either be
on a 12-month or a lifetime basis is the maximum
contractual period over which the Group is exposed
to credit risk.

The lifetime PD is calculated by applying a maturity
profile to the 12-month PD. The maturity profile
set out how defaults develop on a loan portfolio
from the point of initial recognition throughout the
lifetime of the loans. The maturity profile is based
on historical data and is assumed to be the same
across all loans in a portfolio supported by historical
analysis.
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Notes to the Historical Financial Information 873 Bf 75 &k i 5F

3 FINANCIAL RISK AND CAPITAL RISK
MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b)

Credit risk (Continued)
Loan receivables (Continued)
(i) Measurement of ECL (Continued)

The 12-month and lifetime EADs are determined
based on the expected payment profile that varies
by different loan products.

The 12-month and lifetime LGDs are determined
based on the factors which impact the recoveries
made after default occurs:

o For unsecured property owner loans and
secured loans, this is based on the type and
expected fair value of the collateral, time to
repossession and estimated recovery costs.
The LGD is minimal if the outstanding loan
and interest receivable could be substantially
recovered through repossession and forced
sales of relevant collaterals;

. For unsecured personal loans and SME loans,
this is influenced by the Group's collection
strategies.

The 12-month ECL is calculated by multiplying the
12-month PD, LGD and EAD, whereas the lifetime
ECL is calculated using the lifetime PD.
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Notes to the Historical Financial Information 873 Bf 75 &k i 5F

3 FINANCIAL RISK AND CAPITAL RISK
MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b)

Credit risk (Continued)
Loan receivables (Continued)

(iii) Forward-looking information incorporated in
the ECL model

The assessment of ECL incorporates forward-looking
information based on economic forecasts, apply
these assumption to the ECL model to estimate
future credit losses and probability weight the
result to determine an unbiased ECL estimate and is
performed on a quarterly basis at a portfolio level.
The criteria used in the assessment are monitored
and reviewed periodically for appropriateness by the
management. The Group considers forward-looking
information with reference to the indicators set out
below:

. Gross Domestic Products (“GDP") deflator
growth rate;

o Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate
("HIBOR"); and

o Real Retail Sales growth rate.

In Note 3.1(b)(vii), the sensitivity analysis provides an
indication of the sensitivity of the result to different
weightings being applied to different economic
assumptions.
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Notes to the Historical Financial Information 873 Bf 75 &k i 5F

3 FINANCIAL RISK AND CAPITAL RISK 3 HBEBRREREREREE
MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) (&)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 3.1 BEEBEEE)
(b)  Credit risk (Continued) (b) EERRGE)
Loan receivables (Continued) JEWEF(4E)
(iv) Credit risk exposure (iv) EERR
The staging of loan receivables using the Group's RS EUWEFE R
ECL model is set out in the table below: AEBEEHEEEEE
EUH)FRER

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3
12-month Lifetime Lifetime
ECL ECL ECL
PR Ex1 [129) &3
128 A FEH R 2HRE
FEEE FEEE EEF#E @5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT THL THT THL
As at 31 December 2023 R-E-=£+=-8
=+-H
Loan receivables R ETR
- Unsecured property owner loans ~— — & HEFER 463,584 28,544 291,893 784,021
- Unsecured personal loans —BIRELAER 204,993 4,187 33,115 242,295
~ SME loans —HNRER 36,908 4,039 6,584 47,531
Less: Provision for impairment R ERE
- Unsecured property owner loans — — & HEFER (1,837) (1,512) (17,670) (21,019)
— Unsecured personal loans —BEERLAER (37,453) (3,525) (31,126) (72,104)
~ SME loans —HRER (6,743) (3,401) (6,188) (16,332)
Loan receivables - net R ER S8 659,452 28,332 276,608 964,392
As at 31 December 2022 R-B-_—_&#+-8
Sr=1[
Loan receivables R ER
— Unsecured property owner loans ~ — EIEIRE T & 427,964 27,723 274,273 729,960
— Unsecured personal loans —EEFIAED 193,064 7,979 33,510 234,553
- SME loans —th/hER 44,200 1,045 9,058 54,303
Less: Provision for impairment o ORERE
— Unsecured property owner loans ~ — iR B2k (1,385) (892) (14,282) (16,559)
— Unsecured personal loans —EEALAER (31,877) (6,725) (32,796) (71,398)
— SME loans —/\PET (7,298) (881) (8,865) (17,044)
Loan receivables — net EWETSEE 624,668 28,249 260,898 913,815
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Notes to the Historical Financial Information 873 Bf 75 &k i 5F

3 FINANCIAL RISK AND CAPITAL RISK
MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(b) Credit risk (Continued)
Loan receivables (Continued)
(v) Expected credit losses, net

The expected credit losses, net recognized during
the year is impacted by a variety of factors, as
described below:

(i) Loans recovered or repaid during the year;

(ii) Transfers between Stage 1 and Stages 2
or 3 due to financial assets experiencing
significant increases (or decreases) of credit
risk or becoming credit-impaired, and the
consequent “step up” (or “step down”)
between 12-month and lifetime ECL;

(iii) Impacts on year end ECL of exposures
transferred between stages during the year;
and

(iv) Financial assets derecognized during the year
and write-offs of provision related to assets
that were written off during the year.
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Notes to the Historical Financial Information 873 Bf 75 &k i 5F

3 FINANCIAL RISK AND CAPITAL RISK 3 HERERERNERERE
MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) (#8)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 3.1 BEBREREEE)
(b)  Credit risk (Continued) (b) FEERRGE)
Loan receivables (Continued) JENE L (4E)

(v) B EEERFEE)
TRE SRS )
EHRNASEREE
RAEENREARESR

(v) Expected credit losses, net (Continued)

The following tables explain the changes in the
gross carrying amount of the Group’s gross loan
receivables from the beginning to the end for each
reporting period:

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
124 129) BEE3 @5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT THIT THL THL
Balance at 1 January 2022 RZZE-_—_5—f
—HR&EH 700,999 26,755 218,372 946,126
New financial assets originated or FTHEIEB A
transferred MemMEE 448,140 5,845 58,591 512,576
Changes in interest accrual FEt 7S 186,324 6,883 40,737 233,944
Loans recovered or repaid FRWEERN
during the year B (539,411)  (39,177) (55,005  (633,593)
Transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 2 BREEREBBERE2|  (97,834) 97,834 - -
Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 3 BB EBERES = (60,025) 60,025 =
Transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 3 BRBIEHERE3| (34359 = 34,358 =
Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 1 BREE 2 ER EREE 1,368 (1,368) = =
Total transfer between stages FReEmENEBASE  (130,824) 36,441 94,383 -
Write-offs i - - (40,237)  (40,237)
As at 31 December 2022 R-B-_—&#+—H
ET=0 665,228 36,747 316,841 1,018,816
Balance at 1 January 2023 RZZE-=F—4
—B &k 665,228 36,747 316,841 1,018,816
New financial assets originated or PTA SRS
transferred MeRMEE 575,378 - - 575378
Changes in interest accrual BRI S EE) 191,813 8,543 48,378 248,734
Loans recovered or repaid FRUWEERN
during the year =6 (577,678)  (32,889)  (96,712)  (707,279)
Transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 2 BREBIERERE2 | (124,724) 124,724 - -
Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 3 BB 2ER ERE3 - (97,792) 97,792 =
Transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 3 BRI BB S| (29,886) = 29,886 =
Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 1 B ER2ER ZRE 2,974 (2,974) = =
Transfer from Stage 3 to Stage 1 BREEEBERE 2,379 - (2,379) -
Transfer from Stage 3 to Stage 2 BREE3EBERE - a1 (411) -
Total transfer between stages FRERMNE®REE  (149,257) 24,369 124,888 =
Write-offs ik = = (61,802)  (61,802)
As at 31 December 2023 R-E-=£+=A
Er=[g 705,484 36,770 331,593 1,073,847
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Notes to the Historical Financial Information 873 Bf 75 &k i 5F

3 FINANCIAL RISK AND CAPITAL RISK
MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(b) Credit risk (Continued)
Loan receivables (Continued)
(v) Expected credit losses, net (Continued)

The following tables explain the changes in the
provision for impairment from the beginning to the
end for each reporting period:

PR KR ERE R EE

(4%

m=

3.1

e S ESE )

(b) FEERG)
FEWE (&)
(v) REEEBEFRE)
T3 M & 5 B A 1)
EMRARERERE) -

Balance at 1 January 2022

New financial assets originated or
transferred

Loans recovered or repaid
during the year

Transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 2
Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 3

i S
—H &R
DTSR
NeRBE
FRREIHERLN
¢
BEBIEBERE2
BB EL ERES

Total
a@ct

HK$'000
TAT

51,235 5,463 44,968 101,666
17,917 41 1,766 19,724
(10,998) (16,811) (7,161) (34,970)

(17,376) 17,376 =
= (41,366) 41,366 =

Transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 3 BRI BB EREE3 (152) - 152 -
Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 1 BB EBERE 7 ) - -
Impact of ECL for the year FRBHEEEEN
TE (73) 43,802 15,089 58,818
Total transfer between stages KR HmEgas (17,594) 19,805 56,607 58,818
Write-offs HisH - = (40,237) (40,237)
As at 31 December 2022 R-BE-__&+=-A
=== 40,560 8,498 55,943 105,001
Balance at 1 January 2023 RZE-=%—#
— RS 40,560 8,498 55943 105,001
New financial assets originated or PTHE B H
transferred HemEE 51,243 = = 51,243
Loans recovered or repaid FRKE%EER
during the year 8% (26,470) (7.232)  (34511)  (68,213)

Transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 2
Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 3

BERIEBERER2
BREB2EDERES

(19,173) 19,173 =
= (67,485) 67,485 =
(1,511) - 1,511 -

Transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 3 BRI EEERES
Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 1 BB EBEREE 9% (96) = =
Transfer from Stage 3 to Stage 1 BRER3ER ERER 124 - (124) -
Transfer from Stage 3 to Stage 2 BRERIE® 2R - 21 (21) -
Impact of ECL for the year FRBEHEEEEN

% 1,163 55,559 26,504 83,226
Total transfer between stages EReHENEBEE | (19,301) 7,172 95,355 83,226
Write-offs 3 = - (61,802  (61,802)
As at 31 December 2023 R-B-=%+ZA

ET=1[E 46,032 8,438 54,985 109,455
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Notes to the Historical Financial Information 873 Bf 75 &k i 5F

3 FINANCIAL RISK AND CAPITAL RISK
MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b)

Credit risk (Continued)
Loan receivables (Continued)
(vi) Sensitivity analysis

The ECL is sensitive to the inputs used in ECL model
adopted by the Group, macroeconomic variables
in the forward-look information incorporated,
economic scenario weighting and other factors
considered. Changes in these inputs, assumptions
and judgments impact the assessment of significant
increase in credit risk and the measurement of ECL
at 31 December 2023.
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Notes to the Historical Financial Information 873 Bf 75 &k i 5F

3 FINANCIAL RISK AND CAPITAL RISK 3 HBERERERNERERE
MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) (#8)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 3.1 EBREREEEE)
(b)  Credit risk (Continued) (b) EERRGE)
Loan receivables (Continued) JENE L (4E)

(vi) Sensitivity analysis (Continued) (vi) BURE DT (48)
TERBAR-ZT—_=F
+-—RA=+—HEHE
E R EE R E Bl b A 2
& R ATRE M B R 2 g
EREFFEREERERE
R E

The following table summarized the impact on ECL
on loan receivables at 31 December 2023 by varying
individual inputs and forward-look information to
the ECL model:

Impact on ECL of loan receivables
As at 31 December
HEVWERFHCEEBFENTE
Rt=A=+—H

BABER
RIEMEE R 2 E

Changes in inputs or forward-
looking information

— Assuming a further 10% weighting — iR :8 245315 = X

Decrease by

Decrease by

added to the probability of HE—FNMA10% HK$1,761,000 HK$1,383,000
the optimistic scenario and a InwEE - BEE > Vi
corresponding 10% reduction 15 S ARE T BE 1,761,000 7T 1,383,000/8 7T
from the base scenario 10%

— Assuming a further 10% weighting — RRFRER 1B = BE X Increase by Increase by
added to the probability of E—FIMAT10% HK$2,250,000 HK$1,726,948
the pessimistic scenario and a EE - BEE Ehn N
corresponding 10% reduction 15 AR T BE 2,250,00058 7T 1,726,9487 7T
from the base scenario 10%

— Assuming GDP increase/decrease by — & 3& 7N 3 A = 44 1H

Decrease by

Decrease by

0.5% +EFTF405% HK$110,000 or HK$15,000 or
increase by increase by

HK$110,000 HK$54,000

2 D

110,000 7T 15,0007 7.8k

20 il

110,0007% T 54,0007 7T
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3 FINANCIAL RISK AND CAPITAL RISK
MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b)

Credit risk (Continued)
Loan receivables (Continued)
(vii) Write-off policy

The Group writes off financial assets, in whole or
in part, when it has exhausted all practical recovery
efforts and has concluded there is no reasonable
expectation of recovery. Indicators that there is
no reasonable expectation of recovery include (i)
ceasing enforcement activity and (ii) where the
Group’s recovery method is through collateral and
the value of the collateral is such that there is no
reasonable expectation of recovering in full.

The Group may write-off financial assets that are
still subject to enforcement activity. The outstanding
contractual amounts of such assets written off
during the year ended 31 December 2023 was
HK$61,802,000 (2022: HK$40,237,000). The
Group continues to seek recovering the amounts it
is legally owed in full, but which have been partially
written off due to no reasonable expectation of full
recovery.
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Notes to the Historical Financial Information 873 Bf 75 &k i 5F

3 FINANCIAL RISK AND CAPITAL RISK
MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b)

Credit risk (Continued)
Loan receivables (Continued)
(vii) Write-off policy (Continued)

Customers of the Group are individual borrowers.
During the year ended 31 December 2023,
the Group has no significant concentrations of
credit risk as there were no customer individually
contributed 10% or more of the Group’s interest
income. As at 31 December 2023, no customer
individually contributed 10% or more of the Group’s
outstanding loan receivable balances.

Other financial assets

While cash and cash equivalents, deposits and other
receivables, amount due from a director, amounts
due from fellow subsidiaries and amounts due
from related parties are also subject to impairment
assessment required by HKFRS 9, the Group makes
periodic assessments on their recoverability based
on historical settlement records and past experience,
and considered the relevant expected credit losses
are immaterial.
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3

FINANCIAL RISK AND CAPITAL RISK
MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

Financial risk factors (Continued)

3.1

(9]

Liquidity risk

Prudent liquidity risk management implies
maintaining sufficient cash and the availability of
funding through an adequate amount of committed
credit facility. Cash flow forecasting is performed
by management. The Group monitors its rolling
forecasts of the Group'’s liquidity requirements to
ensure it has sufficient cash to meet operational
needs while maintaining sufficient headroom on
its undrawn committed borrowing facilities at all
times so that the Group does not breach borrowing
limits or covenants (where applicable) on any of
its borrowing facilities. Such forecasting takes into
consideration the Group’s debt financing plans,
covenant compliance, compliance with internal
financial position ratio targets and, if applicable
legal requirements.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group has undrawn
banking facilities of approximately HK$29,000,000
(2022: HK$40,000,000). All the undrawn borrowing
facilities expire within one year and are subject to
annual review by banks.

R K BN SR

(48)

3.1

35 R B & (4R

(9]

RBETER
EERDECRRER
BB amie B
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"EL EEBETR
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ERBESFRLRIEA
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TRERNEERE AR
T fT BF T 45 4 15 R 1R
BMHEERERERTE
REE - EARETEE
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3

FINANCIAL RISK AND CAPITAL RISK
MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

Financial risk factors (Continued)

3.1

(9]

Liquidity risk (Continued)

The Group’s primary cash requirements, apart from
granting loans to customers, are for payment of
bank borrowings and for operating expenses.

The table below analyses the Group's financial assets
and financial liabilities, including lease liabilities, by
categorizing into relevant maturity groupings based
on the remaining period at the end of the reporting
period to the contractual maturity date. Specifically,
certain bank borrowings contain a repayment on
demand clause which can be exercised at the bank'’s
sole discretion to pay, that is if the lender were to
exercise their unconditional right to call the loans
with immediate effect. The amounts disclosed in the
table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows
and the earliest date the Group can be required to
pay. Balances within twelve months approximate
their carrying amounts as impact of discounting is
not significant.

R K BN SR

(48
3.1

)

St 3 L B R % (4K
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3

FINANCIAL RISK AND CAPITAL RISK
MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.1

Financial risk factors (Continued)
(9]

Liquidity risk (Continued)

3

R K BN SR

(48)

3.1

Bt 75 R B R = ()
(0 RBpESARGE

Within Between Between
1 year or 1and 2 2and5 Over
G EED) years years 5 years Total
15 RE
REX 122 225F EB5EF st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T T T T
At 31 December 2023 R-B-=%+-8
=t-H
Cash and cash equivalents ReRRSEED
(Note 17) (H73#17) 218,368 - - - 218,368
Amounts due from fellow R ZMBARZE
subsidiaries (Note 27) (H127) 236 - - - 236
Amounts due from related JEl B H R
parties (Note 27) (Hi27) 82 - - - 82
Loan receivables &R 542,372 307,498 493916 229792 1,573,578
Deposits and other receivables %4 R Kt 0B
(Note 16) (Hist1e6) 8,594 - - - 8,504
Total financial assets SREELE 769,652 307,498 493,916 229,792 1,800,858
Accruals and other payables  fEZTE R R AT FUA
(Note 21) (Hi#21) (8,158) - - - (8,158)
Amount due to the ultimate ~ ERSKEIRAFIFE
holding company (Note 27) (B1i227) (13) - - - (13)
Amounts due to fellow [ERRZNBARZE
subsidiaries (Note 27) (Hi27) (99) - - - (99)
Bank and other borrowings FITREMEE
(Note 22) (H1i22) (325,289) (21,087) - - (346,376)
Lease liabilities (Note 23) REaBM223) (5,873) (552) (352) - (6,777)
Total financial liabilities SREEAR (339,432) (21,639) (352) - (361,423)
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3

FINANCIAL RISK AND CAPITAL RISK
MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

Financial risk factors (Continued)

3.1

(9]

Liquidity risk (Continued)

R K BN SR

(48)

3.1

Bt 75 R B R = ()
(0 RBpESARGE

Within Between Between
1 year or Tand2 2and5 Over
on demand years years 5 years Total
1ERSEEX 1228 1E5F HBBSE &zt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Tin Tin Tin T TiBn
At 31 December 2022 N-B-_%+-R
=t+-H
Cash and cash equivalents Be LA EEN
(Note 17) (Hi#17) 24,131 - - - 24131
Amounts due from fellow kR ZMBARZE
subsidiaries (Note 27) (Hi27) 90,224 = = = 90,224
Amounts due from related JEd B H R
parties (Note 27) (Hi#27) 638 = = = 638
Amount due from adirector Bl —ZEEFE
(Note 27) (Hi#27) 100 100 375 = 575
Loan receivables e &R 550,352 289,646 436,509 207,075 1,483,582
Deposits and other receivables %4 L E M EUEIR
(Note 16) (Hizt16) 6,475 - - = 6,475
Total financial assets SREELE 671,920 289,746 436,884 207,075 1,605,625
Accruals and other payables et E R R At [T 5UE
(Note 21) (Hi#21) (5473) - - - (5473)
Amount due to the ultimate  ERSAERAFIZFE
holding company (Note 27) (Hi#27) (84) - - - (84)
Amount due to the immediate  JETEZERARZIE
holding company (Note 27) (H13#27) (10,500) - - = (10,500)
Amounts due to related parties  JEf BaEE A 3008
(Note 27) (Hiz27) (28,486) - - - (28,486)
Bank and other borrowings BT REM{EE
(Note 22) (Hi22) (303,095) - - - (303,095)
Lease liabilities (Note 23) BEREM:Z23) (12,451) (6,193) (1,170) - (19,814)
Total financial liabilities SRARER (360,089) (6,193) (1,170) - (367,452)
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3

FINANCIAL RISK AND CAPITAL RISK
MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.2

Capital management

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern in order to provide returns to the shareholder and
benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal
capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the
Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to
member, return capital to member, issue new shares or sell
assets to reduce debt.

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the gearing
ratio. This ratio is calculated as net debt divided by
total equity. Net debt is calculated as total borrowings
(comprising borrowings, amount due to the ultimate
holding company, amount due to the immediate holding
company, amounts due to fellow subsidiaries, amounts due
to related parties, accruals and other payables and lease
liabilities in the consolidated balance sheet) less cash and
cash equivalents. Total capital is calculated as ‘equity’ as
shown in the consolidated balance sheet.

R K BN SR

(48)

3.2

EXER
AEEEREANBERRE
AEEFELENES IR
BREHR OB R SEMEEDE
mRM s  WHRFREEARE
BUAREBE S ©

REFHLAFABRERERE A%
) 7T 88 58 2 ) A SRR A B0 B B
TH MBEREEEAN - BT
R EEEARDET

FEEREBEEEARRELRER
AR o Fh b RIR BT F FERR AR
SAEESH - AFFER
EERR(EREAEERE
RTMEE  BENRKERA
BRI - BN ERER QAR
B ENRERMBREREA -
FETRARE 7T 3R - At ER K
Hih R RIBARBEEERE)
BMERE MRS EEBWHES
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3 FINANCIAL RISK AND CAPITAL RISK 3 HBEBRREREREREE
MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) (&)
3.2 Capital management (Continued) 3.2 EXEE(E)
The Group’s strategy remains unchanged and the gearing AEBNRBERIFEAE B
ratio and net cash position of the Group as at 31 December AKEBR-_ZE_=F+=-A
2023 are as follows: T —HNEEBBEEXRLFR
AT -
2023 2022
—=2=-= —F-
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FET F&T
Bank and other borrowings RITREMEE
(Note 22) (Htst22) 342,629 303,095
Amount due to the ultimate AN S /NI O
holding company (Note 27) (Kiz£27) 13 84
Amount due to the immediate JER EEIER A RIRIE
holding company (Note 27) (H1at27) - 10,500
Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries &1~ [ Z T /E A a8
(Note 27) (Ki#27) 99 =
Amounts due to related parties &/~ B 5 ZUIE
(Note 27) (Btst27) - 28,486
Accruals and other payables JEFTE AN E b EFIE
(Note 21) (Btst21) 8,977 5,481
Lease liabilities (Note 23) HEBBEWH23) 6,530 19,122
Less: Cash and cash equivalents & : & RIRESZEY
(Note 17) (Kizt17) (218,368) (24,131)
Net debt BERFRR 139,880 342,637
Total equity W faE 880,890 720,539
Gearing ratio BEAEBXR 15.9% 47.6%
3.3  Fair value estimation 3.3 ATEME
The fair values of financial assets and liabilities carried at KA RN S REER
amortized cost approximate their carrying amounts due to BEMNATERERRE RN
their short-term maturities, and the impact of discounting is MEEHRmERES - BERHEE
not significant. BWTERK
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based
on historical experience and other factors, including expectations
of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the
future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom
equal the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions
that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial
year are addressed below.

Impairment of loan receivables

The Group assesses expected credit losses on loan receivables
based on assumptions about risk of default based on PD, LGD
and EAD discussed in Note 3.1(b). Management judgement will
be involved in making assumptions and selecting the inputs to its
ECL calculation, based on the Group'’s past history, present market
conditions as well as forward looking information at the end of
each reporting period. Details of the estimation techniques, key
assumptions and inputs used are disclosed in Note 3.1(b).

SEGMENT INFORMATION AND REVENUE,
OTHER INCOME AND GAINS/(LOSSES), NET

(@) Segment information

The chief operating decision-maker (“CODM") has been
identified as the executive directors of the Company who
review the Group's internal reporting in order to assess
performance and allocate resources. Provision of unsecured
loans in Hong Kong is the only segment in internal
reporting to the executive directors for the year ended 31
December 2023.

As the Group has only one operating segment that qualifies
as reporting segment under HKFRS 8 and the information
that is regularly reviewed by the CODM for the purposes
of allocating resources and assessing performance of the
operating segment is the consolidated financial statements
of the Group, no separate segmental analysis is presented.
The CODM assesses the performance based on a measure
of profit for the reporting period, and considers all business
is included in a single operating segment.

4
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5  SEGMENT INFORMATION AND REVENUE, 5 o ERLRKE - ik
OTHER INCOME AND GAINS/(LOSSES), NET ARWE S (E1B)FRE(E)
(CONTINUED)

(a) Segment information (Continued) () HERGE)
Revenue represents interest income earned and derived Was g MEBF S A - KRB
from different loan products and are summarized as TRMNERER  BdmT
follows:

2023 2022
—E-=F —E -
HK$'000 HK$’000
FHET FAT
Interest income derived from: FBEWAKE
— Unsecured property owner loans — K% > &5k 170,890 146,788
— Unsecured personal loans —EEARLAER 66,457 74,624
— SME loans —H/NEER 11,387 12,068
— Secured subordinated —EHEAIME—IRIER
mortgage loans - 464
248,734 233,944
The Group conducts the Unsecured Property Owner Loan REBERBKEERTEE
Business and the Unsecured Personal Loan Business in EREBREEPIAETE
Hong Kong and interest income is generated from loans to % BREWABREBHIN
external customers in Hong Kong. BEPIRHERES -
No customer individually contributed 10% or more to HE_Z-_=F+-A=+—H
the Group’s interest income during the year ended 31 IEFE - BERXPERNGEARE
December 2023 (2022: Same). EFEWAKI10%HIA £ (=T
—ZF AR -
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5  SEGMENT INFORMATION AND REVENUE, 5 OIERURWKE - B4l
OTHER INCOME AND GAINS/(LOSSES), NET AR (F5E) S35 (E)
(CONTINUED)

(b) Other income and gains/(losses), net (b) gﬁ;ﬂﬂﬂll&ﬂ&é/(&ﬂé)ﬁ

2023 2022
—EB-=F B F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET THET
Other income Heb A
Government grant (Note) BT BN (H5E) = 1,767
Rental income from fellow RERZWBARR
subsidiaries (Note 27(b)) HeWA (K a2270)) 637 8,287
Rental income from a RE— BT
related party (Note 27(b)) MeWA(HaE27(0b)) 3,806 30
Bank interest income RITHEUA 505 3
Others EHAh 11 7
4,959 10,094
Other gains/(losses), net Hebz (BE8) 358
(Provision for)/reversal of &l [E & ERE
impairment of repossessed (BifE) /B
assets (Note 19) (K17£19) (559) 27
Loss on disposal of property, HEYE SN
plant and equipment BBHEE(HE250))
(Note 25(a)) - (219)
Gain on termination of lease RIETERES (Hat25()
(Note 25(a)) 643 18
84 (174)
Note:  Government grant represents the subsidies received from the et - AT BN IS B BB RITTIE
Employment Support Scheme launched by the government of B EFTATHE L [ R BEZE |5 2]
the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region. HEREG SRS o
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6

EXPENSES BY NATURE

—_=E_= ==
HK$’'000 HK$’000
FET AT
Employee benefit expenses EERAFHE
— Salaries and bonus — & RAEAL 37,304 43,303
— Pension and retirement benefits — RS KR IKEF 1,076 1,123
— Other staff benefits and welfare —H b8 T Hles MAEF 2,332 3,143
Advertising and marketing expenses &4 RiiEHEER Y 11,409 18,847
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEEITE (H1:£23(0))
(Note 23(b)) 10,672 12,315
Depreciation of property, plantand ~— #)% - #38 R R EITE
equipment (Note 13) (K17£13) 1,632 2,309
Office expenses MWANEFRT 3,661 1,882
IT services fee BB RSB - 780
Expenses related to short-term lease %5 HATH & HRIR < 3,190 2,921
Subscription fee FIEER 2,824 1,069
Collection fee BUTE R 45 989
Search fee and valuation EMERRHE 1,093 1,092
Listing expenses =0l 53 22,274 5,315
Legal and professional fees EENEEER 1,403 1,112
Auditor’s remuneration Z A & 1,100 218
Bank charges RITULE 486 417
Donations B - 420
Repair and maintenance HE KRS 666 799
Motor vehicle expenses ERY 395 237
Recruitment and training expenses BB IR 53 162
Utility expenses KEE 319 322
Building management fee EFERE 870 953
Stamp duties ENFERS 1,614 8
Others EHi 1,205 773
105,623 100,509
Represented by: 5 -
Selling expenses SHE R 24,808 34,375
General and administrative expenses —#% R 1T B X 80,815 66,134
105,623 100,509
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7  BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS 7 EENARERMNEBR(EE
(DISCLOSURES REQUIRED BY SECTION 383 OF CATNERBIN(E622F ) 553831%
THE HONG KONG COMPANIES ORDINANCE RAARIEEESNZER)
(CAP. 622) AND COMPANIES (DISCLOSURE HAIN(E622GE ) IR ERE
OF INFORMATION ABOUT BENEFITS OF E)
DIRECTORS) REGULATION (CAP. 622G)
(a) Directors’ emoluments (a) EBME
The remuneration of the directors for the year ended 31 HE_ZT_=F+_A=+—H
December 2023 is as follows: IEFE - EFHHHMOT -

Employer's

Allowances  contribution

Discretionary  and benefit  to pension

Salaries bonuses in kind scheme

fExY

RER Rife
g F& o BRRL RUEN  SENER #it
HKS000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000
TR TR TER TR TR

Year ended 31 December 2023 HZ-8-=%

TZR=t+-HLEE

Executive directors HTEE

Mr. Lee Kun Tai, Steven (Note ) ZiRZ 4t (i) = 6,000 - - 18 6,018
Ms. Wong Cheuk Sze (Notei) B FRL(Hati) - 974 153 1 18 1,146
Non-executive directors F4TES

Mr. Lee Sheung Shing (Note i) &% t(ffztii) 17 = = - - 17
Ms. Lee Pik Tsong (Note i) ERLL (W) 17 = = - - 17
Ms. Chan Wing Sze (Note i) kL (i) 17 = - - - 17
Ms. Kan Pui Yan (Note i) BRA LT (i) 17 - - - - 17

Independent Non-executive By FHTES

directors

Prof. Hung Wai Man JP (Note iv)  EBRAUR(Fi#in) 17 = - - - 17
Mr. Mak Wing Sum Alvin (Note iv) BG4 (i) 17 - - - _ 17
Mr. Leung Ka Cheung (Note i) 2R E%4E (i) 17 = - - - 17

119 6,974 153 1 36 7283
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7  BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS 7 EENARRANEBERES
(DISCLOSURES REQUIRED BY SECTION 383 OF (CAENEBINE6223 ) 538315
THE HONG KONG COMPANIES ORDINANCE RAATEEEERRER)
(CAP. 622) AND COMPANIES (DISCLOSURE BHHI(E622GE) R EM
OF INFORMATION ABOUT BENEFITS OF =) (48)

DIRECTORS) REGULATION (CAP. 622G)
(CONTINUED)

(@) Directors’ emoluments (Continued) (a) EE=ME(E)
The remuneration of the directors for the year ended 31 Eﬁi:;ﬁiiﬁﬂ'%ﬂ =t—
December 2023 is as follows: (Continued) BILEFE  EFWMHFMOT :
(%)

Employer's

Allowances  contribution

Discretionary ~ and benefit  to pension

Fees Salaries bonuses inkind scheme

RRR
B #t  BREL  ENEH
HK$'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000
TAL TEL  TAR TAL TAL

Year ended 31 December 2022 §2-8-CEF

tZAZ+-BLEE
Directors EZ
Mr. Lee Kun Tai, Steven (Noteiand ii) 25 (Wisik%i) - 6,000 - - 18 6,018
Ms. Wong Cheuk Sze (Note i Bt (Hiti) - 974 153 1 18 1,146
Mr. Lee Sheung Shing (Note i) B (i) = - - _ _ _
Ms. Lee Pik Tsong (Note i) TEBLL (i) - 1,700 - 1,300 - 3,000
Ms. Chan Wing Sze (Note i) Wiker L (Hitii) - 3,180 - 3 10 3,193
Ms. Kan Pui Yan (Note i) BT (Hitii) - 1363 - 10 10 1383
- 13,217 153 1314 56 14,740
Notes: Hiat -
(i) Appointed as director since 25 October 2022. ) E-_ZE-_—#+A=-+7AH
HEZTRESE -
(ii) Appointed as executive director since 20 March 2023. (i) BEZFE-—=F=H—1H#¥
EE(TANTESE -
(iii) Appointed as non-executive director since 20 March 2023. (i) E-FE_=—F=F_—+HF
EZTRIBTEE -
(iv) Appointed as independent non-executive director since 31 (iv) BE-_FE—_=F+H=1+—H
October 2023. RV RE I TES -
The remuneration shown above represents remuneration EXFFMARESEAERR
received by the directors in their capacity as employee to a)FfT B A Al E B WERR B -
the subsidiaries of the Company and no directors waived BEfEEERNEE_S_=F
any emolument during the year ended 31 December 2023 +TZA=+—HLFENEFE
(2022: Nil). S (T : &) -
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7 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS
(DISCLOSURES REQUIRED BY SECTION 383 OF
THE HONG KONG COMPANIES ORDINANCE
(CAP. 622) AND COMPANIES (DISCLOSURE
OF INFORMATION ABOUT BENEFITS OF
DIRECTORS) REGULATION (CAP. 622G)
(CONTINUED)
(b) Directors’ retirement benefits and termination

benefits

None of our directors received any retirement benefits nor
termination benefits during the year ended 31 December
2023 (2022: Nil).

(c) Consideration provided to third parties for
making available directors services

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group
did not pay consideration to any third parties for making
available directors’ services (2022: Nil).

(d) Information about loans, quasi-loans and other
dealings in favour of directors, controlled bodies
corporate by and connected entities with such
directors

Save as disclosed in Note 27, there are no loans, quasi-loans
and other dealing arrangements in favour of directors, or
controlled bodies corporate by and connected entities with
such directors during the year ended 31 December 2023
(2022: Nil).

EENNERANERBR(ER
(R aRBI)(5£622F ) 55383
R DB (BKEESHNZE

B RBIN(5E622GE ) REM

&) (4&)
(b) EBHNEABINREBERN

(c)

(d)

BE-_E-_=F+-_HA=+—
HIEFE @ BEESWEER
RINEF S BEREMN (2=
F o) o

RERMEERERAFE=F
REHKE
HE-_T_=F+=-RA=+—
ALEFE  AEBWELER
HEZRBETENE=F X
RE(ZZZ=F : |) -

BRALUES - ESZHHE
EREFAEREESZHEAN
BX - EERREMZH
&%

BRISEE27 PR IRE SN BEZ
BE_=F+_A=+—HALF
B BENESRESTHN
ZEREBEER /X mAM
AIUMEMER  EEREE
MRHLP(ZF_—F : &)
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7  BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS 7 EBNFNERANEBEEREB
(DISCLOSURES REQUIRED BY SECTION 383 OF (R EMFRBIN(58622F ) 55383
THE HONG KONG COMPANIES ORDINANCE BR(ATIEEEERRE
(CAP. 622) AND COMPANIES (DISCLOSURE BB (5£622GE) REM
OF INFORMATION ABOUT BENEFITS OF W) (&)

DIRECTORS) REGULATION (CAP. 622G)
(CONTINUED)
(e) Directors’ material interests in transactions, (e) EEBENRZ - REREHN
arrangements or contracts BEHRESENFERZR
2023 2022
—E-= —&--
Name of parties HK$'000 HK$'000  Name of directors having interest therein
ANRER AR BT RAERERANESLS
Moneysq Limited Rental income - 30 Lee Sheung Shing, Lee Pik Tsong and Lee Kun Tai, Steven
HERRAT RERA TEE FRERERE
Rental expense (1,398) - Lee Sheung Shing, Lee Pik Tsong and Lee Kun Tai, Steven
BeRx TEE FRERERE
smartME Corporation Limited ~ Rental income 3,806 - Lee Sheung Shing, Lee Pik Tsong and Lee Kun Tai, Steven
BRANARAH RERA TEE FRERERE
Konew Capital International Rental income 459 8,094 Lee Sheung Shing, Lee Pik Tsong and Lee Kun Tai, Steven
Limited
FEEAERBRAR] HERA TEE FRERERE
Honip Credit Limited Rental income - 100 Lee Sheung Shing, Lee Pik Tsong and Lee Kun Tai, Steven
FXEEBRAT RERA TEE FRERERE
Maxcalm Finance Limited Rental income 178 93 Lee Sheung Shing, Lee Pik Tsong and Lee Kun Tai, Steven
GEEEEIN RERA TEE FRERERE
Fold Time Industries Limited Rental expense - (1,426)  Lee Sheung Shing, Lee Pik Tsong and Lee Kun Tai, Steven
ERERERAA BeRx TEE FRERERE
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7 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS
(DISCLOSURES REQUIRED BY SECTION 383 OF
THE HONG KONG COMPANIES ORDINANCE
(CAP. 622) AND COMPANIES (DISCLOSURE

EENFERAERR(FB
(R aMRAIN(55622F) 55383
R DB (BKEESHNZE

B RBIN(5E622GE ) REM

OF INFORMATION ABOUT BENEFITS OF
DIRECTORS) REGULATION (CAP. 622G)

(CONTINUED)

(e) Directors’ material interests in transactions,

arrangements or contracts (Continued)

Name of parties

HEYRL

2023
“B-=F
HK$'000
TAL

2022
—E_CF
HK$'000
TAL

Hong Yip Success Limited Rental expense - (495)

FEKRNERAF itk

Hong Yip Money Flow Limited  Rental expense - (440)

FENEERAR Giikaha

Konew Credit Corporation IT services fee - (780)
Limited

FEEEERARAA EABEREE

Konew Fintech Corporation Interest expense - (73)
Limited

FELBUHERERAR  FEEX

Hong Yip Well Being Limited Rental expense (634) (733)

FREEBRAT

HERx

&) (4&)

() EERXE - ZHIEHH
AEHE2ENFIEREE)

Name of directors having interest therein

ERRANERANESES

Lee Sheung Shing, Lee Pik Tsong and Lee Kun Tai, Steven
PEE FERERERE

Lee Sheung Shing, Lee Pik Tsong and Lee Kun Tai, Steven
PEE FERERERE

Lee Sheung Shing, Lee Pik Tsong and Lee Kun Tai, Steven
PEE FERERERE
Lee Sheung Shing, Lee Pik Tsong and Lee Kun Tai, Steven
PEE FERERERE

Lee Sheung Shing, Lee Pik Tsong and Lee Kun Tai, Steven
PEE FRERERE
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FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest in the
Group for the year ended 31 December 2023 include two (2022:
five) directors. Details of the emoluments of the remaining highest
paid non-director individuals during the year ended 31 December

2023 is set out as below:

8 HEERSFMAL

BE_ZT_=F+-_A=+—HIHF

B AREERARSH
(ZE-—=—F: AR)EBEE - HZE

MALBREM%A

—-=

“=HT-A=1—HLEFEE EfK
BEFMALCGFER) MBS F BRI

T

2023

—=—=

—_—=

HK$’000
TERT

2022
==

HK$'000
THAT

Salaries, wages, and bonuses e TERIEA 3,984 -

Pension costs — defined contribution RKE KA — ERE T2
plans 53 =
4,037 -

The emoluments of the highest paid individuals fell within the

following bands:

Emolument bands
HK$0 to HK$500,000

B & # [
078 7T 2 500,000/ 7T

REFMALHOMSEELNT

2023
===

—_

Number of

individuals

AE

2022
—E-—

Number of

individuals

A

—=

HK$500,001 to HK$1,000,000
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000

500,001;8 7% 1,000,000/ 7T
1,000,001 7T 21,500,000/ 7T
1,500,001 7T 22,000,000/ 7T

1
1
1 _
3
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9 INTEREST EXPENSES AND OTHER FINANCE 9 FEBE = & E g & gl Ax
COST
2023 2022
—E-=HF T F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FAET
Interest expenses FIERAX
Interest expenses on bank and other  $£47 R B & & F S5
borrowings 23,727 19,638
Interest expenses on bank overdraft — $R7T:% X Al BRI 1 1
Banking facilities handling fees RITREFEE 39 1,027
Interest expenses to the immediate A B EHEAR A AL 5D
holding company (Note 27(b)) MEFRZ(Hat27(b)) = 73
Interest expenses to a related party a1 — %% B8 7 X489
(Note 27(b)) MERZ (HaF270)) 1,415 2,224
25,182 22,963
Other finance cost HAthBhE 52
Interest expenses on lease liabilities A& & &F S5 (47:2230))
(Note 23(b)) 475 803
10 INCOME TAX EXPENSE 10 FrEHBX
During the year ended 31 December 2023, Hong Kong profits tax HE T _=F+_A=+—HItF
has been provided at the rate of 16.5% (2022: 16.5%) on the B ET RN ERAZE16.5%
estimated assessable profits: —EF 1 16.5%)FHRE B G
B
2023 2022
—EB-=F B F
HK$'000 HK$’000
FE T FAT
Current income tax BNEAFTS AL
— Hong Kong profits tax —BBRER 16,703 14,618
— Over provision in prior years — B FERERE = (129)
Deferred income tax (Note 18) RIERTIS T (HTaE18) (1,529) (437)

15,174 14,052
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10 INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CONTINUED) 10 FE®iBER (&)
The taxation on the Group's profit before income tax differs from REBERRFTER AN M FHIE H A E
the theoretical amount that would arise are summarized as follows: SEAREEmaT
2023 2022
—E=-= T
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FHET FAT
Profit before income tax B P45 250 BID& A 66,740 81,917
Tax calculated at domestic AT R 16.5%
tax rates of 16.5% FTERFIE 11,013 13,516
Over provision in prior years BEFEBEREE - (129)
Income not subject to tax BEZRFUA (170) (292)
Expenses not deductible for NATHH R 2
tax purposes 4,331 957
15,174 14,052
11 EARNINGS PER SHARE 11 ZBREA
(a) Basic earnings per share (@) BREXER
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit BREARBINERARARHEE A
attributable to owners of the Company by the weighted BEENRABREZST =4
average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year +TZA=+—BIEFEEET
ended 31 December 2023. TBARR T EETESE -
During the year ended 31 December 2023, the weighted BE_Z-_=F+-A=1+—
average number of ordinary shares used for the purpose of HIEFE - AEstEERER
basic earnings per share has been retrospectively adjusted B &) m AR N T S E 5h
for the effects of the issue of shares in connection with the —E_=F+-_ARBREXREL
capitalization issue of 374,990,000 shares which took place £%17374,990,0000% B 277 f% 1%
on 5 December 2023. VR BVEHB TR o
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11

EARNINGS PER SHARE (CONTINUED)

(a)

(b)

Basic earnings per share (Continued)

On 5 December 2023, the Company issued additional
125,000,000 shares by way of capitalization of HK$12,500
standing to the credit of the Company’s share premium
account. On the same day, the shares of the Company
were listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange with
an offer price of HK$1.8 per share. The Company received
gross proceeds (before related fees and expenses) of
HK$225,000,000 in connection with the Listing.

11

ZREBAN(E)
(@) BREXRH(E)

R=ZZF-_=F+=FAAH &
AR E B AR R IR & E R
ERSF12,5008 TR E
K o BE1TEEIN 25,000,000 B A%
B e BHE  ARRBRMOREER
FrEfR £ - HEEREER1.8
I o AR A B _ETRELTTS
FIERE(HGREEER KA
Ai1)225,000,00078 7T °

Profit attributable to
equity holders of the
Company (HK$'000)

Weighted average number

RARBRHEREA
AR (T )

B EITR I T2

of shares in issue (FM)
(thousand shares)

Basic earnings per share BRERZAF
(HK cents) ()

Diluted earnings per share

The calculation of the diluted earnings per share is based
on the profit attributable to ordinary equity holders of
the Company, adjusted to reflect the impact from any
dilutive potential ordinary shares issued by the Company,
as appropriate. The weighted average number of ordinary
shares used in the calculation is the weighted average
number of ordinary shares assumed to have been issued on
the deemed exercise or conversion of all dilutive potential
ordinary shares into ordinary shares.

Diluted earnings per share for the year ended 31 December
2023 was the same as the basic earnings per share as there
were no potential dilutive ordinary shares outstanding
during the year (2022: Same).

(b)

51,566 67,865

384,246 375,000

13.42 18.10
BREERF

BRESANENARB LB
BB AREREN - Y EE
HE - URRARRFFETE
MEESTL AR E (E
R) - st E AT A E BN
BRBRERMBEEEEE AR
RRIFCEITRIFR TR
i 2 317 B0 & @ BN S 15
EBRHE -

BE-T-_=_F+-A=+—
HIEFENERESATHT
BEXRRFER @ REAFEA
MEBRITEINEEESTE R
R(ZZE==%F : HR) °
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12 SUBSIDIARIES

12

The Group’s principal subsidiaries as at 31 December 2023 are set

out below:

Name of subsidiary
HEARAE

Direct interests:
EEER
K Cash (BVI) Limited

K Cash Express (BVI) Limited

Indirect interests:
AEER
K Cash Express Limited

K Cash Limited

Place and date of
incorporation

A K A 5

The British Virgin Islands
(the "BVI"),
9 December 2019
EERLES
([RBERHES]) -
“Z-NE+ZANRB
The BVI,
28 October 2022
EERLHS -
“ECFTAZTNR

Hong Kong,
24 February 1999

Bk
—AWNNEZR=+WA

Hong Kong,
4 March 2008

Bk
“ZZT/\5=HWNA

Principal activities
TEEY

Investment holding

REEK

Investment holding

REEK

Providing unsecured
property owner loans
and SME loans

REEEAEFEFRR
RNEER

Providing unsecured
personal loans

REEEMLARR

LI EPNG
AEBR - -_=F+_A=1+—HH
FTEMEARFHSAT :

Issued and
paid-up capital
ERITREARA

Ownership interests
held by the Group

AEBFGREERES

2023 2022
—@m——g —T——

—ae =

1 ordinary share 100% N/A
TR 100% TNEm
1 ordinary share 100% N/A
TR 100% TNEm
20,000,000 ordinary 100% N/A
shares
20,000,000 &3 H% 100% NEA
100,000 ordinary shares 100% N/A
100,0008R% & @M% 100% NEA
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13  PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 13 ¥P% -~ HEBENRE

Leasehold Furniture Motor
improvements  Equipment  and fixtures vehicles Total

RENEKE #fE FEREERE HE L

HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
TR TR TR TR TR

At 1 January 2022 R=Z2--%-A-H
Cost KA 6,639 9173 76 3375 19,263
Accumulated depreciation B Pk (4.919) (6,213) (74) (3,375) (14,581)
Net book amount ERFE 1,720 2,960 2 = 4,682
Year ended HE-B-CF

31 December 2022 TZR=t+-HLEE
Opening net book amount ENEmFE 1,720 2,960 2 = 4,682
Additions NE 64 1,415 - - 1,479
Depreciation (Note 6) FE&H#6) (760) (1,547) ) - (2,309)
Disposal (Note 25(c) BEW2250) @2n) (104) - = (315)
Closing net book amount EREMFE 813 2,724 = = 3,537
At 31 December 2022 R-ZE--#+-A=+-H
Cost AR 4,630 9,582 68 3,375 17,655
Accumulated depreciation 2:inE (3,817) (6,858) (69) (3,375) (14,118)
Net book amount REFE 813 2,724 - - 3,537
At 1 January 2023 R-B-=fF-A-H
Cost KA 4,630 9,582 68 3375 17,655
Accumulated depreciation ZEE (3,817) (6,858) (68) (3,375) (14,118)
Net book amount REFE 813 2,724 - - 3,537
Year ended BZ-Z-=F

31 December 2023 +ZA=t-HLEE
Opening net book amount EREEE 813 2,724 - - 3,537
Additions NE 979 484 - - 1,463
Depreciation (Note 6) FE&W#6) (431) (1,201) - - (1,632)
Disposal (Note 25(c) HEW2250) (360) - - = (360)
Closing net book amount EREMFE 1,001 2,007 - - 3,008
At 31 December 2023 R=B-=#+-f=1-H
Cost KA 5,241 9,676 68 3,375 18,360
Accumulated depreciation B:iE (4,240) (7,669) (68) (3,375) (15,352)
Net book amount FmFE 1,001 2,007 = = 3,008
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14 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 14 HEREITHEMITE

2023 2022
e e —

—_—= —_—<

HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT TAET

Financial assets at amortized cost REBERATENESREE

Cash and cash equivalents (Note 17) ReRREEBW(HE17) 218,368 24,131
Amounts due from fellow subsidiaries  FEUR R Z M B A A

(Note 27) KB (HTEF27) 236 90,224
Amounts due from related parties JE U BEES 5

(Note 27) FIE(H15t27) 82 638
Amount due from a director (Note 27)  fEY—BEEKIE(H:227) - 575
Loan receivables (Note 15) R E R (HaE15) 964,392 913,815
Deposits and other receivables e REAEWGRIE 8,594 6,475

1,191,672 1,035,858

Financial liabilities at amortized cost REHR A BN EREE
Amount due to the ultimate holding JER & AAER A A

company (Note 27) HIB(HT7F27) 13 84
Amount due to the immediate holding (S B2 A 7

company (Note 27) HIB(HT5F27) = 10,500
Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries ARG N ENG]!

(Note 27) I (ME27) 99 -
Amounts due to related parties FE{ST AR

(Note 27) I (HE27) - 28,486
Accruals and other payables et E A N L th FE < RRIE 8,158 4,678
Bank and other borrowings (Note 22)  $R1T M H i EE (H7722) 342,629 303,095
Lease liabilities (Note 23) HEaE#723) 6,530 19,122

357,429 365,965
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15

BEMBERME

LOAN RECEIVABLES

15 BRERR

2023 2022
—EgE== B

HK$'000 HK$'000
FHx FETT

Loan receivables W E R
— Unsecured property owner loans — IR E R 784,021 729,960
— Unsecured personal loans —EEHLAER 242,295 234,553
— SME loans — R/ NER 47,531 54,303
1,073,847 1,018,816
Less: Provision for impairment B ORE R (109,455) (105,001)
964,392 913,815
Expected loss rates TEEREIE R 10.2% 10.3%

As at 31 December 2023, the loan receivables are repayable
with fixed terms agreed with the customers, loan receivables are
unsecured, interest-bearing and are repayable with fixed terms
agreed with customers. The maximum exposure to credit risk at
the end of the year is the carrying value of the loan receivables
mentioned above.

Expected credit losses, net of HK$55,757,000 (2022:
HK$37,672,000) was recognized in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income during the year ended 31 December 2023.

For loans that are not credit-impaired without significant increase
in credit risk since initial recognition “Stage 1”, ECL is measured
at an amount equal to the portion of lifetime ECL that result from
default events possible within the next 12 months. If a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition is identified (”Stage
2") but not yet deemed to be credit impaired, ECL is measured
based on lifetime ECL.

E’\_q_ F+-—A=1t—H  BKE
RRIRERF HEMNEEGRRER - &
Hﬂlﬁ KIS EIEA BT ERIREE P i
EREEGRRER - RERAZNRR
EERRA M ERERNREE

—E-_=F+=-A=+—HItF
REEEEERE R ERERE
E548 % 5855,757,0008 T (ZE ==
£ 1 37,672,000/67T) °

S

)?MT&@

SRR EEREREERR B HE
LAY B AR _ETTEN BB | B R
5 BHEEBEBERBESFRAKI2ME
AR R EEOF BN R
EEERFIHNTHENE - HEBRE
EE\Bz B 9 HERIA A £ (TR ER
2DHERBE R HBREERE - RIFEH
EERRRE AN EEEETE
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15 LOAN RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED) 15 EWERGE)
The ageing analysis of loan receivables by due date is as follows: R E A 8o ey ek B SRR o AT 0
T
2023 2022
—_=E_= ==
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET AT
Unsecured property owner loans EIKHETEN
Not overdue A6 Hf 363,312 348,899
1-30 days past due HHEI1ZE30H 100,272 79,065
31-60 days past due #HI312=60H 17,590 17,908
61-90 days past due #HI61290H 10,954 9,815
Over 90 days past due B HAFEEO0 B 291,893 274,273
784,021 729,960
Unsecured personal loans EIERAAER
Not overdue Rz HA 188,348 182,186
1-30 days past due #AE1Z=30H 16,645 10,878
31-60 days past due #E31E260H 2,475 2,649
61-90 days past due #E61E90H 1,712 5,330
Over 90 days past due B EAFRIEO0H 33,115 33,510
242,295 234,553
SME loans RN EER
Not overdue R HY 32,370 38,519
1-30 days past due BHEI1ZE30H 4,538 5,681
31-60 days past due BHEA31ZE60H 2,164 639
61-90 days past due #HA612E90H 1,875 406
Over 90 days past due B HAFERO0 B 6,584 9,058
47,531 54,303
As at 31 December 2023, the Group has provision for impairment R-ZE-=F+-A=+—01 ~&EF
of loan receivables of HK$109,455,000 (2022: HK$105,001,000). B EUE FOR B #18109,455,0007% 7T
—ZT— 4 :105,001,00087T) °
Borrowers are required to repay the outstanding loan receivable ERABRBERYEFARATH D
balances by monthly installments over the term of the HEEREERKE LR o

corresponding loan receivables.
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15 LOAN RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)

The aging analysis of loan receivables based on instalments by due
date is as follows:

15 EWEMRGE)
H05 B FR B8 B 815 MR R
RS :

2023 2022
—Eg=-= B

HK$’'000 HK$'000
FET FAT

Unsecured property owner loans EIEHETEN
Current BNER 600,500 568,368
Overdue 1-30 days HHEI1ZE30H 9,513 9,091
Overdue 31-60 days #HI31260H 6,203 5,744
Overdue 61-90 days #HI61290H 6,244 5,299
Overdue over 90 days #wHI90B LA | 161,561 141,458
784,021 729,960

Unsecured personal loans EIRAAAER
Current BNER 219,540 212,120
Overdue 1-30 days #HI1ZE30H 3,052 3,009
Overdue 31-60 days #HI312=60H 1,918 2,191
Overdue 61-90 days #HI612=90H 1,771 1,963
Overdue over 90 days BEA90H LA 16,014 15,270
242,295 234,553

SME loans RNRER

Current BNER 43,170 48,675
Overdue 1-30 days #HI1ZE30H 928 1,703
Overdue 31-60 days #HI312=60H 647 782
Overdue 61-90 days #HI612=90H 471 811
Overdue over 90 days #HI90 A A 2,315 2,332
47,531 54,303

The carrying amount of the Group’s loan receivables is
denominated in HK$ and approximates to its fair value. Further
analyses on credit risk management of the Group'’s loan receivables
are set out in Note 3.1(b).

AEBERKERHREEAETEHE
WEHRERNHERE - BEAREREKE
REERBRERENE - IO T
3.1(b) °
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16 PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER

RNRIR » HEREMEY

RECEIVABLES RIE
2023 2022
—E-=HF B
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHT
Prepayments for advertising BEETERRIE - 1,106
Prepaid listing expenses TEfS EmkY = 3,803
Other prepayments HAhIE(I 5K 4,014 748
Deposits o 7,866 5,938
Other receivables H b pe kI8 728 537
12,608 12,132
The listing expenses are incurred in connection with the Listing of TR TIBARE ETmESL - R
the Company and will be capitalized to equity upon completion of RAT] EMEKEEM R o

the Listing of the Company.

All deposits and other receivables are neither past due nor FrB 1R & I Hofh FE W SR IR S SR 18 B TR A
impaired. RIE o
The carrying amounts of the Group’s prepayments, deposits and REEMTENFIE « He RHE MR
other receivables are denominated in HK$. THH) AR E (B AB TTEHE ©

17 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 17 RERRESEEY

2023 2022
—_E_= —E-—F

HK$°000 HK$°000
THERT TAT

Cash at bank and on hand RITMFEER 218,368 24,131

Re kB EEBYABTHE -

Cash and cash equivalents are denominated in HK$.
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18 DEFERRED INCOME TAX 18 IEIEFTSH
Deferred income tax is calculated in full on temporary differences BTSRRI AMEFRAN =%
under the liability method using the tax rates enacted or T A=+—HERMBEEER ML
substantially enacted as at 31 December 2023. MR =REREGTE -
2023 2022
—E_= B
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET T
Deferred income tax assets: FREFEREE :
— Deferred income tax assets to — #1218 A AU E &Y
be recovered within 12 months LSRG E 18,744 17,489
— Deferred income tax assets to — 31218 A g IR B &Y
be recovered after 12 months EEFTSTREE = 134
Deferred income tax liabilities: REFERERE
— Deferred income tax liabilities to — 81218 B RERE
settled within 12 months FEFTSREE 165 (243)
Deferred income tax assets, net BEFSTHREEFE 18,909 17,380
The movements in the deferred income tax assets account are as EIEFTEREERBSEH0T :
follows:

HK$'000

FHETT

At 1 January 2022 R-ZZE_—_F—HF—H 16,943
Credited to profit or loss (Note 10) T AB=(AEET10) 437
At 31 December 2022 WN-_E-_—_F+=-_H=+—H 17,380
At 1 January 2023 R-Z—_=F—H—H 17,380
Credited to profit or loss (Note 10) ST ABE=(HEE10) 1,529
At 31 December 2023 R -_=F+_-_A=+—H 18,909
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BEMBERME

18 DEFERRED INCOME TAX (CONTINUED)

The movements in the deferred income tax assets account are as
follows:

18 IRILFTE

SHL(E)
LRSI EERR B & T ¢

Lease Provisions Tax loss Total

HE BiE BIEEE et

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET T BT T

At 1 January 2022 NZE-_—_F—H—H 74 16,775 - 16,849

(Charged)/credited to profit or loss (G185 ) /5T AB# (48) 621 = 573
At 31 December 2022 R-ZE—_—F

+=—B=+—H 26 17,396 - 17,422

At 1 January 2023 NZZE_=F—HF—H 26 17,396 - 17,422

(Charged)/credited to profit or loss (B 1E2530K% ) /5 AB# (58) 664 716 1,322
At 31 December 2023 NZTE_=%F

+=-—A=1+—H (32) 18,060 716 18,744

The net movements of the Group’s deferred income tax liabilities
are as follows:

AEBRELEFAEHABNFEIMT

Accelerated tax
depreciation

InERBLIEITEE

HK$'000

FHET

At 1 January 2022 R-ZT-——F—F—H (94)
Charged to profit or loss BiEm kR 136
At 31 December 2022 R-TB__F+-_A=+—H 42
At 1 January 2023 RZE-_=F—H—H 42
Credited to profit or loss FFABE=E (207)
At 31 December 2023 R-E-_=F+=-HA=+—H (165)
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19 REPOSSESSED ASSETS 19 KWEEE
The Group obtained control on repossessed assets by taking AEEFBEEIEAEREHREEG
possession of collaterals as security. The carrying amounts of these U O EERIEERE - ZEEEN_Z
assets as at 31 December 2023 is set out below: —=F+-A=+—HB0NEREHNT
Y
2023 2022
—E=-= —EF-
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Repossessed assets L EEE 17,160 5,951
Less: Provision for impairment B ORERE (715) (156)
Repossessed assets, net LI B & EFE 16,445 5,795
The estimated market values of the repossessed assets held REBABEKEEER_S =4
by the Group as at 31 December 2023 were approximately TZA=T—H®WAEGTWENA
HK$29,542,000 (2022: HK$9,991,000). They represent properties 29,542,000/ 0( ==& = =4 :9,991,000
in respect of which the Group has acquired access or control (e.g. BT o HANREE 2k Eb o mikE
through court proceedings or voluntary actions by the properties N C R R 5 NSNS |2 L EE )
concerned) for releasing the obligations of borrowers in full or in B FATTE)) M58 AR S IE IR )
part. %o
Movements of the Group's provision for impairment of repossessed N [ A W [B] & E R (B B Y B B D
assets are as follows: N

2023 2022

—E_= —E-—
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET T
At the beginning of the year REH] 156 183
Provision for/(reversal of) impairment SRERHE,(BE) 559 (27)
At the end of the year RER 715 156
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20 SHARE CAPITAL 20 IR

Number of Nominal value of
ordinary shares  ordinary share

ZEREE EEREE
(thousand
shares) HK$'000
(Fh%) FAT
Authorized: JETE
As at 25 October 2022 RZE-_—F+A8
(date of incorporation), —+HRHEGEMRKZBE)
31 December 2022 and 2023 TECCFRZTE=F
(Note 1.2) tTZR=+—B#H1.2) () 3,900,000 390
Issued and paid: BETEREM :
Issuance of ordinary sharesupon R-Z - —F+HF—-+HH
incorporation on 25 October FEAC S BB T B A
2022 (Note 1.2) (Kr5t1.2) (b) 10 =
Capitalization issue BT © 374,990 37
Issuance of new share pursuant BAE EhEr T,
to the Listing (d) 125,000 13
As at 31 December 2023 R-ZZTE—=%F
+=-A=+—H 500,000 50
(@)  The Company was incorporated on 25 October 2022 as @ ARARZZEZZ=ZF+ A
an exempted company with limited liability under the laws T THERERERES AT
of the Cayman Islands with an authorized share capital ML RERRBRAA -
of HK$390,000 divided into 3,900,000,000 shares of a YA TE B% 7N £ 390,0007& T 0 &
nominal value of HK$0.0001 each. /5 3,900,000,000 (% & % E 18
0.000178TTHIAX D
(b) On 25 October 2022, 10,000 ordinary shares were issued (b) R-E-_—_F+A=-+HB8 "
for approximately HK$0.0001 per share pursuant to the BEMFI2AEAEEE
Group's Reorganization set out in Note 1.2. #8 + 10,000 /% & 3@ AR i T AR 4V

0.0001/8 37T °
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20 SHARE CAPITAL (CONTINUED)

21

(0)

Pursuant to the shareholders’ resolution dated on 31
October 2023, the Company capitalized HK$37,499
standing to the credit of the share premium account of the
Company by applying such sum in paying up in full at par
of 374,990,000 shares of the Company.

On 5 December 2023, the shares of the Company were
listed on the Stock Exchange with an offer price of HK$1.8
per share. Upon the Listing, the Company issued a total of
125,000,000 shares by way of capitalization of HK$12,500
standing to the credit of the Company’s share premium
account for gross proceeds (before related fees and
expenses) of HK$225,000,000.

ACCRUALS AND OTHER PAYABLES

20 BAE(GE)

()

BiEHBMA-_ZT-_=4+A
=+—HHABRERZR AR
ABARRRG BERERS
RA37,4998 LEREAR + AR
RSB ERIEREREEM R
374,990,000/% AN A RIS ©

R-ZE-_=F+-HFHH =&«
NARMDEBZT LT - BE
BAER1.8EIT - LW &
A \)2174 ££125,000,000 % A%
B AREBARRKRDRE
BRERSE 12,5008 LB R E
N FriSpEAE(REREE
A KB Bl ) 4225,000,0007%
=

21 MEEFEAREMENATRE

2023
—rae—=

—_—l =

HK$'000
FHERT

2022
—E-—

HK$'000
TAET

Accrued listing expenses FEET MRS 3,446 2,607
Accrued salaries and staff benefits EEtE e kB LEF 819 803
Other accruals HAbfEET &R 1,282 378

Provision for reinstatement HEER
cost for leases PR A 824 831
Others HAtb 2,606 812
8,977 5,481

The Group's accruals and other payables are denominated in HK$.

AEE R ERTE R KA RN RIRAE

TEATME -
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22 BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS 22 RITREAMEE
2023 2022
== —E_—

HK$’'000 HK$'000

FERT FHETT

Bank loans RITER 312,569 303,095

Other loan HihE R 30,060 -

342,629 303,095
For the year ended 31 December 2023, the interest rates of HE-_Z-_=F+-_HA=+—HLHF
the bank and other borrowings ranged from 4.58% to 9.98% B RITREMEENFENFEF
(2022: 3.88% to 6.25%) per annum. Maturity analysis of bank 4.58%59.98%(:%::& 3.88%
borrowings with a repayment on demand clause based on agreed £6.25%) ° IR EEREATER A
scheduled repayments is set out in Note 3.1(c). BRERERGHNBITEERI BRI TH

PAMIEE3.1(0) ©

The amounts based on the scheduled repayment dates set out REHEB - HERBZEMHTEEERH
in the loan agreements and the maturities of the Group’s total HRAEEESEBENIIHAZE NG
borrowings at the balance sheet date (i.e. ignoring the effect of (AR R AR 2K EE G
any repayment on demand clause) are shown below: EINRTRIIR :

2023 2022
—E_= —E-—
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FEx T
Amounts of borrowings that are AR T EARRE R A
repayable: BESHE -
— Within 1 year ~1FR 316,792 298,287
— Between 1 and 2 years = =24 25,837 4,808

342,629 303,095
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22

BEMBERME

BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS
(CONTINUED)

Bank facilities and pledge of assets

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had aggregate
banking facilities of approximately HK$340,344,000 (2022:
HK$343,095,000) for bank overdrafts and bank loans. There
were undrawn facilities of approximately HK$29,000,000 (2022:
HK$40,000,000) as at 31 December 2023.

As at 31 December 2023, the bank loans were secured by the
following:

a) Unlimited joint guarantees provided by the Controlling
Shareholders and certain related parties of the Group;

b) A floating charge against all assets duly executed by K Cash
Express Limited; and

Q) A property held by a related party.

From 19 March 2024, the unlimited joint guarantees provided
by the Controlling Shareholders and certain related parties of the
Group and the property held by a related party were released by
the bank.

As at 31 December 2023, other loan from a financial institution
was secured by the Group’s gross loan receivables of approximately
HK$43,591,000.

The Group has complied with the relevant financial covenants of
its banking facilities during the year ended 31 December 2023.

As at 31 December 2023, all bank borrowings are denominated in
HK$ and their carrying amounts approximate their respective fair
values.

22

BITHMEREERKF
F:;:_¢+—H_+ =IEN-S
B TEI MBITTERERFEITR

ﬁﬁﬁ@ymMAmw&ﬂ_z::
F 1 343,095,000 L) c R=ZE ==
F+-_A=+—8" *ﬁmﬂéﬁr
#9 729,000,000/ L (=& = =
40,000,000/87T) °

R-ZB_=F+-HA=t+—H  R1TE
FAT SIS IREA

a) ZRBCR R AN B S T BT
PR AR K RELR -

b) K Cash Express Limited & &%3 37
FIEBENZEHT - &

0 —RBBAORBENYE -

E-Z-_WNF=A+B#E  ZERKEE
NS B35 T RaE: 5 iR A S R R 4
RAR— B A AR ERIT
iR bR o

RZE—_=F+-_A=+—08 " kKE&
AR ENEGERRERAEBERE
FK#)43,591,00058 T VEHK I -

HE_Z_=F+_A=+—HIF
B AEEEETHERITRVE R
ﬁkjglﬂi"

R-B_=F+-_A=+—H " Fa

TEEHETE - AREEREE
BHDFERE
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23 LEASE 23 HE
(@) Amounts recognized in the consolidated balance () RHESEEABERTEIN
sheet RE
The consolidated balance sheet shows the following HEBEABEXRIRUATHEE
amounts relating to leases: FERAFRIA

2023 2022
—E== —F-—
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FHIT
Right-of-use assets FEREEE
Properties M 6,862 18,083
Office equipment I YNE ] 687 878
7,549 18,961
Lease liabilities HEERE 6,530 19,122

HE_Z_=F+_A=+—
HIEFE FABEERED
710,860,000 T (=& = =
£ : 5,660,000/ 7C) °

During the year ended 31 December 2023, there
were additions to right-of-use assets of approximately
HK$10,860,000 (2022: HK$5,660,000).

AEEWHEERBABITHE -

The Group's lease liabilities are denominated in HK$.

(b) Amounts recognized in the consolidated (b) MEEZHWBRTEIN
statement of comprehensive income M
The consolidated statement of comprehensive income FEETERERIITATEE
shows the following amounts relating to leases: FEREFRIA ¢

2023 2022
—ZE-= —E -
HK$’000

T

HK$°000
FTET

EREEENE :

Depreciation of right-of-use assets:

Properties Y 10,481 12,130
Office equipment YN ] 191 185
10,672 12,315

Expenses related to short-term EERERBERS

lease (included in general and GTA—MEITHFAX)

administrative expenses) (Note 6) (K1zt6) 3,190 2,921
Interest expenses on lease liabilities f& & EMF]EFH 2

(Note 9) (K17£9) 475 803

214 K CASH CORPORATION LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2023



Notes to the Historical Financial Information 873 Bf 75 &k i 5F

23

LEASE (CONTINUED)

(9]

(d)

(e)

Amounts recognized in the consolidated
statement of cash flows

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the total cash
outflows for leases were analyzed as below:

23 MHE(GE)

(c)

REERERERPERAN

MR

 ZE—_ T _=F+_-_A=+—H
IHFE HENBES AL AR
DATEAR -

2023 2022
=—E-= T

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FAT
Cash flows from operating activities AL /EEFTSIRER=E

Payments for short-term leases* AR E > (3,190) (2,921)
Cash flows from financing activities RI&EEZEAEIRERE
Payment of principal elements of SNEEaEAEHS

lease liabilities (Note 25(b)) (K1a225(b)) (11,209) (12,447)

Payment of interest of lease liabilities Sz {47 & & EF &
(Note 25(b)) (Hf7E25()) (475) (803)
* Payments for short-term leases were not shown separately, but & A7 B B AT 54 I B Y

included in the line of “Profit before income tax” in respect of
the net cash generated from operations which were presented
in Note 25(a) using the indirect method.

The Group’s leasing activities and how these are
accounted for

The Group leases various offices premises and equipment.
Rental contracts are typically made for fixed periods of 2 to
4 years, but may have extension options as described in (e)
below.

Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and
contain a wide range of different terms and conditions.
The lease agreements do not impose any covenants other
than the security interests in the leased assets that are held
by the lessor. Leased assets may not be used as security for
borrowing purposes.

Extension and termination options

Extension and termination options are included in certain
leases of the Group on shop premises. These are used to
maximize operational flexibility in terms of managing the
assets used in the Group’s operations. The majority of
extension and termination options held are exercisable only
by the Group and not by the respective lessor.

(d)

(e)

T EF AR RRER
iT25(a) 2 5 ME E TR H 2
JEERRY[ R AT IS AT 7]

AEENHETHREAR
Dab;
AEEHREZERAGIT MK
H - HEAHNBEENT224
FRETHREDL - ERIITE
T (e)FF BTt A RE R F 4 o

HERRRE R EEETE
E - BEESBEARER R
- BRHEAMBHEHEEEN
ERERI  HEBET S
MEAR - HEEETSEH
TEEE R EAm -

ERRRILRER
AEBETHLAZEYMEEER
BRERREIEEE - REE
AEEEERMANEEMS
RERERERERERSZE
BRI - IR AR IR R
IHEERET A AREMIER
B AEALTEE ©
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24 DIVIDENDS

2023 2022
e e —

—_—= —_—<

HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT TAET

Dividends Az 8

100,000 =

Dividends during the year ended 31 December 2023 represented
dividends declared by the companies comprising the Group to
the owners of the companies, after elimination of intra-group
dividends. The rates for dividends and the number of shares
ranking for dividends are not presented as such information is not
considered meaningful for the purpose of this report.

A final dividend of HK1.998 cents per ordinary share (equivalent
to approximately HK$9,990,000) has been proposed by the board
of directors and is subject to the approval of the Company’s
shareholders at the forthcoming annual general meeting. The
proposed final dividend is therefore not recognized as dividend
payable as at 31 December 2023.

BE_Z-_=—F+_-_A=+—HILFE
FREE - FBEEEANA R ER L%
REERFE NARRAREE ASIK
HIRRE o BAREM S * ARBREERK
BREKEREMRMNE B BRI ES
% BUEZINZEER -

EFoEaARAREERE A998
AL (HEE R 49,990,000/8 7T ) © BAE
AARREAREERRBFEAS L
o FEEE - At RZEZ=F
+ZA=1+—H  EFRHARETERE
RARMRE -
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25 NOTE TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 25

CASH FLOWS

(@) Reconciliation of profit before income tax to

cash generated from operations

ReERETRERME

() BRATEBANEFIERELHRE

RE R

2023
—rae—=

—_—l =

HK$’000
FHERT

2022

—F — —
=

HK$'000
TAET

Profit before income tax R BT 1585 AT A 66,740 81,917
Adjustments for: BLA T SIEAE
Depreciation of property, L E SN
plant and equipment (Note 6) HEIE(Ht6) 1,632 2,309
Depreciation of right-of-use EREEENE (H/it6)
asset (Note 6) 10,672 12,315
Loss on disposal of property, HEME - #Has Xk
plant and equipment (Note 5(b)) FAEBE(HAE50b)) = 219
Gain on termination of lease I ER
(Note 5(b)) Wezs (H1aE5(b)) (643) (18)
Interest income (Note 5(b)) FBUA (HT2E5(b)) (505) @)
Provision for/(reversal of) LU BB ERE
impairment of repossessed e/ (BE)
assets (Note 19) (H15£19) 559 (27)
Expected credit losses, TEEEE B R
net (Note 15) (H1aE15) 55,757 37,672
Interest expenses FERAZ 25,657 23,766
Operating cash flow before changes &8 & & & B)A]
in working capital KERERE 159,869 158,146
Changes in working capital: BIBEESEE)
Loan receivables FEUE K (106,334) 43,107
Repossessed assets KU BB B (11,209) 858
Prepayments, deposits and BRFEIE - Bek
other receivables H At fEUGRIE (2,104) (5,042)
Accrual and other payables et & A N th FE A~ 8 3,496 3,707
Cash generated from operations KBTSIRE 43,718 200,776
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25

NOTE TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF

CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)

(b)

25

SReERTREBRMET(E)

The reconciliation of net debt arising from (b) BMEETDHELENGERFEY
financing activities is as follows: BRAH
Amount Amount
duetothe  duetothe  Amounts
ultimate  immediate due to
Lease Bank holding holding related
liabilities  borrowings company company parties
FEf Ef
RAER iR JEf
HEER  #7RE NG NAFE  BHARE a5t
(Note 23) (Note 22) (Note 27) (Note27)  (Note 27)
(Wi#23)  (wE2) (WE2)  (WE)  (HE2)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000
TAT TER TAT AR TAT TAT
As at 1 January 2023 RZB-=%
-B-H 19,122 303,095 84 10,500 28,486 361,287
Cash flows, net BenEs
- Interest paid -BRHE - (22482) - - = (22,482)
- Payment of principal elements of  — X FAEEEAE LS
lease liabilities (Note 23(c)) (H#230) (11,209) - - = = (11,209)
- Payment of interest elements of  — XS EEFE L
lease liabilities (Note 23(c)) (H#230) (475) - - = = (475)
— Proceeds from bank borrowings ~ —REHITEER
FEZE - 414,125 - - - 414,125
— Repayments of bank borrowings ~ —EBHRITEE - (375,876) = - = (375,876)
— Repayment to the ultimate —MREHERAR
holding company & - - (71) - - (71)
- Repayment to the immediate L3 NG i)
holding company B - - - (10,500) - (10,500)
~ Repayment to related parties B NER - - - - (29,901) (29.901)
Other non-cash movements 3R e e
- Interest expenses —FIEF% 475 23,767 - - 1,415 25,657
— Additions of lease liabilities ~HEBEEN 10,860 - - - - 10,860
— Termination of leases &g (12,283) = = - = (12,243)
As at 31 December 2023 R=B==f
+=ZA=t-H 6,530 342,629 13 - - 349,172
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25 NOTE TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 25 #AB4E&AREXRMETT(E)
CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)

(b) The reconciliation of net debt arising from (b) RMEITBDELENERFEY
financing activities is as follows: (Continued) BRINT : (&)

Amount Amount
duetothe  duetothe Amounts Amounts

ultimate  immediate due to dueto
Lease Bank holding holding fellow related
liabilities  borrowings company  subsidiaries parties
kAR i FEfT
HERE HORE A RelgE  EEATE @t
(Note 23) (Note 22) (Note 27) (Note 27)
Wi23)  (W#t22) (i) (Wikzz)  (W#z7) (W)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THL T ThL BT TA TAL THL
As at 1 January 2022 R-BE-CE
-A-H 20,620 328,103 30 262,948 9,631 33,292 654,624
Cash flows, net Renese
~ Payment of principal elements — % AHEREAS
of lease liabilities (Note 23(c) A (#2231 (12,447) - - = = - (12,447)
- Payment of interest elements of — 2 E B EF]
lease liabilities (Note 23(¢)) D (H:2230) (803) - - = = - (803)
~ Proceeds from bank borrowings — 7R & {7 B #)
ifeE - 13749 - - - - 43749
- Repayments of bank borrowings— B 3B1T(EE - (462,49) - - - - (462,498)
- Advances from the ultimate  — 7R B B4R
holding company NGlOE - - 54 - - - 54
- Repayment to the immediate  — FIEZIEIRA AA)
holding company Bx - - - (4,627) - = (4,627)
- Repayment to fellow subsidiaries— [FI[E] 2K B 2 &)
& - - - - (13,389) - (13,389)
— Repayment to related parties  — (IR FTE)E S - - - = = (4,806) (4,306)
QOther non-cash movements ~ EftiJER 458
- Additions of lease liabilities ~ — A& & E&N 11,110 - - - - - 11,110
- Termination of leases o Jlxi 642 - - - - - 642
- Assignment of unsecured  —[REEEEER
loans portfolio to the ReEvERdS
Group (Note 25(cf) (W250) - - - - 150,134 - 150,134
- Intercompany balances -BERRINEE
novated (Note 25(d)) VNG
(Hi25) - - - (4781)  (146,376) - (3%4,197)
As at 31 December 2022 R-B-—%
+ZA=t-H 19,122 303,095 84 10,500 - 28,486 361,287
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25 NOTE TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 25 #AB4E&AREXRMETT(E)
CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)

()  Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and () HEWXE - WBRREMS
equipment comprise: MEWT -
2023 2022
—E_= —E-—
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FEx T
Net book amount (Note 13) RREDVFE(A/AL13) 360 315
Loss on disposal of property, HEME - #e2 M RIEER
plant and equipment (Note 5(b)) (H15%5()) - (219)
Proceeds from disposal of property, &Y - #2E RREFS
plant and equipment HIE 360 96
(d) Significant non-cash transaction (d) Ek#ﬁ&%ﬁ%
During the year ended 31 December 2023, amount due = =F+-A=+—H
from a director of HK$558,000 was settled by current Jj:if F’Euﬁl HEERE
accounts with fellow subsidiaries. 558,000/ L E E B A %W%
A RERPELT ©
During the year ended 31 December 2023, amount due to BE_ZT-_=F+_"_H=+—H
a fellow subsidiary of HK$5,367,000 was settled by current IFE - BN—HERRHBEA
account with another fellow subsidiary. A)5XIE5,367,0008 L EER S
—FHRRMBRRIMNTRES
Bt o
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26 BALANCE SHEET AND RESERVE MOVEMENT 26
OF THE COMPANY
Balance sheet of the Company

(a)

ll

%’A— EERERKERS

—E_= B
HK$’'000 HK$'000
TET T
ASSETS &E
Cash and cash equivalents REeRIREEEY 114,111 -
Investments in subsidiaries RIB A RIMIRE =% -
Amounts due from subsidiaries  J& Y B A B 5 IE 69,034 -
Prepayments SELNEOE 212 3,803
Total assets EEHAE 183,357 3,803
EQUITY Em
Equity attributable to the ~ AQATEE A
owners of the Company EihER
Share capital ¥ 20 50 —*
Reserves s b) 178,610 (5,315)
Total equity/(deficit) (4B 178,660 (5,315)
LIABILITIES =N
Amount due to a subsidiary B —RWE A RFIA =5 -
Amount due to a fellow N —ER &
subsidiary B8 A RIRIA = 6,511
Accruals and other payables FEET B R R EAth S 5RIE 4,697 2,607
Total liabilities BEAE 4,697 9,118
Total equity and liabilities ERNEEARsE 183,357 3,803
= Below HK$1,000 & 1ER1,000/87T
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26 BALANCE SHEET AND RESERVE MOVEMENT 26 APEEEEBERRHEE

OF THE COMPANY (CONTINUED) By (#8)
(b) Reserve movement of the Company (b) ZADAREEH

Share Accumulated
premium losses Total

63 E RIBR #st
HK$'000 HK$"000 HK$'000
FTAET TATT TAET

Balance at 25 October 2022 R-B-—F+A4

(Note) —t+HBENEE
(Hat)
Loss and total comprehensive BAREE X
loss for the period 2 HEEREE = (5,315) (5,315)
Balance at 31 December 2022 R=-T==—H+=A
=+—BN#ER = (5,315) (5,315)
Balance at 1 January 2023 R-E-=F
—A— B - (5.315) (5.315)
Loss and total comprehensive FRBEK
loss for the year S HEERTE - (24,810) (24,810)
Capitalization issue (Note 20(c))  EAR{LE1T
(Kta£20(c)) (37) - (37)
Issuance of new share pursuant 1% _FH31THAR
to the Listing (Note 20(c)) (H1:£20(d)) 224,987 = 224,987
Listing expenses capitalized B EmHX (16,215) - (16,215)
Balance at 31 December 2023 HR-ZE=-=%+—A4
=+— BH&ER 208,735 (30,125) 178,610
Note:  The Company was incorporated on 25 October 2022 as Wit ARARAIR=ZF=ZZF+A
an exempted company with limited liability under the laws A ARBFEFHS LA
of the Cayman Islands with an authorized share capital of AME T BERE BRI
HK$390,000 divided into 3,900,000,000 shares of a nominal Al » VA E IR K 73 390,000 %
value of HK$0.0001 each. JC * 5 #33,900,000,000/8 %

FRET(E0.0001 8T AR 17 °
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27

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability,
directly or indirectly, control the other party or exercise significant
influence over the other party in making financial and operation
decisions. Parties are also considered to be related if they are
subject to common control. Members of key management of
the Group and their close family members are also considered as

related parties.

27 BERRE
=T B NE R ERES S — 7%
BR— TR EERRITEERY
&7 g RE SR - WESX
HRHES] - AT TR (F A BRI - X
SETEEEENE R EIRIAR S
RARE )T o

As at 31 December 2023, the Company is controlled by Konew RZBE-_=F+=-A=+—H ' KA7]

Fintech Corporation Limited, a company incorporated in the
Cayman Islands. The Company is ultimately owned by Konew
Group Limited, a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands.
The directors of the Company regard Konew Fintech Corporation
Limited and Konew Group Limited as the immediate holding
company and the ultimate holding company of the Company

respectively.

Major related parties that had transactions with the Group during
the year ended 31 December 2023 are as follows:

Related parties

)yl

Mr. Lee Kun Tai, Steven

FIRFRE

Mr. Lee Sheung Shing

FEREE

Ms. Lee Pik Tsong

FERLL

Ms. Kan Pui Yan

I 22+

SW Lee Limited

SW Lee Limited

AQ Communications Limited

AQ Communications Limited

Keyfull Industrial Limited
HEBEXERAA

Fold Time Industries Limited
BHREXEFRAA

Big Development Asset Management Limited
ABREEEEARAT

Bridgeway Advisors Group Limited
REREERAT

Bridgeway Konew Fintech Lending Fund SP
Bridgeway Konew Fintech Lending Fund SP

HEECRBIEEEERAR(EHE
B ML ATE])IZER - KRTFHA
Konew Group Limited (£ %8 R Z B S
FMKH AR REHES - AARE
ERE RESHBEEEARARR
Konew Group Limited % Bl & 72K A & A9
BEEERAR RREERAT

BEZT-_=F+=-A=+—HL*=F
B BAKEETRSHNEZ@EE 0
™

Relationship with the Group
BB R

A Controlling Shareholder

FERRRR R

A Controlling Shareholder

FERR AR

A Controlling Shareholder

FERRRR R

A director of the Company
RRF—HER

Controlled by the Controlling Shareholders
PR RR AR A

Controlled by a family member of the Controlling Shareholders
PRI B — B KR B 12
Controlled by the Controlling Shareholders
PR AR AR A

Controlled by the Controlling Shareholders
PR AR AR A

Controlled by a family member of the Controlling Shareholders
PRI B — B KR B 12
Controlled by the Controlling Shareholders
PR AR AR A

Controlled by the Controlling Shareholders
PR RR AR A
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27 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 27 BEERERF(E)
(CONTINUED)

Related parties Relationship with the Group

B HEAKENER

Pawide Development Limited Controlled by the Controlling Shareholders

BRERERAE PR AR A

Vgo Motor Limited Controlled by the Controlling Shareholders

mTERR AR PR AR A

Moneysq Limited Controlled by the Controlling Shareholders

EEFR AR SRR AR

Konew Capital International (Shenzhen) Limited Controlled by the Controlling Shareholders

BREREEECRYDBRAF] PR AR A

Konew Capital International Limited Taiwan Branch Controlled by the Controlling Shareholders

EEEREEABRARARGED QA R RR AR A

Konew International Group Limited Controlled by the Controlling Shareholders

BEBREEAGR AR PR RR AR A

Konew Capital Limited Controlled by the Controlling Shareholders

BEERBRMD AR AT PR RR AR A

Konew Investments Holding Limited Controlled by the Controlling Shareholders

BEEREERAR AR SRR AR A

Trustme Chain Corporation Limited Controlled by the Controlling Shareholders

Trustme Chain Corporation Limited AR IR AR R A )

smartMe Corporation Limited Controlled by the Controlling Shareholders

BREBHARATR SRR AR A

Group Links International Limited Controlled by the Controlling Shareholders

BHBERERAT SRR AR A

Modern Creative (HK) Limited Controlled by family members of a director of the Company

BRE(EE)BRAR RARE —BEERRIEK EZEH
The following transactions were carried out between the Group REBEEABBARNBE_ST_=F
and its related parties during the year ended 31 December 2023. TZA=T—HLEFEETUTRS o
In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the related party RATIEERR  BBMARZNBETEE
transactions were carried out in the ordinary course of business, at W5 iRTE AP 12 N £ B EL AR B R et O T s K
terms negotiated and mutually agreed between the Group and the B BT 7E BV RTGETT ©

respective related parties.
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27 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 27 FBEEERRRE (&)

(CONTINUED)

(@) Balances with fellow subsidiaries, related parties, a director, () HRERMEBAR - @EH - —
the ultimate holding company and the immediate holding FEE  REERAFRNERE
company: PRGN AR AEER

2023 2022
—E-=HF B
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT T
Amounts due from fellow FEWR [F 2 B 8 A RIFRIE ¢
subsidiaries:
— Konew Credit Corporation —REECEEESEAR AR
Limited - 88,622
- Konew Capital International —REEABBRER AR
Limited 3 -
— Katch (HK) Limited —Katch (HK) Limited —* 1,341
— Hong Yip Well Being Ltd —REEEFRAA 211 219
— Hong Yip Business Ltd —FEELEEBRREAR - 22
— Honip Credit Limited —EEEERREAA - 15
— Konew International Group —FEREEEFR AR
Limited - 4
— Maxcolm Finance Limited — MR E R AR 22 1
236 90,224
Amounts due from related FE UK BE B 5 TR
parties:
— Modern Creative (HK) Limited ~ —358|(F5)AFE A ) 1 327
— Fold Time Industries Limited —EREEARAA - 260
— Moneysq Limited —EAR AR 79 44
— Trustme Chain Corporation —Trustme Chain Corporation
Limited Limited - 3
- Vgo Motor Limited — WIEREARAA - 3
— Keyfull Industrial Ltd —HEEXERAA 1 1
— smartME Corporation Limited ~— —R&8e&#BRA A 1 =
82 638
* Below HK$1,000 & 1ER1,000;8T
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27 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 27 FBEEERRRE (&)
(CONTINUED)
(@) Balances with fellow subsidiaries, related parties, a director, (a) ﬁ@?ﬁﬁ%’&ﬁj - BAEE ~ N
the ultimate holding company and the immediate holding HEE %%ﬁﬁﬁﬂﬁ&ﬁ?ﬁ
company: (Continued) ERARIMAER « (58)

2023 2022
—E-=HF T F

HK$'000 HK$'000
FER THET

Amount due from a director: EW—EEEFIE :
— Ms. Kan Pui Yan — IR 2+ - 575
Amount due to the ultimate B HAERATNKE :
holding company:
— Konew Group Limited —Konew Group Limited (13) (84)

Amount due to the immediate FE{TEZERAFKIE :
holding company:

— Konew Fintech Corporation —FREESRBEEE
Limited BRAA = (10,500)
Amounts due to fellow R EA BRKIE :
subsidiaries:
— Konew Credit Corporation —REEEEBEARAA
Limited (97) =
— Honip Credit Limited —REEEARAA (2 -
(99) =
Amounts due to related parties: F&{+BaH 5 FE :
— Big Development Asset —REREEETEARAA
Management Limited - (27,416)
— AQ Communications Limited —AQ Communications Limited - (1,070)
- (28,486)
The amounts due from/(to) the ultimate holding company, U () BRI AR - B
the immediate holding company, fellow subsidiaries BERAR - REMBAR R
and related parties are non-interest bearing, unsecured, BT RIBERTEE - B
repayable on demand and denominated in HK$. Their o BIREREERABITE
carrying amounts approximate to their fair values due to B - AREBAE H EEEE
their short maturities. BN TEMEE o
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27 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 27 BABEHRZ(4E)
(CONTINUED)
(b) Below is a summary of significant transactions between (b) AT AAGRE R ERE T NE
the Group and its related parties during the year ended 31 BT =F+-"A=+—H
December 2023: IEFERNSEAZSME

2023 2022
—E-=HF B

HK$'000 HK$'000
FER THET

Rental income received from EWEZMEBA TN
fellow subsidiaries (Note 5(b)) FHEW A (K7£5(b))

— Konew Capital International —REERBER

Limited BRAT] 459 8,094
— Honip Credit Limited —FREEEARREAR - 100
— Maxcolm Finance Limited — W EBEFR AR 178 93

Rental income received from a 2 U — ZREIEE S 1

related party (Note 5(b)) HEWA (BtzE5(b))
— Moneysq Limited —EEAR AR = 30
— smartME Corporation Limited ~ —8EA#ARRA A 3,806 -
Expenses related to short SN RRAMNEB AR

term leases paid to fellow EHEERREX

subsidiaries (Note 6) (H1zt6)
- Hong Yip Well Being Limited ~ —BEXE#EBR AR (634) (733)
— Hong Yip Success Limited —BREKINEBRAF] - (495)
— Hong Yip Money Flow Limited ——FEX8RARA A = (440)

Expenses related to short term & {fEHE 5 HY
leases paid to related parties SHIFHEEREEX

(Note 6) (K1at6)
— Fold Time Industries Limited —EREEFRAF - (1,426)
— Moneysq Limited —EEAR AR (1,398) =
Loan interest paid to the ST EEER AT

immediate holding company & F & (#1:79)

(Note 9)
— Konew Fintech Corporation —EESREHEEE

Limited BRAF] - (73)
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27 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 27 BEERERF(E)
(CONTINUED)
(b) Below is a summary of significant transactions between (b) AT AAGRE R ERE T NE
the Group and its related parties during the year ended 31 BT =F+-"A=+—H
December 2023: (Continued) IEFERNEARZGHE : (8)

2023
—E-=HF B

HK$'000 HK$'000
FER THET

Loan interest paid to a related E{t—BEEHFH

party (Note 9) ERFE (HF9)
— Big Development Asset —RAEEEBEARAA
Management Limited (1,415) (2,224)

Advertising agency fee paid to T — BB SH
a related party (Note 6) EEREE(AF6)
— AQ Communications Limited —AQ Communications Limited (1,318) (990)

Collection agency fee paid to a 21— &5 1Y
related party (Note 6) BUWRIEE (Ft6)
— Modern Creative (HK) Limited ~ —IREI(EFHE)ER A A (38) (989)

IT services fee paid to a fellow B —REZRKBA M

subsidiary (Note 6) BRI RIS & (fE6)
— Konew Credit Corporation —)%%{Zﬁ%@

Limited BRA = (780)
All the transactions with related parties were discussed and ER B T N FT A R S 19 IR R AN
agreed based on terms mutually agreed between the Group 5 5 8 X BB 5 B AR 15 T B IK
and the respective related party. T am M TE ©

() Key management compensation (0 FEEHEEIRM

Key management includes directors of the Company. The FTEERERRBRARRES -
compensation paid or payable to key management is set MEEEEED N EMNT®
out in Note 7 to the consolidated financial statement. B AR & BA TS R R B RE 7805 -
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28

29

30

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2023, the Group did not have any significant
contingent liabilities (2022: Nil).

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

There are no material events undertaken by the Group after 31
December 2023.

SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIAL MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

This note provides a list of other potentially material accounting
policies adopted in the preparation of these consolidated financial
statements. These policies have been consistently applied to all the
years presented, unless otherwise stated.

30.1 Business combinations

For business combination under common control, the
Group applies the principles of merger accounting as
prescribed in Hong Kong Accounting Guideline 5 “Merger
Accounting for Common Control Combinations” issued by
the HKICPA. The net assets of the combining companies
were combined using the existing book values, and
no amount is recognized in consideration for goodwill
or excess of acquirer’s interest in the net fair value of
acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities over cost at the time of business combination
under common control, to the extent of the continuation of
the controlling party’s interest.

28

29

30

FREE

RZE—_=F+_A=+—8 ' ~5E
WEAFENKABE( T ==
) o

HRER
RZZ-_=F+"A=+—RH " ~&E
W LB REIE o

Ht B R ERS T BREE

AMFED MR B L 4R B M Sk by
AIRERRMMEMEANRTT R - Br5H
FHN  REBREZIINAEFENR
EREA -

e SN
MAREHEBEHME - &
SEERTESMASRM
MEB R IESIH55R HFE
HE G ERTEE IFTRE
MEHETRA - A AFH
BEFERRAKREES G
BRAREHER G G ETT
B - iR B0 R AR - BT
S LR AN B S R T I R
BrUABEMNEE BERIA
BEAFEFENESBEBAK
AHB D HERIEM SR -

30.1
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30 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIAL MATERIAL 30 EMBHEEASSBEME

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) (#8)
30.1 Business combinations (Continued) 30.1 EKSOH(E)

The Group applies the acquisition method to account for
business combinations except for business combination
under common control. The consideration transferred for
the acquisition of a subsidiary is the fair values of the assets
transferred, the liabilities incurred to the former owners of
the acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group.
The consideration transferred includes the fair value of any
asset or liability resulting from a contingent consideration
arrangement. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and
contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are
measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date.

The Group recognizes any non-controlling interest in
the acquiree on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis. Non-
controlling interests in the acquiree that are present
ownership interests and entitle their holders to a
proportionate share of the entity’s net assets in the event
of liquidation are measured at either fair value or the
present ownership interests’ proportionate share in the
recognized amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets.
All other components of non-controlling interests are
measured at their acquisition date fair value, unless another
measurement basis is required by HKFRSs.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the
acquisition date carrying value of the acquirer’s previously
held equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured to fair
value at the acquisition date. Any gains or losses arising
from such remeasurement are recognized in profit or loss.

AEE R WA XS 6
AR - EXRRZEH THEBE
PERIBRON - SLUEE — B A
AEZNRESMEREE
R TREEARMELR
BERAEEERITRENQF
B-FEBENREERKAN
ELHELNERNEEXRAR
MAFE - EXHAHBIET
Wo B ) A B I B E A R AR Y
BEMIAREE  HRKER
HNAHEELTE

7R B 2 {E Bl e i A - HERR
FE A% W BB 7 B0 (F f] SEFR AR A2
@ WRB T IERES R
B MAERERD YT ER
BARNESBERLADE
ERMEERE BHAFES
IR P B R AR AR L DB (R
UK BB 77 AT BRI B R (B R BE
REFETE - RIEBAYHBR
SEAREBAALMEEE
BETE - BRIHERERSHIPT
B EMAARE D R B B
RFERTE °

WEERRAR AL LR STHH o

HWRBEHDREEETT - Al
BT BEMR R R T R
Y s B HIRRE E R AR B BiR
NFEEHTE - BREHA
EiEE W ERA s B ER

1B
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Notes to the Historical Financial Information &

30 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIAL MATERIAL 30
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

30.1 Business combinations (Continued)

HiBrEs
(,%;0
30.1 EBSOH(E)

SEITHRME

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the
Group is recognized at fair value at the acquisition date.
Subsequent changes to the fair value of the contingent
consideration that is deemed to be an asset or liability
is recognized in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standard 9 — Financial Instruments (“HKFRS 9”)
in profit or loss. Contingent consideration that is classified as
equity is not remeasured, and its subsequent settlement is
accounted for within equity.

The excess of the consideration transferred, the amount
of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree and the
acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity interest
in the acquiree over the fair value of the identifiable
net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. If the total
of consideration transferred, non-controlling interests
recognized and previously held interest measured is less
than the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary
acquired in the case of a bargain purchase, the difference is
recognized directly in profit or loss.

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealized gains
on transactions between group companies are eliminated.
Unrealized losses are also eliminated unless the transaction
provides evidence of an impairment of the transferred asset.

# AN SR B S R AR AR
EBmWEB YN R T ERER -
BRAEEXBBEOXNARKE
MAFEERESIZREEY
BHREENFISR -SSR TE
(IEEMBREERFEISR DR
BaiER - DBREENHRA
REFNTEHTE - MEKH
REERER AR

Freg (B - WU 5 Em3E
70 % M 7 < RE N A (AT 3B A AR R
BHRENKERPAFER
BTSRRI B EEFENR
FERID ARINIERE o i
TRt E2MEENRE  BERE
PR S EE A P RS A AR
MEREREBEBENBR T
WEHBARMNEEFEQATF
B BIEEEFIBEER -

SEARFRRS - EHhkE
@’ATF%&%*“EH&Z N
i - BRERHEACEERE
EHERE  SRIARERER
TR AR
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30 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIAL MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

30.2

30.3

Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less
impairment. Cost includes direct attributable costs of
investment. The results of subsidiaries are accounted for
by the Company on the basis of dividend received and
receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is
required upon receiving a dividend from these investments
if the dividend exceeds the total comprehensive income of
the subsidiary in the period the dividend is declared or if the
carrying amount of the investment in the separate financial
statements exceeds the carrying amount in the consolidated
financial statement of the investee’s net assets including
goodwill.

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent
with the internal reporting provided to the CODM. The
CODM is responsible for allocating resources and assessing
performance of the operating segments, and has been
identified as the chief executive officer and executive
directors of the Company that makes strategic decisions.

30

HEER

(&)
30.2

30.3

SEITHRME

By BB ®RR

R K A Rl AR B R AR AR
MEAR - RABREERENR
BREMKAK - B RBNEEH
ARABIRE W I BARR

ERNGIEPNCIEE =8 & e,
B - fis BB R B RS HA
MEBARNEZEWALRE L
WL B AP ORER®E
EBRHERETHEEMBRE
MEEFE(BEBE)RE
B AIBARZEREETRE
A, o

D ERE

LESIHREFAEREE
BIEARERERNTRENS
NEM B - TEEERKAE
BENEEREFHEELE D
%ﬁ B BIEH KB RTE
AR RTREH RITES -
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30 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIAL MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

30.4 Foreign currency translation

(a)

(b)

Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the consolidated financial
statements of each of the Group’s entities are
measured using the currency of the primary
economic environment in which the entity operates
(the “functional currency”).

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into
the functional currency using the exchange rates
at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange
gains and losses resulting from the settlement
of such transactions and from the translation of
monetary assets and liabilities denominated in
foreign currencies at period end exchange rates
are generally recognized in profit or loss. They are
deferred in equity if they relate to qualifying cash
flow hedges and qualifying net investment hedges
or are attributable to part of the net investment in a
foreign operation.

30.5 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment is stated at historical cost
less depreciation. Historical cost includes expenditure
that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items.
Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying
amount or recognized as a separate asset, as appropriate,
only when it is probable that future economic benefits
associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost
of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying amount
of the replaced part is derecognized. All other repairs
and maintenance are charged to profit or loss during the
reporting period in which they are incurred.

30

HEER

(&)
30.4

30.5

SEITHRME

SN
(@) HERZIEH
AEEEEREAYH
BRAMBEBHUE
RBEEMETIERLER
BEEB((HEE®])

n‘l—i °

(b) XEREER

SINEZXZEXHE BB
ERMESNERE -

HENBBER SN KIE
B R R & PLANEE S
EBEMEYKEERBEEM
B R INE W= R E R
—BRERER o HE
HEEKRIBLREE W
k& BRI E FREE
BRI HEBEREINE
BB FEN D
B HEERIRIE -

W - BBERRE
ME - IR RREBEBEKE

RITESER - BAEKABIEK
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EATE B 6 B A AR 2R 487 F 2 E
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30 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIAL MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

30.5

30.6

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is calculated
using the straight-line method to allocate their cost to their
residual values over their estimated useful lives, as follows:

Equipment 5 years
Furniture and fixtures 5 years
Leasehold improvements Shorter of lease terms on 5 years

Motor vehicles 3 to 4 years

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed,
and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of the reporting
period.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately
to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is
greater than its estimated recoverable amount (Note 30.7).

Gain or loss on disposals are determined by comparing
proceeds with carrying amount. These are included in profit
or loss.

Repossessed assets

Upon derecognition of related loan receivables, foreclosed
assets are recognized as “Repossessed assets” on the
consolidated balance sheet. Repossessed assets are
measured at the lower of the carrying amount and the fair
value less cost to sell at the end of the reporting period.
When the fair value less cost to sell is lower than the
carrying amount, impairment loss is recognized in profit or
loss.

Gain or loss on disposal of repossessed assets is recognized
in profit or loss within “Other gains/(losses), net”.

30

HEER

(&)
30.5

30.6
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30 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIAL MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

30.7

30.8

30.9

Impairment of non-financial assets

Assets that are tested for impairment whenever events
or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is
recognized for the amount by which the asset’s carrying
amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable
amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs of
disposal and value in use. For the purposes of assessing
impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for
which there are separately identifiable cash inflows which
are largely independent of the cash inflows from other assets
or groups of assets (cash-generating units). Non-financial
assets other than goodwill that suffered an impairment are
reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at the end
of the reporting period.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated
statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents include
cash on hand and deposits held at call with authorized
institutions with original maturities of three months or
less that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash
and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in
value.

Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new
shares are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from
the proceeds.
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30 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIAL MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

30.10 Borrowings

30.11

Borrowings are recognized initially at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently
carried at amortized cost. Any difference between the
proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption
value is recognized in profit or loss over the period of the
borrowings using the effective interest method.

Fees paid on the establishment of banking facilities are
recognized as transaction costs of the borrowings to the
extent that it is probable that some or all of the facility will
be drawn down. In this case, the fee is deferred until the
draw-down occurs. To the extent there is no evidence that
it is probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn
down, the fee is capitalized as a prepayment for liquidity
services and amortized over the period of the facility to
which it relates.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the
group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the
liability for at least 12 months after the reporting period.

Borrowing costs

General and specific borrowing costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition, construction or production
of a qualifying asset are capitalized during the period of
time that is required to complete and prepare the asset for
its intended use or sale. Qualifying assets are assets that
necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for
their intended use or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognized in profit or loss in
the period in which they are incurred.
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Notes to the Historical Financial Information 873 Bf 75 &k i 5F

30 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIAL MATERIAL 30 HMEEE
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) (%ﬁ)

SEITHRME

30.12 Provisions 30.12 #1&
Provisions are recognized when the Group has a present BES N THIER T AER
legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events; EAREE Iﬂﬁ%#ﬁﬁiﬁ%

it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required
to settle the obligation; and the amount has been reliably
estimated. Provisions are not recognized for future
operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the
likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement
is determined by considering the class of obligations as a
whole. A provision is recognized even if the likelihood of an
outflow with respect to any one item included in the same
class of obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the
expenditures expected to be required to settle the
obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the obligation. The increase in the provision due
to passage of time is recognized as interest expense.

30.13 Current and deferred income tax

The income tax expense or credit for the period is the tax
payable on the current period’s taxable income based on
the applicable income tax rate for each jurisdiction adjusted
by changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable
to temporary differences and to unused tax losses.
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Notes to the Historical Financial Information 873 Bf 75 &k i 5F

30 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIAL MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

30.13 Current and deferred income tax (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on
the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of the reporting period in the
countries where the Group operates and generates
taxable income. Management periodically evaluates
positions taken in tax returns with respect to
situations in which applicable tax regulation is
subject to interpretation. It establishes provisions
where appropriate on the basis of amounts
expected to be paid to the tax authorities.

Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the
liability method, on temporary differences arising
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and
their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial
statements. Deferred income tax is determined
using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period and are expected to apply when the related
deferred income tax asset is realized or the deferred
income tax liability is settled.

Deferred income tax assets are recognized only if
it is probable that future taxable amount will be
available to utilize those temporary differences and
losses.
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(b)
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Notes to the Historical Financial Information &

B ERKIRE

30 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIAL MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

30.13 Current and deferred income tax (Continued)

(9]

Offsetting

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset
where there is a legally enforceable right to offset
current tax assets and current tax liabilities and
when the deferred income taxes balance relate to
the same taxation authority. Current tax assets and
tax liabilities are offset where the entity has a legally
enforceable right to offset and intends either to
settle the balances on a net basis or to realize the
asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Current and deferred tax is recognized in profit or loss,
except to the extent that it relates to items recognized
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity,
respectively.

30.14 Employee benefits

(a)

Retirement benefit obligations

The Group operates a defined contribution
Mandatory Provident Fund retirement benefits
scheme (the “MPF Scheme"”) set up pursuant to the
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance, for
all of its employees in Hong Kong. Contributions
are made based on a percentage of the employees’
basic salaries and are charged to the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income as they
become payable in accordance with the rules of
the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme
are held separately from those of the Group in an
independently administrated fund. The Group’s
employer contributions vest fully with the employees
when contributed to the MPF Scheme, except for
the Group’s employer voluntary contributions, which
are refunded to the Group when the employee
leaves employment prior to vesting fully in the
contributions, in accordance with the rules of the
MPF Scheme.
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Notes to the Historical Financial Information 873 Bf 75 &k i 5F

30 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIAL MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

30.14 Employee benefits (Continued)

(a)

(b)

(9]

Retirement benefit obligations (Continued)

The Group has no further payment obligations once
the contributions have been paid. The contributions
are recognized as an employee benefit expense
when they are due and are reduced by contributions
forfeited by those employees who leave the scheme
prior to vesting fully in the contributions. Prepaid
contributions are recognized as an asset to the
extent that a cash refund or a reduction in the
future payments is available.

Bonus plans

The Group recognizes a liability and an expense
for bonuses, based on a formula that takes
into consideration the profit attributable to the
Company's shareholders after certain adjustments.
The Group recognizes a provision where
contractually obliged or where there is a past
practice that has created a constructive obligation.

Employee leave entitlement

Employee entitlements to annual leave are
recognized when they accrue to employees. A
provision is made for the estimated liability for
annual leave as a result of services rendered by
employees up to the date of consolidated balance
sheet.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity
leave are not recognized until the time of leave.
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Notes to the Historical Financial Information 873 Bf 75 &k i 5F

30 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIAL MATERIAL 30 EMBHEEASSBEME

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) (48)
30.15 Leases 30.15 A&

Leases are recognized as right-of-use assets and the
corresponding liabilities at the date of which the respective
leased asset is available for use by the Group.

Lease liabilities include the net present value of the
following lease payments:

o fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments), less any lease incentives receivable;

AEERSHEEERAHAE
EEAH AR HERRRE
RREEREERE -

HEARGeRE THIEENFF
HE

. BEMNK(ERELEE
300 AT e W R AR
=

TON

. variable lease payments that are based on an index . ER BB ey r] &
or a rate; TRERE
. amounts expected to be payable by the lessee under . EEARBRSEEE

residual value guarantees;

o the exercise price of a purchase option if the lessee is
reasonably certain to exercise that option; and

RIEHARE (RO FOR -

. BRERENTEER
EEAGEEETEX
EERE) R

. payments of penalties for terminating the lease, . AR 1 E R E R (i
if the lease term reflects the lessee exercising that THHA I Bk A FR A 1T (E 5%
option. EERE) o

Lease payments to be made under reasonably certain
extension options are also included in the measurement of
the liability.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest
rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be readily
determined, which is generally the case for leases in the
Group, the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate is used,
being the rate that the individual lessee would have to
pay to borrow the funds necessary to obtain an asset of
similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic
environment with similar terms, security and conditions.

RIESEMOITHEEERT
X EEN KT ARG
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Notes to the Historical Financial Information 873 Bf 75 &k i 5F

30 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIAL MATERIAL 30 EMBHEEASSBEME

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) (&)
30.15 Leases (Continued) 30.15 HE (&)
To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the Group: RBETHEEEETE  KNEH
o where possible, uses recent third-party financing . PGSR =D K
received by the individual lessee as a starting point, Rl A HAES RS
adjusted to reflect changes in financing conditions = BMERDBEEED
since third party financing was received; A URMEERFSE
=75 BB DR B B K
B E
o uses a build-up approach that starts with a risk-free . FRENE  BA#A
interest rate adjusted for credit risk for leases held SEHMBEEHENEER
by the Group, which does not have recent third b (G HAY 55 = 5 B
party financing, and B)ABRERRIE &
D makes adjustments specific to the lease, e.g. term, . HESETRERE -
country, currency and security. PIAREARR ~ BIR « B
KR o
Lease payments are allocated between principal and finance HENZRASEHBENAR 2
cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or loss over the YEE S ED o B & B AN 70 78 B
lease period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of ANBEERTR  £5HENE
interest on the remaining balance of the liability for each BEGEHE T EIFE -
period.

242 K CASH CORPORATION LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2023



Notes to the Historical Financial Information 873 Bf 75 &k i 5F

30 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIAL MATERIAL 30 EMBHEEASSBEME

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) (&)

30.15 Leases (Continued) 30.15 HE (&)
Right-of-use assets are measured at costs comprising the FREEAERKAE B3
following: A& -

. the amount of the initial measurement of lease . FstEfHEaEns
liabilities; ol

. any lease payments made at or before the . e B Bk 2 Al fEH
commencement date less any lease incentives EREE R - BT
received; AEREEES ;

. any initial direct costs; and . ERIRERERA © &

. restoration costs. . BIREKA o

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the
shorter of the asset’s useful life and the lease term on
a straight-line basis. If the Group is reasonably certain
to exercise a purchase option, the right-of-use asset is
depreciated over the underlying asset’s useful life.

Payments associated with short-term leases are recognized
on a straight-line basis as an expense in the profit or loss.
Short-term leases are leases with a lease term of 12 months
or less.

Lease income from operating leases where the Group is
a lessor is recognized in “Other income” on a straight-
line basis over the lease term (Note 5(b)). Initial direct costs
incurred in obtaining an operating lease are added to the
carrying amount of the underlying asset and recognized
as expense over the lease term on the same basis as lease
income. The respective leased assets are included in the
consolidated balance sheet based on their nature.
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Notes to the Historical Financial Information 873 Bf 75 &k i 5F

30 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIAL MATERIAL 30 EMBHEEASSBEME

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) (&)

30.16 Dividend distribution 30.16 RE DK
Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders is M &) IR R 59 K B AR B R AR
recognized as a liability in the Group's consolidated balance A A AR R LA AR B EA TR A B9 AR
sheet in the period in which the dividends are approved by SRR EEEABEREREEA
the Company’s shareholders. & o

30.17 Government grant 30.17 BUN#EEL
Grants from the government are recognized at their fair ANEEEWE AT B A iR &
value where the grant is received by the Group, and the AT EERERE  BXREEK
Group will comply with all attached conditions. BT A MR -
Government grants relating to costs are recognized in the R AE B BT AR E S
profit or loss over the period necessary to match them with R EKAMTEHEEER
the costs that they are intended to compensate. HER o
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Definitions

“AQM Score”
[AQMEES |

“AQM System”
[AQMZ#t ]

“Articles” or “Articles of
Association”
488 sk AL =248 A |

“Audit Committee”

[EZEZEE ]

“AVS Methodology”
or "AVS”

[AVS)EAI k[ AVS ]

“Board”

[E%g]

"CG Code”
[{eZEaTAl

“Company” or
“our Company”

B N/NCTH
“connected advances”
[ BEEEAEX

“connected person(s)”

[EAEAL]

“Credit Modeling System”
[EEER R
“Director(s)”

==

"o AML”

[eAML]

the credit score generated by the AQM System
AQMEGE 0 385

the credit scoring system which generates a credit score based on the external credit
data
RIBINDEEBBEEEETHNEETD R4

the amended and restated articles of association of our Company
RARWEER] REMAZETZAA

the audit committee of the Board

E=gEnL8e

the asset valuation methodology to assist us with assets valuation by referencing
latest publicly available market data and market trends

WY RMETEELENEEGLEDE  ET2ERMNIFAMSERBERTSEE

the board of Directors

=g

the Corporate Governance Code set out in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules

EARRIBERC1 B R B IR ST R

K Cash Corporation Limited (K Cash £E A [R/A7]), an exempted company with
limited liability incorporated in the Cayman Islands and the shares of which are listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange

K Cash&EHIR AR - HRSHSEMAINERRERAR - ERMNEB T
R T

fundings passed on to us by our connected persons and related Parties

EAL MBI AEMBBNES

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules

BB EWRRIM T ARRE

the credit modeling system that we engaged a global technology services provider
to develop, which generates a machine learning-based credit score, based on our
industry-specific knowledge and experience, for our consideration in our loan
approval process

HFIERE AR RGHEBRERFANTEZMMBELCRFENEERE
B ZESGELKRRBEBEENY  HEMANEREHERTER

the director(s) of the Company
KARESR

a system adopted by the Company to perform assessment on money laundering and
terrorism financing risks

RABRBERE R D FESEERARETHEN RS
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Definitions &%

“Excluded Group”
[ERoMNE

“Excluded Group NCU”

[BRONR B A 35 GH

"oou

“Group”, “our Group”,

we"”, “our” or “us”

[ AR E 5[ 34

"HKS"
%5t

“Hong Kong”
Evi

“DCM”
[IDCM ]

“Independent Business

Opportunity Assessment

Committee”

[(BEmEtEEREE]

“INED(s)"
B IEITES]

“K Cash”
[K Cash]

“K Cash Express’

[K Cash Express |

“Konew Capital”

[REEA]

Konew Group, and together with its operating subsidiaries (excluding our Group)
which are principally engaged in the secured loan business

Konew Group:Z[RIE + 2 FHEEMER XL LEM B LR (AKERIN)

the non-competition undertaking provided by Konew Group to the Company in
relation to the referral of business opportunities originating from applicants applying
for a secured private property loan which is within our typical loan range for
Unsecured Private Property Owner Loans

Konew GroupSt## /3R B 5 A H IR A MEE R B AR R # R AR R R
N FEG  ZERBREERLAZEFERN—RERGER

our Company and its subsidiaries
RATRHEKEAR

Hong Kong dollars, the lawful currency of Hong Kong

BEREEEEETT

the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the People’s Republic of China
RE A RAMBEEBRFIITTRE

intelligent dynamic credit matrix, which consists of the AQM Score and MLC Score
RELENREEEIERE - FAAQMATH RMLCFT S 4K

the independent business opportunity assessment committee of the Board

EEgRVARIERES

the independent non-executive Director(s)

BIUFBITES

K Cash Limited, a company incorporated under the laws of Hong Kong with limited
liability and an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of our Company

K Cash Limited - IRIBFAEDIEMALNER QR RARBNEEEENB AR

K Cash Express Limited, a company incorporated under the laws of Hong Kong with
limited liability and an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of our Company

K Cash Express Limited * #RIEE S EABIFEMA A BR A R RAR RN EE 2 ER
B RR]

Konew Capital International Limited (EEEABEE AR A R]), a company
incorporated under the laws of Hong Kong with limited liability and wholly-owned
by Konew Credit

REERERARAR  REEBEVFIMKINERAR  HRXEEEEEE
2]
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Definitions &%

“Konew Credit”

[EREESRE ]

“Konew Fintech”

[EEE B

“Listing”

[ L)

“Listing Date”

[ B

“Listing Rules”

[ Em#RAl]
“MLC Score”

[MLCFF % |

“Model Code”

[#R2E<p Al

“net interest margin”

[ B = |

“Nomination Committee”

[fRRZEE]

“Personal Loan(s)”

[FAEK]
“POS system”

[POSE %L

"Prospectus”

[ ERE ]

Konew Credit Corporation Limited (EE=E%E AR A A]), a company
incorporated under the laws of Hong Kong with limited liability and wholly-owned
by Konew Fintech

RECEEEEBERAR  BEEBEMFMHAINERAR - BRESREEEE
®E

Konew Fintech Corporation Limited (< B EBEBR A A]), an exempted
company incorporated under the laws of the Cayman Islands with limited liability,
wholly-owned by Konew Group Limited and one of our controlling shareholders
FELRHMREEARAR - REFSHSEVEMRINERRERLIF - A
Konew Group Limited® & #H @ AIERERERE 2 —

the listing of the Shares on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
PRADTABSE S P AR 7

5 December 2023, the date on which the Shares are listed and dealings in the Shares
first commenced on the Main Board

“Eo=F+"ARR BOREIRETRERFBEENEH

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange

B prE S AR A

the machine learning-based credit score generated by our Credit Modeling System,
enabling us to classify loan applicants into different risk categories
EERUARELNKREBEETY  BRAVTSEFTRBZASERTRRERE
Al

the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in
Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules
TR AT ERCIATE EMBITAEFTETE SR HMIEETA

interest income generated (net of interest expenses) divided by the average of the
opening and closing monthly balance of the gross loan receivables during the year

EEEF SUA (HIRRF SRS BRAF AT A 1) M A R EE S ER AR

the nomination committee of the Board

EXgRA%8e

the unsecured loan(s) offered by our Group to individuals without any collaterals

REEREARENELIRER - BEEMETR

point of sale system, which consists of hardware and software that works together
to process sales and payment transactions at the point of purchase

HER AL - BEGREEAER - ZERGRRAGEE SRR SREHE R
N5

the prospectus of the Company dated 27 November 2023 in relation to the listing of

the Shares on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
ARBRR-E_=F+— ATt B EBRO PR A ER O BRER
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Definitions &%

“Referred Business
Opportunities”
[ 887 Pt |

“Remuneration
Committee”

[FHEEE ]

"Reporting Period”
[ ¥R A

"SFO"
[(FE 7= RERIEB)]

“Shareholder(s)”
&

“Shares”

[ 317 ]
“smartME"”
[EaEE4]

"SME(s)"
[GEdhdE]

“SME Loan(s)”

[Fh &R

“Stock Exchange”

[ Bt 52 P |

“subsidiary(ies)”

BB LR ]

“Unsecured Property
Owner Loan(s)”

[EEREE S

" 0/0 "

[% ]

loan applications for not more than HK$400,000 received by the Excluded Group
which shall be referred to the Group
FRINE B PR FEEE T T AN SR B TR E400,00078 7L B E X R R

the remuneration committee of the Board
ExgFEEe

the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_ZT-_—Ft+-_A=-+—RHLEFE

the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong), as
amended or supplemented from time to time

EAEDIEST1 BCGES RIR D)) - ETRHET T

holder(s) of the Share(s)
LEEZ=DIN

the ordinary shares in the share capital of our Company

AR RS 0 B

smartME Corporation Limited (£ gE& #)GR /2 7]), a company incorporated under
the laws of Hong Kong with limited liability
BREANABRRAR  RIBEESEADIFMAZNERAR

small and medium enterprises
NS

the unsecured loan(s) offered by our Group to SME(s) without security, subject to
a personal guarantee typically provided by a director or shareholder of the SME
borrower

AEERP/PNERENEEFES  BEERR - AR EEP/ N EERANES
SRR IR LA A ELR

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
BEBMERXGMBER AR

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules

HA EmRARE T &R

the unsecured loan(s) offered by our Group to borrowers who are owners of
properties but who do not provide any collaterals for the loan(s)
AEERERARENEERER - BEERABSYEE LB ETREEM
HAR

per cent
Btk
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